# Applied Learning Curriculum and Assessment Guide (Senior Secondary Level)

Jointly prepared by the Curriculum Development Council and the Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority

2009 (with updates in November 2017)

# Contents

			Page
Preambl	le		i
Chapter	1	Introduction	1
	1.1	Background	1
	1.2	Rationale	1
	1.3	Curriculum Aims	2
	1.4	Interface with the Junior Secondary Curriculum and Post-Secondary Pathways	2
	1.5	Cross-curricular Links	3
Chapter	2	Curriculum Framework	4
	2.1	Design Principles	4
	2.2	Curriculum Framework	5
	2.3	Overview of the Curriculum Framework for the Six Areas o Studies in Applied Learning	of 21
Chapter	3	Curriculum Planning	25
	3.1	Guiding Principles	25
	3.2	Planning for Implementation	25
	3.3	Connection with Other Senior Secondary Subjects and Experiences	26
	3.4	Connection with Junior Secondary Education and Career Pathways	29
	3.5	Vocational and Professional Education in Secondary Education	30
Chapter	4	Learning and Teaching	32
	4.1	Knowledge and Learning	32
	4.2	Guiding Principles	34
	4.3	Approaches to Learning in Applied Learning	35
Chapter	5	Assessment	39
	5.1	The Role of Assessment	39
	5.2	Formative and Summative Assessment	39

	5.3	Assessment Objectives	40
	5.4	Assessment of Student Learning	40
	5.5	Moderation of Assessment	41
	5.6	Standards and Reporting of Results	41
Appendi	ices		
	1.	Overview on Quality Assurance of Applied Learning	43
	2.	Examples of Subject Plans and Activities Relevant to the Implementation of Applied Learning	44
	3.	Examples of Combinations of Applied Learning and Other Senior Secondary Subjects for Enhancing Learning	48
Annexes	6		
	A.	Applied Learning Curriculum Framework – Focus: Creative Studies	50
	В.	Applied Learning Curriculum Framework – Focus: Media and Communication	64
	C.	Applied Learning Curriculum Framework – Focus: Business, Management and Law	75
	D.	Applied Learning Curriculum Framework – Focus: Services	90
	E.	Applied Learning Curriculum Framework – Focus: Applied Science	103
	F.	Applied Learning Curriculum Framework – Focus: Engineering and Production	120
	G.	Applied Learning Chinese (for Non-Chinese Speaking Students) Curriculum Framework	131
Reference	ces		148

# Preamble

The Education Bureau stated in the report The New Academic Structure for Senior Secondary Education and Higher Education – Action Plan for Investing in the Future of Hong Kong (2005) that the implementation of a three-year senior secondary academic structure would commence at Secondary 4 in September 2009. The senior secondary academic structure is supported by a flexible, coherent and diversified senior secondary curriculum aimed at catering for students' varied interests, needs and abilities. Applied Learning is part of the senior secondary curriculum. This Curriculum and Assessment Guide is one of the series of documents prepared for the senior secondary curriculum. The Guide is based on the goals of senior secondary education and on other official documents related to the curriculum and assessment reform since 2000, including the Secondary Education Curriculum Guide (2017). To gain a full understanding of the connection between education at the senior secondary level and other key stages, and how effective learning, teaching and assessment can be achieved, it is strongly recommended that reference should be made to all related documents.

Applied Learning courses are elective subjects within the senior secondary curriculum. Students' achievement in Applied Learning is reported in the Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education. Its value is to be conferred by the wider community where the conditions which sustain the trust of the community are also those which assure the quality of Applied Learning, such as: effective stakeholder involvement, a motivating curriculum, responsive institutions, competent teachers, good careers guidance and pastoral support, and the development of strong linkages to further education and employment. In brief, the quality assurance (an overview is shown in Appendix 1) of Applied Learning involves:

a process of establishing stakeholder confidence that provision (input, process and outcomes) is fit for purpose and meets agreed requirements.

It is to ensure that courses are developed according to the design principles; the curriculum is delivered as designed; and the learning outcomes of students can meet the set standards. With this in mind, this Curriculum and Assessment Guide has been designed to map out a blueprint for Applied Learning and its six areas of studies, in order to:

- guide *course providers* in the design of Applied Learning courses;
- inform schools of the nature and structure of Applied Learning and the courses offered to facilitate curriculum planning;
- inform *students and their parents* of the nature of Applied Learning courses and the standards embedded within the courses to help them make informed choices; and
- inform the *general public* of the nature of Applied Learning courses and the standards embedded within the courses.

It aims to:

- provide sufficient guidelines for course providers to design Applied Learning courses, while allowing them enough space to innovate using their expertise; and
- provide clear and concise information for schools, students and the general public on the essence of Applied Learning and on concrete details within individual courses.

This Curriculum and Assessment Guide should also be read in conjunction with other documents related to the principles underpinning Applied Learning, such as the report Action for the Future – Applied Learning (formerly known as Career-oriented Studies) and the New Senior Secondary Academic Structure for Special Schools (2006).

This Curriculum and Assessment Guide was jointly prepared by the Curriculum Development Council and the Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority in 2009, and overseen by the Curriculum Development Council Committee on Applied Learning<sup>1</sup>. Updates are made to align with the medium-term recommendations of the New Academic Structure review made on curriculum and assessment, and the *Secondary Education Curriculum Guide* (2017). The membership of the Curriculum Development Council Committee on Applied Learning includes heads of schools, practising teachers, professionals from tertiary institutions, trade and industry, representatives from the Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority and the Hong Kong Council for Accreditation of Academic and Vocational Qualifications, as well as officers from the Education Bureau.

To reflect the social, economic and technological needs of the local society and global trends, Applied Learning courses will be constantly reviewed. Details of the Applied Learning courses to be offered are available at the website of Applied Learning (www.edb.gov.hk/apl). All comments and suggestions on this Guide may be sent to:

Chief Curriculum Development Officer (Applied Learning) Curriculum Development Institute Education Bureau Room W115, 1/F, West Block EDB Kowloon Tong Education Services Centre 19 Suffolk Road, Kowloon Tong Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: 2337 0371 E-mail: aplinfo@edb.gov.hk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Preparatory Applied Learning Committee migrated to the Curriculum Development Council Committee on Applied Learning in the 2008/09 school year.

# Chapter 1 Introduction

This chapter provides the background, rationale and aims of Applied Learning courses as elective subjects in the three-year senior secondary curriculum, and highlights how Applied Learning articulates with other senior secondary subjects and learning experiences, junior secondary education and post-secondary career pathways.

#### 1.1 Background

In response to the learning needs of students, the documents *Learning for Life, Learning through Life: Reform Proposals for the Education System in Hong Kong* (2000) and *Learning to Learn* (2001) highlighted the need for a broad and balanced curriculum to cater for students' different interests, learning styles and inclinations. In line with this, the Education Bureau has been exploring the viability of introducing diversified options in the curriculum at senior secondary level. The piloting of Applied Learning, as an example of this exploration, was first introduced in 2003.

The report *The New Academic Structure for Senior Secondary Education and Higher Education – Action Plan for Investing in the Future of Hong Kong* (2005) stated that Applied Learning (formerly known as Career-oriented Studies) is an integral part of the senior secondary curriculum that will match the interests and abilities of all students. The report *Action for the Future – Applied Learning (formerly known as Career-oriented Studies) and the New Senior Secondary Academic Structure for Special Schools* (2006) summarises the concerns and feedback from various stakeholders on the purpose and position of Applied Learning in the senior secondary curriculum, the design of its curriculum, course provision and guidance for students, recognition and quality assurance, professional development and funding, and charts the way forward for the implementation of Applied Learning.

#### 1.2 Rationale

Applied Learning has been introduced into the senior secondary curriculum to diversify the learning opportunities available to students. It is intended to enrich the learning experiences of students of varying learning needs, particularly those who will benefit from a strong practical orientation in their learning. This orientation can also be applied to the learning and assessment of the core subjects, i.e. Chinese Language, English Language, Mathematics and Liberal Studies.

Applied Learning is an integral part of the senior secondary curriculum, complementing senior secondary subjects by offering studies with stronger

elements of practical learning linked to broad professional and vocational fields. Applied Learning courses:

- offer practical contexts and content designed to engage and motivate students who learn more by doing than conceptualising;
- include content that is designed to challenge students and provide options for both academic and career progression; and
- adopt an organising structure of six areas of studies relevant to broad trends in professional studies and the world of work in Hong Kong. Each area of studies provides foundation knowledge and concepts necessary for keeping abreast of knowledge and practices in that area.

Applied Learning courses are not intended to provide pre-vocational training. They will instead help achieve the five essential learning experiences<sup>2</sup> and develop the generic skills<sup>3</sup> that underpin Hong Kong's curriculum framework. Course provision aims for a balance between breadth and depth in Applied Learning and for lateral coherence within the senior secondary curriculum.

# 1.3 Curriculum Aims

Applied Learning aims to:

- enable students to understand fundamental theories and concepts through application and practice, and to develop their generic skills in authentic contexts; and
- provide students with opportunities to explore their career aspirations and orientation for lifelong learning in specific areas.

### 1.4 Interface with the Junior Secondary Curriculum and Post-Secondary Pathways

At the junior secondary level, students acquire a foundation of knowledge, skills and values across Key Learning Areas. They also receive guidance and advice to help them make informed choices among elective subjects, including Applied Learning courses, in their senior secondary studies. Through the career-related context of Applied Learning courses, students have the opportunity to become familiar with a variety of professions and trades. Understanding the knowledge, skills and workplace requirements within a professional field helps students develop their career aspirations. For further

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The five essential learning experiences include moral and civic education, intellectual development, community service, physical and aesthetic development and career-related experiences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The nine generic skills, grouped in three clusters, include Basic Skills: Communication Skills, Mathematical Skills, Information Technology Skills; Thinking Skills: Critical Thinking Skills, Creativity, Problem Solving Skills; and Personal and Social Skills: Self-management Skills, Self-learning Skills, Collaboration Skills.

discussion on the connection between Applied Learning and other senior secondary subjects, please refer to Chapter 3.

### 1.5 Cross-curricular Links

Applied Learning courses complement other senior secondary subjects. The courses can offer new content and pedagogical approaches to attract students, effectively adding to the senior secondary menu of subjects. They can deepen students' understanding of a senior secondary elective subject by significantly extending that subject through practical applications. They can also supplement other senior secondary subjects by adding major new dimensions to them. For details about how cross-curricular links can be achieved through curriculum planning and development, please refer to Chapter 3.

# Chapter 2 Curriculum Framework

In Applied Learning, it is intended that courses should stretch students' potential talents with opportunities to develop their knowledge, skills, and values and attitudes in different contexts based on or approximating real life. The curriculum frameworks for Applied Learning and the six areas of studies form the basis on which course developers and providers can design their courses and design appropriate learning, teaching and assessment activities.

### 2.1 Design Principles

To provide a sound learning platform for students, Applied Learning courses are designed according to the core principles of balance, coherence, articulation and responsiveness.

Applied Learning is built upon students' learning at the junior secondary level delivered through the eight Key Learning Areas. However, different organisers are used in Applied Learning to reflect its practical and applied context.

The design principles are reflected in:

- diverse learning programmes that have not been taught traditionally in schools, but are relevant to the social, cultural and economic development of Hong Kong;
- **extended learning environments** that are available to senior secondary students through tertiary institutions and workplaces;
- initial experience of the requirements of a vocational field which serves as a context to advance more generic learning and prepares students for possible post-secondary pathways;
- **an applied and practical context** for learning, teaching and assessment, supported by relevant knowledge;
- **substantive learning outcomes** which are part of the Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education; and
- coherence with other senior secondary subjects which have similar expectations in languages, numeracy, generic skills, and values and attitudes.

Different courses are offered under the six areas of studies in Applied Learning:

- Creative Studies
- Media and Communication
- Business, Management and Law
- Services
- Applied Science
- Engineering and Production

The six areas of studies are introduced to give broad categories of Applied Learning courses. It is not intended to set boundaries for Applied Learning. Applied Learning courses can cover topics in two or more areas.

#### Applied Learning Chinese (for Non-Chinese Speaking Students)

Applied Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students) is introduced, starting from the 2014/15 school year, to provide an additional channel exclusively for non-Chinese speaking students fulfilling the specified circumstances<sup>4</sup> to obtain an alternative Chinese language qualification to prepare them for further studies and work. Applied Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students) is designed from the perspective of second language learners and provides a simulated applied learning context for students to learn Chinese through different modes of activities.

The curriculum framework of Applied Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students) is given in Annex G.

# 2.2 Curriculum Framework

The curriculum framework for Applied Learning can be broadly divided into three layers:

<u>First Layer:</u>	Applied Learning Layer	which sets out the five essential curriculum pillars of Applied Learning
Second Layer:	Areas of Studies Layer	which prescribes the characteristics of each area of studies in Applied Learning. This layer is mainly characterised by the curriculum pillar on "Career-related Competencies".
<u>Third Layer:</u>	Applied Learning Course Layer	which involves the design of an Applied Learning course with a chosen context

The first and second layers are developed by the Education Bureau in consultation with stakeholders, and the third layer is developed by course providers monitored by the Education Bureau and quality assurance agencies. A comparison between the curriculum development of Applied Learning courses and that of other senior secondary school subjects can be depicted as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The specified circumstances are:

<sup>(</sup>i) students who have learned Chinese Language for less than six years while receiving primary and secondary education; or

<sup>(</sup>ii) students who have learned Chinese Language for six years or more in schools, but have been taught an adapted and simpler Chinese Language curriculum not normally applicable to the majority of students in local schools.

#### Curriculum Design, Delivery and Assessment of Senior Secondary Subjects and Applied Learning Courses



- # F Foundation Skills
  - T Thinking Skills
  - P People Skills
  - V Values and Attitudes
  - C Career-related Competencies

# First Layer – Curriculum Framework for Applied Learning

The first layer of the curriculum framework for Applied Learning comprising the five essential *curriculum pillars* to be developed in different vocational fields as learning contexts can be depicted as follows:

Lifelong Learning for Further Studies and/or Work					
Foundation Skills	Thinking Skills				
People Skills Values and Attitudes					
Career-related Competencies					

#### Different Vocational Fields as Learning Contexts

The five *curriculum pillars* of Applied Learning are elaborated as follows:

#### 1. Career-related Competencies

- understanding the knowledge, skills and workplace requirements within a vocational field; and mastering the knowledge and skills specific to the course, through:
  - understanding the context of the course within the wider area of studies;
  - understanding and interpreting workplace requirements through practising the basic skills in an authentic or near authentic environment; and
    - developing and applying conceptual, practical and reflective skills to demonstrate entrepreneurship and innovation.

#### **Performance Example:**

# understanding the context of the course within the wider area of studies:

- show awareness derived from the provision of information and experiences related to the cluster of professions/trades/industries being studied; and show knowledge of career pathways offered within the area of studies; and some understanding of the future global and local outlook of the chosen pathways;
- master the relevant beginners' skill set for the chosen area of studies such as mastery of the labels, terminology, facts and skills, derived through observation and practice; and
- discuss the intra- and inter-dependency factors within and beyond the area (including relations with core subjects, other elective subjects, and with other areas of studies and courses of Applied Learning), building upon the knowledge acquired in junior secondary education.

#### Performance Example:

# understanding and interpreting workplace requirements through practising the basic skills in an authentic or near authentic environment:

- have opportunities to explore, experience and try out tasks in an authentic or near authentic environment, e.g. practice learning within at least one representative domain related to the course;
- experience the workplace requirements through practice;
- acquire the fundamental knowledge and skills essential to enable further learning within the area; and
- transfer learning to unfamiliar situations within related domains.

# developing and applying conceptual, practical and reflective skills to demonstrate entrepreneurship and innovation:

- be provided with an encouraging learning environment to conceptualise learning, which is not limited to learning in Applied Learning courses but also embraces the learning in other core and elective subjects, to turn it into content-free generic concepts and to apply the concepts in solving a problem(s) they face in their daily experiences (e.g. global warming, food safety, selection of programmes for further studies, national identity);
- transfer learning to new environments;
- demonstrate the understanding of key issues in a chosen domain, including cultural aspects;
- discuss the global and local environment in that particular domain; and
- suggest and illustrate opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course.

#### 2. Foundation Skills

- communication skills (including languages), such as understanding, developing and communicating ideas and information and interacting with others;
- mathematical skills, such as integrating and applying numerical and spatial concepts and techniques; and
- information technology skills, such as using and adapting technologies.

#### **Performance Example:**

*communication skills* (*including languages*), such as understanding, developing and communicating ideas and information and interacting with others:

- make an oral presentation on areas such as project plans or findings to a target audience;
- prepare written work such as a proposal or report for a target audience; and
- develop a multimedia presentation, combining text, images, and/or sound to convey messages.

*mathematical skills*, such as integrating and applying numerical and spatial concepts and techniques:

- use mathematical ideas, techniques and language in a work-related task;
- interpret algebraic relations from numerical, symbolic and graphical perspectives;
- use knowledge of measures, shape and space to formulate and solve two-dimensional and three-dimensional problems; and
- handle data and apply knowledge in statistics to identify central tendencies and dispersion.

*information technology skills*, such as using and adapting technologies:

- use technology in an authentic work environment to exchange information for specific purposes;
- use the latest available technology to produce text as well as multimedia documents; and
- store, retrieve and analyse text and non-text data systematically by using electronic tools such as a relational database, an electronic worksheet.

#### 3. Thinking Skills

- problem-solving and decision-making skills, such as identifying problems and providing appropriate solutions, taking into consideration social, economic and technological developments;
- analytical skills, such as recognising when and what information is needed, locating and obtaining it from a range of sources and evaluating, using and sharing it with others;
- creative thinking skills, such as visualising consequences, thinking laterally, recognising opportunities and potential, testing multiple options, and engaging with the artistic, cultural and intellectual work of others; and
- understanding interdependency and relationships between different areas of studies, societies and civilisations to form regional/global perspectives on social, economic and technological changes, such as describing patterns, structures and relationships, and making and interpreting predictions.

#### **Performance Example:**

*problem-solving and decision-making skills*, such as identifying problems and providing appropriate solutions, taking into consideration social, economic and technological developments:

- create alternative solutions by creative thinking, logical reasoning, analysis, etc; and
- apply appropriate problem-solving strategies and critical thinking skills to work-related issues and tasks, including:
  - understanding systematic problem-solving models that incorporate inputs, processes, outcomes and feedback; and
  - applying trouble-shooting strategies to analyse failure and implementing strategies for improvement, supporting the evaluation with evidence.

**analytical skills**, such as recognising when and what information is needed, locating and obtaining it from a range of sources and evaluating, using and sharing it with others:

- identify potential sources and use appropriate techniques to collect data;
- transfer data into information in line with defined purposes;
- use the information to complete tasks such as project work; and
- interpret and analyse the information, evaluating it for completeness, relevance, and validity.

#### Performance Example:

*creative thinking skills*, such as visualising consequences, thinking laterally, recognising opportunities and potential, testing multiple options, and engaging with the artistic, cultural and intellectual work of others:

- carry out environmental scans to expose threats and opportunities;
- develop alternative scenarios and play out their implications (wearing different hats);
- identify and weigh the advantages and disadvantages of options to arrive at an optimal pathway;
- project alternative designs or plans; and
- seek and envisage other intellectual assumptions or cultural perspectives to critique one's own ideas and values.

understanding interdependency and relationships between different areas of studies, societies and civilisations to form regional/global perspectives on social, economic and technological changes, such as describing patterns, structures and relationships, and making and interpreting predictions:

- understand how cultural perspectives affect the definition of goals or outcomes and influence their achievement;
- explain how historical influences affect current developments within the area of studies;
- predict future developments in the area by applying regional/global trends elsewhere; and
- show how changes in one factor (e.g. demography) can affect other factors (e.g. consumer behaviour and markets).

#### 4. People Skills

- self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set;
- interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures, and contributing to the community; and
- collaborative and team building skills.

#### Performance Example:

*self-reflection and self-management skills*, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set:

- establish expectations of achievement and seek and respond to feedback from others;
- consult with and observe peers and adults at work;
- understand one's own emotions and values, and how to control or redirect one's internal states and resources;
- identify models that embody qualities for success; and
- review progress and adjust priorities to meet deadlines.

*interpersonal skills*, such as interacting with other people and cultures, and contributing to the community:

- respect differences in cultures and backgrounds;
- plan and carry out a strategy for cooperating with people from different backgrounds; and
- adapt communication styles to take account of cultural values and differences.

#### collaborative and team building skills:

- participate in the establishment and operation of self-directed work teams;
- define roles and share responsibilities among team members;
- set objectives and time frames for work to be completed;
- establish processes for group decision-making; and
- review progress and make adjustments as required.

#### 5. Values and Attitudes

- honesty and integrity, such as understanding the importance of perseverance and transparency;
- dependability and responsibility, such as being trustworthy and behaving responsibly;
- enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life;
- willingness to learn, such as being self-motivated in learning;
- self-confidence and self-esteem, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group; and
- respect for others and for law and authority, such as recognising the right of everybody to feel valued and be safe, and achieving a balance between rights and obligations.

#### **Performance Example:**

*honesty and integrity*, such as understanding the importance of perseverance and transparency:

- take responsibility for the consequences of one's own actions and mistakes; and
- apply ethical principles such as transparency, and avoid conflicts of interest.

*dependability and responsibility*, such as being trustworthy and behaving responsibly:

- behave positively and professionally at work;
- be responsible and accountable in fulfilling personal, community, and workplace roles;
- develop work habits, attitudes, and behaviours that promote trust in oneself and others; and
- understand that individual actions can affect the larger community.

enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life:

- show whole-hearted devotion to one's study or pursuit;
- develop the drive for success and understand how to create, set and review personal goals;
- show personal commitment to exploring and refining ideas and values;
- show interest in mastering a specific topic or area of studies;
- work proactively to manage, evaluate and improve one's own learning and performance; and
- inspire others to lift their performance.

#### Performance Example:

willingness to learn, such as being self-motivated in learning:

- be a reflective and self-motivated lifelong learner to meet the challenges of the changing environment;
- adapt flexibly to varied roles and responsibilities;
- develop interests and skills to enrich lifelong development; and
- manage and direct one's own learning.

*self-confidence and self-esteem*, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group:

- analyse one's own aptitudes, abilities, interests and priorities, and be realistic about career choices;
- develop self-assuredness in one's personal judgment, ability and power;
- develop work habits, attitudes, and behaviours that inspire the confidence of others; and
- develop confidence in oneself and make personal and career decisions by analysing choices, consequences and the effects on others.

**respect for others and for law and authority**, such as recognising the right of everybody to feel valued and be safe, and achieving a balance between rights and obligations:

- understand the equality of people and of countries;
- respect diversity in the workplace;
- be aware of personal beliefs and attitudes that influence decision-making; and
- understand relevant legal and ethical issues.

# Second Layer - Curriculum Framework for Areas of Studies

The curriculum framework for each area of studies in Applied Learning is characterised by the curriculum pillar "Career-related Competencies", which was depicted earlier as:

- 1.1 understanding the context of the course within the wider area of studies;
- 1.2 understanding and interpreting workplace requirements through practising the basic skills in an authentic or near authentic environment; and
- 1.3 developing and applying conceptual, practical and reflective skills to demonstrate entrepreneurship and innovation.

The above three proxies within *Career-related Competencies* embody the aspirations of Applied Learning courses to provide: a sound balance between breadth and depth and between conceptualisation and practice, an opportunity for students to look into different career pathways, and a means to meet their diverse interests, aspirations and aptitudes. The notion can be depicted by a T-shaped diagram as follows:



#### T-shaped Curriculum of Applied Learning – Career-related Competencies

The *curriculum components* of each of the three proxies within "Career-related Competencies" can be depicted as follows:

# 1.1 Understanding the context of the course within the wider area of studies



1.2 Understanding and interpreting workplace requirements through practising the basic skills in an authentic or near authentic environment



**1.3** Developing and applying conceptual, practical and reflective skills to demonstrate entrepreneurship and innovation



It is anticipated that the design of a particular Applied Learning course will include explicit learning activities related to the three proxies described above, building upon students' prior learning in Key Learning Areas. The transferable skills, i.e. foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes will be developed and nurtured through various activities, and reflected in the expected learning outcomes of the activities. The following diagram depicts this concept:



# Third Layer – Curriculum Framework for Applied Learning Course

The design of an Applied Learning course is a two-level process: a macro process and a micro process, both of which are connected by the learning outcomes of the course.

#### The Macro Process

The macro process is where the design process starts. The course design team has to research and make informed decisions on the course, following the underpinning concepts and core values of the Applied Learning curriculum framework as well as global and local environmental factors. The team has to brainstorm the expected learning outcomes, taking into consideration the five curriculum pillars of Applied Learning.

#### The Micro Process

With the first draft of expected learning outcomes, the team can start picking topics as learning elements of the course. Using the content of the chosen context, the learning and assessment activities can be planned to achieve the draft expected learning outcomes. Reality checks can then be carried out to determine whether the draft expected learning outcomes are reasonable and achievable. The expected learning outcomes are then reviewed and revised accordingly.

#### Iteration

Based on reality checks, the expected learning outcomes are revised and checked against the underpinning concepts and core values. Meanwhile the curriculum aims and the context of the course can be refined to better represent the chosen learning elements. To ensure coherence, the expected learning outcomes are revisited for further review and refinement as appropriate.

Repeated reviews of macro and micro processes continue until there is consistency among the five components of the design process: 1) underpinning concepts, core values, clarification questions; 2) overarching curriculum aims and chosen contexts; 3) learning outcomes; 4) learning elements; and 5) learning and assessment activities. The product can then be presented for comment by different stakeholders (the reality check) and the process of reviewing and revising will continue, incorporating feedback and comments received. This process can be extended to the curriculum delivery stage as part of the review process for improvement.

At the end of the process, there could be a number of courses within an area of studies which are clustered around different foci. Under each course cluster, there could be different subject choices designed by different course providers.

The two-level process of designing an Applied Learning course is depicted in the following diagram:



# 2.3 Overview of the Curriculum Framework for the Six Areas of Studies in Applied Learning

#### Examples of components that characterise each area of studies are set out in the following table:

Curriculum Componente			Area Speci	ic Examples		
Curriculum Components	Creative Studies	Media and Communication	Business, Management and Law	Services	Applied Science	Engineering and Production
Aims						
Underpinning concepts	<ul> <li>Creating and adding value through</li> <li>engaging in creative acts involving visuals (as in photography or illustration), sound (as in music), motion (as in dance) or written or spoken language (as in fiction and drama), or all of these</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Creating and adding value through         <ul> <li>applying different media to the communication of ideas and messages to target audiences – the media can include print media, such as posters, books, and newspapers, and non-print media, such as the Internet, films, television, and radio</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Creating and adding value through</li> <li>commercial transactions involving products and services</li> <li>promoting strategic and operational practices to ensure efficient and effective outcomes</li> <li>regulating personal, social, commercial and international business relationships and agreements</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Creating and adding value through</li> <li>designing, planning and production of outputs in the form of services – the services provided could be broadly categorised by the types of consumers, such as services provided to individuals, to households and communities, and to businesses and institutions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Creating and adding value through</li> <li>applying knowledge and skills from one or more natural scientific fields to solve practical problems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Creating and adding value through</li> <li>applying knowledge and skills in science and technology to the development, production, and establishment of constructs and processes</li> </ul>
• Core values	<ul> <li>learning to be ethical and responsible in creating and realising ideas, considering the cultural, ethnic, social and national dimensions of values, e.g. issues on plagiarism, appropriation, data privacy, intellectual and cultural property and copyright</li> <li>developing ability to give creative life and impact to ideas and perspectives</li> <li>developing an historical understanding and appreciation of contemporary culture and its creation</li> <li>developing aspirations in the creative industries for future career and adult life</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>learning to be ethical and responsible in developing and transmitting messages to audiences through various media, considering the cultural, ethnic, social and national dimensions of values, e.g. understanding the importance of balancing the public's right to know and the rights of individuals and organisations to privacy, and respecting copyright and intellectual property</li> <li>understanding social responsibilities related to communication</li> <li>developing aspirations in the field of media and communication for future career and adult life</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>learning to be ethical and responsible in business transactions and operations, considering the cultural, ethnic, social and national dimensions of values, e.g. understanding corporate social responsibility, corporate governance, copyright, data privacy and the role of honesty and integrity in creating trust in business settings</li> <li>understanding and respecting the norms arising from civilisation and culture (both documented or non-documented)</li> <li>developing awareness of risks in decision-making and management, perceiving defeats as an invitation to innovate</li> <li>conveying ideas and messages effectively to the right target groups</li> <li>developing aspirations in the field of business, management and law for future career and adult life</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>learning to be ethical and responsible in designing and delivering services, considering the cultural, ethnic, social and national dimensions of values, e.g. observing confidentiality of customer information, striking a balance between social responsibility, customer rights and the company's benefits</li> <li>understanding the importance of trust and interpersonal relationships and cultural, economic, environmental, and social factors which condition these relationships</li> <li>understanding the nature and characteristics of the services sector and recognising the importance of this sector to economic development both globally and locally</li> <li>developing aspirations in the field of services for future career and adult life</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>learning to be ethical and responsible in using scientific knowledge and skills, considering the cultural, ethnic, social and national dimensions of values, e.g. being aware of the improper use of drugs in sports, maintaining confidentiality of information and patients' rights, and recognising the importance of ethical sources of information</li> <li>understanding how science can be used to serve the well-being of the world</li> <li>applying scientific knowledge and the skills of scientific investigation to explain phenomena, and constructing solutions to problems</li> <li>developing aspirations in the field of applied science for future career and adult life</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>learning to be ethical and responsible in the development, production and establishment of constructs and processes, considering the cultural, ethnic, social and national dimensions of values, e.g. recognising and respecting professional ethics and responsibilities of a professional engineer to the profession, to colleagues, to employers or client to the public, and to the world</li> <li>understanding the multi-disciplina nature of the transfer of scientific knowledge</li> <li>understanding the engineering process which may include research, design, installation, testing, commissioning, maintenance, and problem-solving of objects, systems and processes</li> <li>developing aspirations in the field engineering and production for future career and adult life</li> </ul>

	Area Specific Examples						
Curriculum Components	Creative Studies	Media and Communication	Business, Management and Law	Services	Applie		
1 Career-related Competencies							

 1.
 Career-related Competencies

 1.1
 Understanding the context of the course within the wider area of studies

• providing eye-opening opportunities for students to experience the complexity of a particular context through the provision of information and experiences on:

- the cluster of professions/trades/industries

- the future global and local outlook

of the related context

• equipping students with the beginners' skill set for the chosen context, such as mastery of labels, terminology, facts and skills through observing and practising

A A Oliveten of music and the deal	design studies	filme television and based as a	hundra and a desire to the state	hunding and a service -	medical science -	level alter a second a second second
1.1 Cluster of professions/trades/	design studies	films, television and broadcasting	business administration	business services	medical science	building services engineering
industries related to the course	creative writing	studies	accountancy	hospitality services	health care	civil engineering
	performing arts	news media	financial management/services	retail and merchandising services	sports	electrical engineering
	media arts	radio and television production	business communications	personal health services	environmental science	environmental engineering
		<ul> <li>public relations and advertising</li> </ul>	marketing	public services	astronomy and space science	information engineering
			entrepreneurial studies		<ul> <li>psychology</li> </ul>	manufacturing and industrial
			legal studies			engineering
						mechanical engineering
1.2 Future global and local outlook	Hong Kong is distinguished by its	• the economic and educational	Hong Kong's economy has moved	the economic development in the last	Applied Science underpins a wide	the exponential explosions in
	fusion of Chinese and Western	development of society coupled	up the value-added chain towards a	few decades both globally and locally	range of professions and	knowledge and technology are
	cultures, values and technical	with rapid development of	more knowledge-based society	has pushed both the education levels	occupations, e.g. the medical	fundamental to global growth
	knowledge and skills, which enriches	technologies mutually reinforce the	political and economic alliances	and living standards of people, which	professions	Hong Kong's role in providing m
	the context for adding value to	ever-growing demands for media	increase the interdependency of	have resulted in escalating demands	scientific development leads to	scientific and logistical support f
	services or products and	production globally and locally	different business sectors	from service industries	significant changes in our daily life	the Pearl River Delta Region
	performances the influence of political and social			<ul> <li>in Hong Kong, the services sector is the main contributor to CDP, while</li> </ul>	and lifestyle, e.g. mobile	
	the influence of political and social     dovelopments on the content and			the main contributor to GDP, while	technologies, fibre technologies,	
	developments on the content and			worldwide its contribution is also	medical technologies	
	style of creative products and			<ul><li>growing</li><li>the diversification and the</li></ul>		
	services; the impact of the technological advancement in media			<ul> <li>the diversification and the specialisation of the sector and the</li> </ul>		
	development for creative			expanding market driving the sector		
	communication both globally and			to new heights both globally and		
	locally			locally		
1.3 Beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to	researching, analysing and	understanding media ethics	identifying value-adding	understanding ethical dilemmas and	understanding the process of	appreciating engineering
further studies and/or work	discussing creative works in terms of	involved in the disclosure and free	opportunities	responsibilities in the provision of	scientific inquiry – the development,	achievements and the process
	originality and the practitioner's	flow of information	<ul> <li>understanding business ethics</li> </ul>	services	testing and communication of	development of engineering pro
	artistic and aesthetic choices	<ul> <li>understanding specialised terms</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>evaluating the interrelationship of</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>acquiring the terminology and</li> </ul>	scientific ideas – and the nature of	<ul> <li>understanding the importance of</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>developing an understanding of legal</li> </ul>	and language used in the media	political, socio-economic,	professional language unique to	science	honesty and integrity in carrying
	and ethical issues related to creative	industry	technological and cultural factors	different service operations	<ul> <li>becoming aware of the social, legal</li> </ul>	engineering projects and respec
	activities (e.g. plagiarism,	<ul> <li>analytically and critically appraising</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>analysing a business's strengths,</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>developing the personal attributes</li> </ul>	and ethical responsibilities related	the rules of professional conduc
	appropriation, data privacy,	historical events and current issues	weaknesses, opportunities and	essential to the services industry	to the application of science	<ul> <li>applying knowledge of science,</li> </ul>
	intellectual and cultural property and	<ul> <li>creating, producing and</li> </ul>	threats	<ul> <li>acquiring a range of technical</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>applying scientific knowledge and</li> </ul>	technology, engineering and
	copyright)	disseminating ideas to the public	<ul> <li>being aware of legal issues related</li> </ul>	knowledge and skills in services	skills in daily life contexts and	mathematics
	<ul> <li>selecting and applying different</li> </ul>	through different media platforms	to different professions	related to the trade and industry in	work-related contexts, also	designing and conducting
	media of communication to present	<ul> <li>exploring the aptitudes and abilities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>exploring the aptitudes and abilities</li> </ul>	context	considering health and safety	experiments and analysing and
	ideas and views effectively for	required in selected career clusters	required in selected career clusters	<ul> <li>exploring the aptitudes and abilities</li> </ul>	issues	interpreting data
	intended audience	in media and communication, and	in business, management and law,	required in selected career clusters in	<ul> <li>exploring the aptitudes and abilities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>designing or adapting a system</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>exploring the aptitudes and abilities</li> </ul>	developing a personal roadmap to	and developing a personal roadmap	services, and developing a personal	required in selected career clusters	meet external constraints
	required in selected career clusters in	articulate to different levels of	to articulate to different levels of	roadmap to articulate to different	in applied science, and developing	<ul> <li>using relevant skills and tools t</li> </ul>
	the creative industries, and	qualifications	qualifications	levels of qualifications	a personal roadmap to articulate to	identify, formulate, and solve
	developing a personal roadmap to	quamoationo	quanitationo		different levels of qualifications	engineering problems
	articulate to different levels of					<ul> <li>exploring the aptitudes and ability</li> </ul>
	qualifications					<ul> <li>exploring the aptitudes and abi required in selected career clust</li> </ul>
	quamoatorio					in engineering and production,
						developing a personal roadma
						articulate to different levels of
						qualifications
						quainications
				1		

#### plied Science

#### Engineering and Production

Creative Studies       Media and Communication       Business, Management and Law       Services       Applied Science         1.2       Understanding and interpreting workplace requirements through practising the basic skills in an authentic or near authentic environment       •				Area Specif	ic Examples	
<ul> <li>providing learning-by-practising opportunities for students to explore, experience and try out tasks in an authentic or near authentic environment to as to understand the requirements and acquire fundamental knowledge and akils essential to enable further isones of course.</li> <li>Use the same provided with the learning students are provided with the learning students can be in the form of elective studes, cane studes, project, etc (provider) students are able to the course (which can be in the form of elective studes, cane studes, project, etc) for an estended study, which should be largely sele-hinted. Through the study and practice, students are able to a standed study, which should be largely sele-hinted. Through the study and practice, students are able to a students are able to a students are able to a students. experised is students, experised is study and practice, students are able to a student are explored. The course (which can be in the form of elective studes, cane studes, project, etc) for an estended study, which should be largely sele-hinted. Through the study and practice, students are able to a student stare able to a students are able to a students are able to a student stare studes, project, etc) for an estanded study, which should as the projection of projections of projections of projectives and definited. Through the study and practice, students are able to a student stare able to a student</li></ul>	Curriculum Components	Creative Studies	Media and Communication	Business, Management and Law	Services	Applied Science
<ul> <li>1.2 Practice learning white at least of the course (which can be in the form of exemption white learning-by-practising opportunities to choose a domain within the context of the course (which can be in the form of electron study, which should be largely achientated. Through the study and practice, students are able to exemption be colles and or advision within related professions, e.g. insertion the study and practice, students are able to exemption be colles and the organized study, which should be largely self-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able to exemption be colles and the study and practice, students are able to exemption be colles and the study and practice, students are able to exemption be colles and the study and practice, students are able to exemption be colles and the communication effectively and use and the electron study, students are able to experiments to creating a students and able communication effectively and use and entities, e.g. image designer, har as a stude to a student and communication effectively and use and entities, e.g. image designer, har as a students are able to experiments to creating a distributed in the context of the communication effectively and use and entities, e.g. image designer, har as a stude to a student and communication effectively and use and a distributes effectively and use and adiabanes designer executed study, which should be addy and practice, students are able to execute students are able to execute students are able to a responsibilities within related professions, e.g. through the anarced students are able to a student and communication effectively and use and entities experiments to creating a student, e.g. and/material and townerse designer and able indext effectively and use and adiabanes designer and able as desting communication and advises and a students, e.g. and/material and townerse desting and values and distillates, e.g. and/material advise and advises advise advise and advises advise advise advise advise</li></ul>						
negative domain reliable domain within the control the course (which can be in the form elevise studies, case atudies, project, elevise studies, case atudies, project, <br< th=""><th><ul> <li>providing learning-by-practising op</li> </ul></th><th>portunities for students to explore, experience</th><th>e and try out tasks in an authentic or near au</th><th>thentic environment so as to understand the</th><th>requirements and acquire fundamental know</th><th>wledge and skills essential to enable further</th></br<>	<ul> <li>providing learning-by-practising op</li> </ul>	portunities for students to explore, experience	e and try out tasks in an authentic or near au	thentic environment so as to understand the	requirements and acquire fundamental know	wledge and skills essential to enable further
coreschoose a domain within the context of he course (withic has be in the form elective studies, case studies, project, et of ran estended study, with should be largely self-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able by subject responsibilities within related responsibilities within related professions, e.g. image designer, hai study, and practice, students are able the indep statistic, state studies, case studies, project, et of ran estended study, with should be largely self-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able the indep statistics, et of ran estended study, with should be largely self-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able the indep statistics within related responsibilities within re	1.2.1 Practice learning within at least one			•	•	
1.2.2 Experience workplace requires which can be in the form of through practics. Under studies, sproid. city or an oxtended study, which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study, which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study, which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study, which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study, which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study, which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study, which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. Which should be largely solf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able of self-or an oxtended study. Which should self-or an oxtended study	representative domain related to the	• • • • • •		• • • • • •		• • • • • •
1.2.2 Experiencing workplace requirements through practice texperience the roles and responsibilities within related projessions, e.g., merience the roles and responsibilities within related projessions, e.g., merience the roles and the relation and communication and intelectual quality, e.g., communication and attitudes, e.g., communication attiles - atticities attiles, attiles, and att	course					
through practicetel) for an extended study, which should be largely self-initiated. Through the budged yelf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able to experience the roles and responsibilities within related professions, e.g. image designer, har studients are bille to professions, e.g. image designer, har studients are bille to study and practice, students are able to budged yelf-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able to experience the roles and responsibilities within related professions, e.g. thero lead origination distribution studients are bille to professions, e.g. image designer, har studients are bille to professions, e.g. thero lead originate theri originality, ede and attrudes, e.g. communication studience through small selfing and attrudes, e.g. communication studience through small selfing and attrudes, e.g. communication studience through small selfing studience through small studience through small selfing studience through small selfing studience through small studience through		, ,	,	· ·	,	``
<ul> <li>be largely self-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and responsibilities with nelated professions, e.g. through the study and practice, students are able to espenence the roles and requirements of an auditor equirements of an auditor equirements of an auditor at attudes, e.g. <i>communicate effectively</i> and usaices decision solis. and values and attudes, e.g. <i>communication solis develop</i> generic skills, and values and attudes, e.g. <i>communication sellis</i>. (advelop generic skills, and values and attudes, e.g. <i>communication solis develop</i> generic skills - and the top there are and through the study and practice. Students are able to responsibilities with nelated professions. e.g. the role and purpose of community services</li> <li>develop generic skills, and values and attudes, e.g. <i>communication solis environs and solis develop generic skills and values and attudes, e.g. <i>communication solis environs and solis develop generic skills and values and attudes, e.g. and through the study and practice. Students are able to applying skills - nonocy in a avaid and through the study and practice. S</i></i></li></ul>						
1.23 Acquiring the knowledge and skills essential to enable further learning to writhin the area writhin the ability to reflect and critique their own products or performances, and those of others, as well as their originality, adaptability a writhin the area writhin the area writhin the area writhin the ability to reflect and critique their own products or setting a particle, students are able to a subdy and practice, students are able to a subdy and practice. Students are able to a subdy and practice, students are able to a subdy and practice. Students are able to a subdy and practice, students are able to a subdy and practice. Studen	through practice	,	,		,	· ·
<ul> <li>experience the roles and responsibilities within related professions, e.g. professions, e</li></ul>		• • •				• • •
within the arearesponsibilities within related professions, e.g. image designer, har situations within related professions, e.g. image designer, har situations within related domainsresponsibilities within related professions, e.g. geny cleasional a dowlop the ability to related an 						
1.2.4 Transfering learning to unlamilitar       professions, e.g. mage designer, hat stylist, fashion designer       professions, e.g. professions, e.g. professions, e.g. professions, e.g. professions, e.g. the role and scipulity created domains       professions, e.g. distinguish the nature and purpose of commercial scipulity to reflect and crique their own products or performances, and those of others, and antitudes, e.g. communication and communication skills - collecting time value of upportent skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - calculating time value of momey, interest rates, risk and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - calculating the cost and mattives expression and provide measures or consplexes through skills - calculating the cost and antivides, respect for law and analysing data on the type and range or constructive compromises with different parties <ul> <li>transfer knowledge and skills to freque and making e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to moter through specific and provide measures or constructive compromises with different parties</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills to moter through specific and provide measures</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills to moter thro</li></ul>	Ũ					'
1.2.4 Transferring learning to unfamiliar situations within related domains       stylist, fashion designer       scripting requirements for creating a strytogen of the stilly control of the stilly control of the stilly control of the stilly control of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still of the still of the still of the stress of the still o	within the area			•	•	
situations within related domains• develop the ability to reflect and critique their own products or performances, and those of others, as well as their originality, edt ed evelop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - through non-verbal media, such as dance, drama and music; self-confidence and self-esteem - performances• use research skills (including information and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - performances• use research skills (including information and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - performances• use research skills (including information and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - performances• use research skills (including information and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - performances• use research skills (including information and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - performances• develop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - anticipating porteint problem: solving skills - analytical skills - confidence and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer nowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer nowledge and skills to atteristing a work of fiction to a terving a work of fiction to a terving a work of clicion to a 						
critique their own products or performances, and those of others, as wella schein originality, adaptability and intellectual quality, etccommunication the schein originality, adaptability and intellectual quality, etcand actitudes, e.g. communication skills – othough goneric skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills – othough gone, verbal media, such as dance, drama and music; collaborative and team building scheins enderion shills interest rates, insk and rographical means of expression; production and provide measures or graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills – natiographical measure problem-solving skills – and self-extern – sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancescommunication in diverse media to develop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills – collecting problem-solving skills – anticipating problem-solving skills – anticipating problem-solving skills – anticipating production and provide measures or consingency plan to alleviate their improduction and provide measures or constructive compromises swith different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to timerafer hander sorigtand communication to develop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills – collaborative and team building schells – protextile provide measures or constructive compromises with different transfer knowledge and skills to timerafer knowledge and skil	• •					
performances, and those of others, as well as their originality, adaptability and intellecual quality, etcbasic media tools in diverse media settingstechnology tools) for making personal and business decisionsbe able to realise the importance of satisfying customers' demand for service value and quity in different service value and quity in different personal and business decisionsbe able to realise the importance of satisfying customers' demand for service value and quity in different and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - calculating time value of audience through spoken, written, collaborative and team building service and self-esteem – performancesbe able to realise the importance of satisfying customers' demand for service value and quity in different and attitudes, e.g. mathematical skills - calculating time value of money, interest rates, risk and audience through spoken, written, or graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills - ancitopating problems in a media service of competence through successfully completing works or performancesbe able to realise the importance of satisfying customers' demand for service value and quity in different and attitudes, e.g. mathematical skills - calculating time value of money, interest rates, risk and audioned through service and self-esteem – performancesbe able to realise the importance of satisfying customers' demand for service value and quitoris, interpersonal skills - or accepting new write, accepting new write, interpersonal skills - or contingency plan to alleviate their performancesbe able to realise the importance of satisfying customers' demand for satisfying customers' demand for satisfying customers' demand for satisfile - calculating throe ost and and attitudes, e.g	situations within related domains		,	, <b>,</b>		1
as well as their originality, adaptability and intellectual quality, etc and attitudes, e.g. communication skills – onmunicating in a way skills – through non-verbal media, such as dance, dram and music; oollaborative and team building skills – ontrough spoken, written, oollaborative and team building skills – ontroited in the service and team building skills – ontroited in the stells – and team building skills – ontroited in the stells – ontroited in the stells – and team building skills – ontroited in the stells – and team building skills – ontroited in the stells – ontroited in the ontroited in the stells – ontroited in the ontroited in the stells – ontroited						
and intellectual quality, etc• develop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - and uttitudes, e.g. communication analytical skills - andiceting analytical skills - andicital stom <br< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><b>e</b>, , <b>e</b></td><td>•</td><td></td></br<>				<b>e</b> , , <b>e</b>	•	
<ul> <li>develop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills – communication skills – communication skills – communication skills – communication skills – communication iskills – communication iskills – communication iskills – communication iskills – communication iskills – communication skills – communication iskills – communication intercets rates, risk and audience through spoken, written iskills – practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem – sense of competence through successfully completing works or performances</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills to different pretise e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to television script</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a</li> <li>transfer knowledge of safety and health hzards to different</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills from on medium (e.g. radio) to a</li> </ul>		• • • •	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	•		
and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - through non-verbal media, such as dance, drama and music; collaborative and team building skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancesskills - communicating in a way appropriate to the purpose and audience through spoken, written, or graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills - antticipating potential problems in a media successfully completing works or performancesskills - communicating in a way appropriate to the purpose and audience through spoken, written, or graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills - antticipating potential problems in a media production and provide measures performancesskills - calculating time value of money, interest rates, risk and return; analytical skills - approprise planning to suit personal or authority - understanding various legal and ethical issues related to or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; interpersonal skills - accepting new ideas and making e.g. transfer nknowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer rknowledge and skills to television scriptskills - communicating in a way appropriate to the purpose and money, interest rates, risk and return; analytical skills - collecting authority - understanding various legal and ethical issues related to different partiese.develop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. communication skills - writing plant interpersonal skills - or contingency plant to alleviate their plant to interpersonal skills - transfer knowledge and skills to different partiesskills - calculating time value of money, interest rates, risk and return; analytical skills - approprimes or co						
skills - through non-verbal media, such as dance, drama and music; collaborative and team building skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancesappropriate to the purpose and audience through spoken, written, or graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills - anticipating problem-solving skills - anticipating production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; interpersonal skills - accepting new ideas and making e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to television scriptand attitudes, e.g. communication skills - analytical skills - analytical skills - analytical skills - business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyand attitudes, e.g. communication skills - analytical skills - analytical skills - analytical skills - business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyand attitudes, e.g. communication <b< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></b<>						
such as dance, drama and music; collaborative and team building skills – practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem – sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancesaudience through spoken, written, or graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills – anticipating potential problems in a media production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; interpersonal skills – accepting new ideas and making e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to areturn; analytical skills – applying skills in investment and insurance planning to suit personal or corporate needs; respect for law and authority – understanding various legal and ethical issues related to business settings such as corporate or contingent value of a meal in the study of nutrition; understanding interdependency and analysing data on the type and range or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; interpersonal skills – accepting new ideas and making e.g. transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to askills – applying skills – applying skills – writing personal health reports or sales reports in an effective way; analytical skills – collecting background information and analysing data on the type and range or countries; interpersonal skills – creating a positive, relaxed and how the natural environment different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to askills – applying skills – applying skills – writing personal health reports or sales reports in an effective way; analytical skills – writing analytical skills – or sales reports in an effective way; analysing da		•			10	
collaborative and team building skills – practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem – sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancesor graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills – anticipating potential problems in a media production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – accepting a work of fiction to e.g. transferring a work of fiction to television scriptor graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills – anticipating potential problems in a media production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – accepting a work of fiction to e.g. transferring a work of fiction to e.g. transferring a work of fiction to television scriptor graphical means of expression; problem-solving skills – anticipating potential problems in a media production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – accepting new ideas and making constructive compromises with different partiesskills in investment and insurance plans for individuals with varying needsor sales reports in an effective way; analytical skills – collecting background information and analysing data on the type and range or contructive; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to askills in investment and insurance plans for individuals with varying needsor sales reports in an effective way; analytical skills – collecting background information and analysing data on the type and range or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to askills – intersement skills – collecting transfer knowledg		e i				
skills - practising stage management; self-confidence and self-esteem - sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancesproblem-solving skills - anticipating potential problems in a media production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> - accepting new ideas and making e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transferring a work of fiction to a television scriptnoblem-solving skills - accepting new ideas and making or emedium (e.g. radio) to aplanning to suit personal or corporate needs; respect for law and authority - understanding various legal and ethical issues related to business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyanalytical skills - collecting background information and analysing data on the type and range or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> - creating a positive, relaxed and plans for individuals with varying one medium (e.g. radio) to astudy of nutrition; understanding background information and analysing data on the type and range or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> - creating a positive, relaxed and pleasant atmosphere when providing servicesstudy of nutrition; understanding interdependency and relationships - students studying constructive compromises with different partiesstudy of nutrition; understanding study of transfer knowledge and skills form one medium (e.g. radio) to astudy of nutrition; understanding background information and analysing data on the type and range or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> - creating a positive, relaxed and servicesstudy of nutrition; understanding interdependency and relationships - students studying trelationships - studentssubsc					•••	°
self-confidence and self-esteem – sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancespotential problems in a media production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> –background information and analysing data on the type and range of services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> –interdependency and relationships – students studying Chinese medicine should recognise how the natural environment interacts with the human body; different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer ring a work of fiction to a television scriptoptential problems in a media production and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> –background information and analysing data on the type and range of services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> –interdependency and relationships – students studying Chinese medicine should recognise how the natural environment interacts with the human body; honesty and integrity – being aware of improper use of drugs in sports•transfer knowledge and skills form one medium (e.g. radio) to a•transfer knowledge and skills ton situations, e.g. devising financial plans for individuals with varying one medium (e.g. radio) to a•transfer and apply knowledge of safety and health hazards to different safety and health hazards to different•		Ŭ				
sense of competence through successfully completing works or performancesproduction and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – accepting new ideas and making e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer knowledge and scriptproduction and provide measures or contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – accepting new ideas and making television scriptauthority – understanding various legal and ethical issues related to business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyanalysing data on the type and range of services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills to different parties- students studying Chinese medicine should recognise or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills to one medium (e.g. radio) to aauthority – understanding various legal and ethical issues related to business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyanalysing data on the type and range of services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills to new situations, e.g. devising financial plans for individuals with varying one medium (e.g. radio) to aauthority – understanding various legal and ethical issues related to business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyanalysing data on the type and range of services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills form one medium (e.g. radio) to aauthority – understanding various authority – understanding various governance, data privacyanalysing data on the type and range of services performed in ot			, , , , , ,			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
successfully completing works or performancesor contingency plan to alleviate their impact; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – accepting new ideas and making e.g. transfer knowledge and skills to television scriptlegal and ethical issues related to business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyof services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transfer knowledge and skills form one medium (e.g. radio) to alegal and ethical issues related to business settings such as corporate governance, data privacyof services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer knowledge and skills to new situations, e.g. devising financial plans for individuals with varying one medium (e.g. radio) to aof services performed in other cities or countries; <i>interpersonal skills</i> – transfer and apply knowledge of safety and health hazards to differentChinese medicine should recognise how the natural environment interacts with the human body; honesty and integrity – being aware of improper use of drugs in sports• transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a• transfer individuals with varying needs• transfer and apply knowledge of safety and health hazards to different• transfer researching, critical thinking and reflection skills					•	
performancesimpact; interpersonal skills – accepting new ideas and making different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transferring a work of fiction to a television scriptimpact; interpersonal skills – accepting new ideas and making constructive compromises with different partiesor countries; interpersonal skills – creating a positive, relaxed and pleasant atmosphere when providing serviceshow the natural environment interacts with the human body; honesty and integrity – being aware of improper use of drugs in sports• transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a• transfer knowledge and skills from needs• transfer and apply knowledge of safety and health hazards to different safety and health hazards to different• transfer researching, critical thinking and reflection skills		, ,				
<ul> <li>transfer knowledge and skills to different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transferring a work of fiction to a television script</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a</li> <li>governance, data privacy</li> <li>governance, data privacy</li> <li>transfer knowledge and skills to new situations, e.g. devising financial plans for individuals with varying needs</li> <li>transfer and apply knowledge of safety and health hazards to different</li> <li>transfer researching, critical thinking and reflection skills</li> </ul>		, , ,	• • •	-		Ŭ
different roles in the creative domain, e.g. transferring a work of fiction to a television scriptconstructive compromises with different partiestransfer knowledge and skills to new situations, e.g. devising financial plans for individuals with varying needspleasant atmosphere when providing serviceshonesty and integrity – being aware of improper use of drugs in sportstelevision scripttransfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to aplans for individuals with varying needstransfer and apply knowledge of safety and health hazards to differenttransfer researching, critical thinking and reflection skills				<b>.</b> .		
e.g. transferring a work of fiction to a television scriptdifferent partiessituations, e.g. devising financial plans for individuals with varying needsservicesof improper use of drugs in sportsof improper use of drugs in sportsone medium (e.g. radio) to aneedsservicesstransfer and apply knowledge of safety and health hazards to differenttransfer researching, critical thinking and reflection skills		ů, s		<b>°</b>	• •	
television script <ul> <li>transfer knowledge and skills from one medium (e.g. radio) to a</li> <li>transfer and apply knowledge of transfer researching, critical safety and health hazards to different thinking and reflection skills</li> <li>transfer and apply knowledge of transfer researching, critical safety and health hazards to different</li> <li>transfer and apply knowledge of transfer researching, critical safety and health hazards to different</li> <li>transfer and apply knowledge of transfer researching, critical safety and health hazards to different</li> <li>thinking and reflection skills</li> <li>thinking and reflection sk</li></ul>		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		-		
one medium (e.g. radio) to a needs safety and health hazards to different thinking and reflection skills		5 5				
			C C			0.1
				lieeus		
			different medium (e.g. the internet)		types of services	acquired in scientific investigations

#### ed Science

#### Engineering and Production

sential to enable further learning within the area

Students are provided with the learning-by-practising opportunities to choose a domain within the context of the course (which can be in the form of elective studies, case studies, project, etc) for an extended study, which should be largely self-initiated. Through the study and practice, students are able to

- experience the roles and responsibilities within related professions, e.g. job requirements for environmental engineer
- use the principles and theories of science, engineering, and mathematics to solve technical problems
- discuss the transfer of scientific • discoveries and research findings to commercially viable products
- develop generic skills, and values and attitudes, e.g. information technology skills - applying and adapting software packages in gathering and analysing information; creative thinking skills - developing innovative solutions to problems in an engineering environment; self-reflection and self-management skills - taking into account time and resource constraints in fulfilling work and production requirements
- transfer skills to new situations of application, e.g. from aircraft engineering to automobile engineering

			Area Specif	fic Examples	
Curriculum Components	Creative Studies	Media and Communication	Business, Management and Law	Services	Applie
	practical and reflective skills to demonst environment for students to conceptualise the election of programmes for further studies, na	eir learning in Applied Learning and in other	core and elective subjects, so that they deve	elop generic understandings which they can	apply in solving a pro
Through elective studies, case studies learning across the curriculum and ap	s, project, etc, some students, with the suppo plying it to solve daily problems	ort of tutors, may be able to demonstrate the	ir learning beyond the level of information, ki	nowledge and skill development to the level	of conceptualising a
<ul> <li>1.3.1 Transferring learning to new environments</li> <li>1.3.2 Demonstrating the understanding of key issues in a chosen domain, including cultural aspects</li> <li>1.3.3 Discussing the global and local environment in that particular domain</li> <li>1.3.4 Suggesting and illustrating opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>applying the knowledge and skills involved in the design cycle when organising extra-curricular activities in school:</li> <li>generating ideas and identifying their intended audience (e.g. working out what kind of activities their intended audience might wish to participate in)</li> <li>researching into a theme (e.g. developing ideas within a meaningful theme for an activity with particular objectives)</li> <li>gathering materials required for the activity (e.g. estimating the resources required for the activity and choosing the medium of communication for presenting the activity)</li> <li>working out a prototype taking into consideration likely constraints (e.g. identifying the resource constraints and exploring implementation strategies)</li> <li>presenting the plan and testing the initial ideas of the activity in teams (e.g. choosing appropriate media through which to present the ideas with team members and respecting everyone's views in the process)</li> <li>evaluating the activity and making changes as appropriate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>applying the knowledge and skills involved in effective communication when organising a school-based activity such as the celebration of a school anniversary or a school cleaning campaign:</li> <li>identifying target participants (e.g. junior or senior form students)</li> <li>considering factors such as age group, family background, historical background of the school and the cultural characteristics of the participants</li> <li>identifying the theme for the activity and match it with other factors</li> <li>highlighting the main issues involved in the theme and disseminating them through different channels (e.g. leaflets, posters, campus TV, school intranet)</li> <li>highlighting key messages and creating a conducive atmosphere for the activity using multiple media platforms in an effective and responsible manner</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>applying the knowledge and skills involved in building an investment portfolio to the creation of students' own portfolio of studies:</li> <li>considering their goals (e.g. what careers they aspire to)</li> <li>analysing their personal assets (e.g. aptitudes, strengths, weaknesses, and values)</li> <li>researching the skills and education that the careers require</li> <li>deciding how much they can afford to invest in such requirements (e.g. in terms of time and effort)</li> <li>determining how much risk they are willing to take (e.g. considering constraints in capability, resources, or changes in environment)</li> <li>soliciting guidance and advice; putting together the portfolio of studies (e.g. subject combination, studies pathways, participation in school or community activities, career exploration activities)</li> <li>testing the initial plans; evaluating the portfolio and making changes as appropriate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>applying the knowledge and skills involved in effective communication in service industries to the management of one's social life and networks:</li> <li>employing relationship skills in service industries to making new acquaintances, and to communicating trust and respect to other people through words and actions</li> <li>developing knowledge about current issues and maintaining an interesting dialogue with others</li> <li>applying good communication techniques to maintain harmonious social relationship with others, e.g. learn to listen without jumping to conclusions too quickly, learn to appreciate and respect opposing views</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>applying the know involved in scientil organising extra-coschool:</li> <li>identifying the schoolmates observation a data through</li> <li>identifying the be organised</li> <li>designing the with the need</li> <li>identifying th and resource strategies for the activity a and learning collaborative</li> <li>understandin roles played respecting the of others</li> </ul>

The curriculum frameworks for the six areas of studies are given in Annexes A-F respectively.

baila	Science
plied	Science

Engineering and Production

problem(s) they face in their daily experiences

g and meta-understanding, by drawing upon and integrating their

- owledge and skills ntific enquiry to a-curricular activities in the interests of their tes (e.g. through on and/or collection of igh surveys) the types of activities to sed the activity in accordance eeds of the participants the constraints in time rces, exploring possible for the implementation of and managing risks, etc ing to work with others
- tively
- nding the complementary red by team members, and g the opinions and values

applying the knowledge and skills involved in aircraft entertainment systems to the design of the systems in an "intelligent" building:

- using knowledge of audio and video cable routing on an aircraft to minimise interference and enhance sound and video quality
- using knowledge in cabin management systems as a means to tie together most of the systems that affect the residents in an intelligent building

# Chapter 3 Curriculum Planning

This chapter provides guidelines to help schools and teachers develop a flexible and balanced curriculum that suits the needs, interests and abilities of students, and the context of their school.

# 3.1 Guiding Principles

Students should be supported to understand the complementary and supplementary nature of Applied Learning, so as to make informed choices in deciding the elective subjects for their senior secondary studies. They need to understand that:

- each Applied Learning course is based on a cluster of trades or industries which reflect the social, economic and technological needs of Hong Kong and global trends, and are close to students' daily life;
- the T-shaped curriculum of Applied Learning enables students to acquire an overview of the opportunities associated with particular trades and industries so that they can explore possibilities for further studies and careers. At the same time it enables them to pursue in-depth studies in a selected area and to develop transferable skills such as foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes; and
- the authentic contexts within the Applied Learning courses complement students' studies in other subjects, thus contributing to whole-person development.

# 3.2 Planning for Implementation

The duration of each Applied Learning course is 180 contact hours and that of Applied Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students) is 270 contact hours.

Schools are encouraged to adopt different mode(s) of implementation to offer Applied Learning according to the learning needs of students in order to cater for learner diversity. Schools may arrange for students to attend courses at venues of course providers, to be taught by course providers' staff and according to their timetables. Schools may also collaborate with course providers and/or network with other schools in making arrangements for courses to take place in schools fitting their timetables. Generally, Applied Learning courses extend over two school years in Secondary 5 and 6. Flexible arrangements of Applied Learning implementation, for example, early course commencement in Secondary 4, may also be adopted in order to cater for students' diverse learning needs.

# 3.3 Connection with Other Senior Secondary Subjects and Learning Experiences

A flexible combination of Applied Learning courses with the core/elective subjects of the senior secondary curriculum and Other Learning Experiences broadens students' learning experience and enhances diversification within the senior secondary curriculum for holistic learning.

Knowledge in Applied Learning is acquired mainly through hands-on, practical experience. As in other senior secondary subjects the aim is to enable students to acquire knowledge, skills and attitudes which are transferable.

Applied Learning courses will be introduced in Secondary 5. In order to provide students with the prior information necessary for choosing a particular combination of elective subjects in their Secondary 5 studies, taster programmes can be introduced in Secondary 4. These will be supplemented with guidance and advice offered through careers talks, structured visits and workplace-related experiences.

The progression of studies at senior secondary level is set out diagrammatically as follows:



- () optional
- \* including Applied Learning courses
- X = Elective Subject

#### **Connection with Core Subjects**

Applied Learning provides an authentic or near-authentic context for students to acquire the skills of the workplace. It also aims to complement their studies in core subjects in the senior secondary curriculum.

Connection with Languages – Applied Learning provides a language-rich environment for students and authentic contexts for the promotion of Language across the Curriculum. Students engage in the learning and use of language in a range of workplace tasks (e.g. handling telephone enquiries and the complaints of customers in courses related to hospitality services, or writing reports in business courses), and they use language to communicate with others about work-related matters. In courses such as media and communication, students use languages for a wide range of purposes, involving different contexts and audiences, and learn to understand what functions language fulfils in work-related contexts. They can then apply this understanding to the use of language in their daily life.

Connection with Mathematics - The different areas of studies of Applied Learning also provide real-life situations for students to apply the concepts and knowledge they acquire in Mathematics. For example, in courses related to accounting and finance, students need to interpret algebraic relations from numerical, symbolic and graphical data. In courses related to design, engineering and production, students make use of their knowledge of measures, shape and space to formulate and solve two-dimensional and three-dimensional problems. In conducting research in courses such as retail and merchandising, students need to handle data and apply knowledge in statistics to identify central tendencies and dispersion.

*Connection with Liberal Studies* – The concepts, knowledge and skills students acquire in different areas of studies of Applied Learning also facilitate students' learning in Liberal Studies. For example, in courses related to health care, students need to understand the importance of personal hygiene in public health. In marketing, students learn how to set up and execute a marketing plan for a specific international market. This complements their studies in globalisation. In all Applied Learning courses students learn about planning, leadership and time management, which are indispensable for the independent enquiry study.

Further suggestions on how Applied Learning can contribute to the study of the core and elective subjects are set out in <u>Appendix 2</u>.

#### Useful Combinations of Applied Learning and Elective Subjects

The study of Applied Learning complements other senior secondary subjects by offering studies with stronger elements of practical learning linked to broad professional and vocational fields. Choosing a sound combination of Applied Learning and elective subjects enhances student learning and lateral coherence within the senior secondary curriculum.

While the core and elective subjects offer learning and thinking tools, Applied Learning contributes to them by:

a. enhancing and enriching subject knowledge:

e.g. students taking Business, Accounting and Financial Studies may take related Applied Learning courses such as accountancy, financial management and marketing to enhance the breadth and depth of studies in these fields;

b. generating cross-fertilisation:

e.g. students taking Physics may benefit through studying civil and mechanical engineering, as these Applied Learning courses share common concepts and processes such as force and motion, electricity and magnetism, and conservation of energy. This helps students consolidate learning across both subjects;

c. expanding students' horizons:

e.g. students taking Science or Arts subjects may take an Applied Learning course such as performing arts, financial management, food and catering or personal services to broaden their horizons and enhance their all-round development; and

d. consolidating and synergising students' studies:

e.g. Applied Learning courses provide a multi-disciplinary context and an encouraging learning environment for students to reflect on their learning across the curriculum, so that they develop generic knowledge and skills which they can apply in solving problems such as global warming, food safety, selection of programmes for further studies, national identity. Some students, with the support of their tutors, may even be able to take their learning beyond the level of information, knowledge and skill development to the level of conceptualisation and meta-understanding.

The elective subjects and Applied Learning courses are also complementary to each other, e.g. Visual Arts is related to design studies in Creative Studies; Integrated Science is related to health care in Applied Science. A list of examples of combinations of Applied Learning and other senior secondary subjects is given in <u>Appendix 3</u>.

#### 3.4 Connection with Junior Secondary Education and Career Pathways

Students acquire the essential skill of learning to learn from the eight Key Learning Areas at the junior secondary level, and at the same time develop curiosity and interests in a wide range of subjects. They may, for example, become interested in Chinese and Western approaches to medical care, or the application of scientific knowledge to sports and fitness. Other students may want to further explore their talents in design, or develop their skills in dance, etc. Applied Learning provides a means for students to meet this curiosity and realise their aspirations under the umbrella of formal education and the acquisition of recognised qualifications.

Provision for articulation pathways for further studies and/or career development is a critical design principle of Applied Learning and this has been substantially developed during piloting (Please refer to Chapter 2). Related information on the articulation pathways of individual courses can be found at the website of Applied Learning (www.edb.gov.hk/apl/).

# 3.5 Vocational and Professional Education in Secondary Education

Vocational and professional education and training plays a role in providing flexible and multiple pathways for students with diverse aspirations and abilities. In secondary education, students are progressively provided with career-related experiences, from the junior secondary to the senior secondary level. Students acquire career-related experiences and relevant exposure through life-wide learning activities, such as career talks, visits to workplace, workshops and camps, and other subjects. Students could experience a sense of the world of work and explore different career pathways.

At the senior secondary level, the understanding of vocational and professional education can be deepened through Applied Learning, which offers learning contexts linked to broad vocational and professional fields. Applied Learning courses are offered under six areas of studies: (1) Creative Studies; (2) Media and Communication; (3) Business, Management and Law; (4) Services; (5) Applied Science; and (6) Engineering and Production. Applied Learning also complements core and elective subjects of the senior secondary curriculum for holistic learning. Building on the foundation knowledge and experience students acquired at the junior secondary level, Applied Learning provides the context for students to develop beginners' skill set, career-related competencies and generic skills necessary to prepare them for further studies and employment in the future.

Students, especially those with an interest in vocational and professional education, could consider their abilities, interests and aptitudes to participate more in Applied Learning courses as elective subjects in their senior secondary education. Diversified career-related activities are offered in Applied Learning, e.g. hands-on experience with trade-standard facilities and various eye-opening visits, providing authentic experience in the workplace. Through the learning experience in vocational and professional contexts, students explore their career aspirations and orientation for lifelong learning. Specialisation in Applied Learning may serve as foundation for vocational and professional education. Secondary schools are encouraged to make good use of the provision of Applied Learning courses at the senior secondary level to help students with different aspirations and abilities to articulate to multiple pathways.

To facilitate students' self-understanding and exploration of multiple pathways including vocational and professional education, secondary schools are encouraged to adopt a whole school approach in career and life planning education, and enhance individual guidance and support to students in choosing elective subjects for holistic learning. For example,

- Students with different aspirations and abilities may take one Applied Learning course in combination with other elective subjects to enrich their learning experience through exposure to vocational and professional fields.
- Students with interest in vocational and professional education and who learn better in those contexts may take two Applied Learning courses to explore their career aspirations and orientation for lifelong learning through authentic experience in a work-related environment.

Applied Learning as part of the broad and balanced curriculum with diversification and specialisations is set out diagrammatically as follows:


## Chapter 4 Learning and Teaching

This chapter provides guidelines for the effective learning and teaching of Applied Learning. It is to be read in conjunction with Booklet 3 in the *Secondary Education Curriculum Guide* (2017), which provides the basis for the suggestions about learning and teaching set out below.

#### 4.1 Knowledge and Learning

Underlying the mapping out of the knowledge to be acquired in an Applied Learning course is the basic question: *What are the differences between a student who has successfully completed an Applied Learning course and one who has not?* 

The answer to this question can be multifaceted and is complex. Our findings can be broadly summarised in two dimensions:

• Students who have studied an Applied Learning course are able to demonstrate that they have acquired knowledge about the context of the course, which can be codified and described. Such knowledge generally includes facts, rules, procedures and skills. Students develop an overview of the area under study which is the portal to further studies in the area. This type of knowledge can generally be measured directly.

#### Example:

From a course related to image design, students emerge able to understand the clusters of professions related to the area, such as hair design, fashion design and merchandising. They also acquire the beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies or a career in the field, e.g. they know about the profile and features of the image design industry and the role of an image designer; they acquire foundation knowledge and practical skills in the image design industry; they understand concepts and techniques used in fashion image or in the hair design industry; and they know how to prepare for entry into the image design industry.

#### Example:

From a course related to financial services, students emerge able to understand the clusters of professions related to the area, such as accountancy, banking. They also acquire the beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies or a career in the field, e.g. they know about the role and importance of financial services in an economy; they understand basic concepts of finance and how to apply them to daily life situations; they know about the structure and regulations of the financial services industry, the roles and functions of different types of financial institutions, the features and the functions of different financial products; and they have enough basic financial knowledge to determine whether they might wish to work in the field of financial services in adult life.

• Students who have studied an Applied Learning course can apply knowledge acquired effectively in meaningful tasks. Students acquire this type of knowledge through the experience of actively participating in the learning activities of the course, internalising the requirements and gradually building up the necessary skills and the confidence to apply all this to tasks in an unfamiliar environment. Such knowledge may not necessarily be codifiable or made explicit by students, but is internalised and can be inferred from what they do.

#### Example:

From a course on image design, students emerge having explored skills in coordination and illustration in image design. They will also have explored first-hand the roles and responsibilities of an image designer and have understood the requirements and work ethics required in the design industry. Students will be able to use the knowledge and research skills acquired to explore career opportunities. They will also be able to transfer the knowledge and skills acquired to different forms of design work.

#### Example:

From a course on financial services, students emerge having explored products involving different levels of financial risk for customers with different profiles. They will also have explored first-hand the functions of the regulatory bodies, and the requirements applied to the non-banking financial sector such as insurance or securities, through regulators and self-regulatory bodies. Students will be able to discuss the role and responsibilities of a financial planner and understand the work ethics related to the industry. They will be able to use the knowledge and research skills acquired to explore career opportunities. They will also be able to transfer the knowledge and skills acquired to the exploration of other products for customers.

### 4.2 Guiding Principles

4.2.1 For effective learning and teaching, Applied Learning tutors/teachers should be equipped with the following five dimensions of competencies:

	Dimensions	Required Professional Development/ Work Experience
А.	Understanding of Students and Their Needs	Pedagogical knowledge and skills
В.	Command of Teaching and Facilitating Skills	applied to teenage children and young adults
C.	Command of Subject Knowledge and Skills	Training in a subject discipline (which may relate to one or more of the six areas of studies)
D.	Positive Attitude	Not reflected by paper qualifications, but by the inclinations of teachers and the cultivation of positive attitude
E.	Authentic Experience	Work/Trade experience

Individual tutors are not required to demonstrate all the above dimensions of competencies. A team of tutors with complementary skills and knowledge can fulfil the requirements.

4.2.2 Learning and teaching within Applied Learning courses should:

- develop students' generic and transferable skills, and address their career aspirations;
- embed knowledge elements within applied and practical contexts;
- sequence learning over the two-year duration of the course to accommodate the growth of students' capabilities, capacities and maturity;
- give students every opportunity possible to demonstrate their skills and knowledge, and enable them to be re-assessed should they have an earlier failure;
- provide opportunities to discover the capabilities and prior knowledge and skills of students before commencing key elements of the course;
- incorporate clear expectations for student attendance and behaviour which are conveyed to students;

- offer students helpful and relevant learning support and careers advice. Pastoral and careers support is the responsibility ultimately of the secondary school which enrols the student, but Applied Learning course tutors should advise students on the career and further education pathways that are accessible to them;
- meet the requirements for all five dimensions of competencies set out above through teamwork;
- keep pace with social and technological developments and with pedagogical developments such as competency-based assessment; and
- incorporate opportunities to systematically evaluate the success of the course in meeting the needs of students and stakeholders, and apply measures to improve the course and its delivery.

### 4.3 Approaches to Learning in Applied Learning

#### 4.3.1 Understanding the context of the course

The context of an Applied Learning course is generally close to students' daily life experiences, e.g. medical science, design studies, financial management, hospitality.

However, students' own knowledge about the context may be limited to the level of common sense and is often fragmented. As such, through the Applied Learning course, it is essential to provide students with a more systematic understanding about the context, which will include:

- the cluster of professions/trades/industries related to the course;
- the future global and local outlook; and
- the beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies and/or work.

These requirements generally give rise to facts, rules and skills. As such the most effective pedagogical approach towards them is direct teaching, which can include strategies such as:

- lectures;
- guided web-based or other authentic searches of facts;
- demonstration and practice; and
- visits to different workplaces.

#### 4.3.2 Understanding and interpreting workplace requirements

To be an effective practitioner, a defined body of formal knowledge and skills is the necessary, but not sufficient, condition to meet workplace requirements. The important attributes required could include maintaining high standards of ethics and acquiring the latest knowledge to deliver high quality service, etc. In Applied Learning, these attributes are infused in the curriculum pillars of foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes and practised through the context provided in the pillar of career-related competencies.

In the study of Applied Learning courses, given the relatively small number of contact hours, it is not possible for students to acquire all the essential knowledge and skills to be an effective practitioner in a particular trade. It is, however, essential that students become aware of the complexity of the workplace and of the fact that mastering technical knowledge and skills is not sufficient in itself to be an effective practitioner. They have to be aware that to become an effective practitioner they must become a lifelong learner, equipping themselves over time with the range of attributes embedded in the Applied Learning curriculum pillars.

Not all knowledge and skills can be learned through direct teaching, nor can positive attitudes. Students need to have authentic, or at least near authentic, experiences in order to develop what is required in the workplace. Teachers should therefore provide learning-by-practising opportunities for students to explore, experience and try out chosen tasks in an authentic or near authentic environment. For example, they might get students to:

- produce an end product in a design course;
- organise a real event in a hospitality course; and
- explore a financial product through a reality check with target customers.

Through the process of adopting strategies to formulate the end product of the task to earn credentials as well as overcoming the obstacles in achieving the ultimate aim of the task through the collaboration of a project team, students would be able to acquire the non-codified knowledge and skills essential to their further studies and adult life.

#### 4.3.3 Demonstrating entrepreneurship and innovation

Entrepreneurship and innovation involve:

- seeing failures and threats as an invitation to innovation;
- having a strong knowledge base in a relevant discipline, and a knowledge of relevant processes and tools;
- having strong thinking skills to carry out a systematic analysis of a situation, and exercising problem-solving skills to suggest solutions; and perseverance to put the solutions into practice;
- doing something different rather than simply doing better what is already being done – innovation; and
- being able to shift resources (not limited to physical resources) from areas of low productivity and yield to areas of higher productivity and yield – entrepreneurship.

In the process of learning-by-practising, students develop their learning-to-learn capabilities, internalise knowledge, and build up their confidence. As there is no defined body of knowledge and skills in this process, how much students can gain from it cannot be easily quantified and will vary among individuals.

Entrepreneurship and innovation are embedded in the senior secondary curriculum as indicated in the following diagram:



The keywords are seeing failures and threats as an invitation to innovation.

Given the multi-disciplinary nature of the Applied Learning context, students of Applied Learning, after understanding the context of the course, could select an area related to the course, which could be a theme in design, a financial product, etc to conduct an in-depth study, which could be in the form of a project, case study, etc.

This type of learning process not only draws upon a wealth of transferable skills but also a strong knowledge base which students develop from their prior learning in junior secondary education, Applied Learning studies as well as other subjects.

In the learning process, some students might be able to go beyond the context of the Applied Learning course to develop application in other areas of their daily life experiences in doing something differently, e.g. apply the knowledge, skills and process in building up an investment portfolio to creating their own portfolio of lifelong learning.

The design of learning activities should encourage entrepreneurship and innovation, which should also be reflected in assessment. For details, please refer to Chapter 5.

## Chapter 5 Assessment

This chapter discusses the role of assessment in Applied Learning, the principles that should guide it and the need for both formative and summative assessment. It also provides general guidance on assessment and the principles on the moderation of assessment for Applied Learning subjects. Finally, information is given on how standards are established and maintained, and how results are reported with reference to these standards.

#### 5.1 The Role of Assessment

In the context of Applied Learning, assessment involves generating and collecting evidence of a student's attainment of knowledge, skills, values and attitudes, and judging that evidence against defined standards. Assessment in Applied Learning serves two fundamental purposes: (1) facilitating learning and monitoring student progress, and (2) providing data and information for certification.

#### 5.2 Formative and Summative Assessment

It is useful to distinguish between the two main purposes of assessment, namely 'assessment *for* learning' and 'assessment *of* learning'.

'Assessment *for* learning' is concerned with obtaining feedback on learning and teaching, and utilising this to make learning more effective and to make any necessary changes to teaching strategies. This kind of assessment is referred to as 'formative assessment' because it is about forming or shaping learning and teaching. Formative assessment should take place on a regular basis and typically involves close attention to small 'chunks' of learning.

'Assessment of learning' is concerned with determining progress in learning, and is referred to as 'summative assessment', because it is all about summarising how much learning has taken place. Summative assessment is normally undertaken at the conclusion of a significant period of learning and teaching (e.g. at the end of a course/module/unit) and reviews much larger 'chunks' of learning.

In practice, a sharp distinction cannot always be made between formative and summative assessment, because the same assessment can in some circumstances serve both formative and summative purposes. It is desirable that assessments for Applied Learning subjects be designed in such a way as to keep a balance between formative (continuous) assessment tasks conducted throughout the duration of the course and summative (end-of-course) assessment tasks for all students taking the same subject.

#### 5.3 Assessment Objectives

The assessment objectives for individual Applied Learning subject should be closely aligned with its curriculum framework and the broad learning outcomes presented in earlier chapters of this Guide.

Specifically, the assessment objectives of an Applied Learning subject should cover each of the five curriculum pillars stipulated in the curriculum framework:

- Career-related Competencies
- Foundation Skills
- Thinking Skills
- People Skills
- Values & Attitudes

#### 5.4 Assessment of Student Learning

Assessment of student learning in Applied Learning is subject-based and normally conducted by course tutors. Its fairness, objectivity and reliability rely on course tutors' professional judgement based on common assessment criteria and standards outlined in the assessment framework and specified in course documents.

Given the authentic nature of Applied Learning and that student learning is not limited to a defined body of knowledge and skills related to the course context, students' learning process as well as their reflection should carry appropriate weighting in the assessment design.

To this end, it is recommended that assessment tasks be designed so that they can assess a wide range of student learning, from reflecting the achievement of expected learning outcomes to demonstrating the ability to transfer skills acquired to a new context. These include assessment tasks such as written tests, project assessments and video-taped presentations, which can be easily traced back, as well as tasks that require students to demonstrate competency during the learning process, for example, the ability to go about problem-solving in a sensible way, or engage meaningfully in group discussion or class assignment.

The following guiding principles can be used for designing the assessment tasks:

- aligning the assessment tasks with the learning objectives
- catering for the full range of student ability
- tracking progress over time
- providing timely and encouraging feedback
- making reference to students' own school context and daily life situations
- making reference to current progress in student learning

- providing opportunities for peer and self-assessment
- using assessment information to provide feedback

Common Assessment Tasks constitute a core part in the assessment framework for each Applied Learning subject in order to facilitate comparability of assessment results across different classes of the same Applied Learning subject. Common Assessment Tasks can be formative or summative. Such Common Assessment Tasks are to be developed by the course provider and administered mainly by course tutors. It is recommended that the evidence produced by Common Assessment Tasks be more objective in nature so that it can easily be traced back for reviewing. With quality assurance mechanism in place, the results of Common Assessment Tasks can be used to adjust or moderate internally the students' results in other assessment tasks.

#### 5.5 Moderation of Assessment

The aggregated results of all candidates in the same Applied Learning subject are used to determine the attainment level of the subject and subsequently that of this particular group of candidates.

In order to ensure the consistency of assessment standards, Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority is responsible for the moderation of assessment results.

In general, the moderation process involves the reviewing of subject assessment results and selected samples of candidates' work in assessment by a moderation panel. In this process, assessment criteria, achievement standards and adherence to the assessment framework are taken into consideration. Feedback, based on commonly understood expectations, is given to course providers at various stages of the assessment and moderation process to assist course tutors with and/or reassure them on their judgements.

#### 5.6 Standards and Reporting of Results

The assessment results of Applied Learning subjects are recorded in the Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education (HKDSE). For the 2012 to 2017 HKDSE Examinations, candidates' performance is reported in two levels: 'Attained' and 'Attained with Distinction'. Effective from the 2018 HKDSE Examination, the reporting of candidates' performance is refined to 'Attained', 'Attained with Distinction (I)' and 'Attained with Distinction (II)'.

A set of written descriptors is developed for the 'Attained' level that describes what a typical candidate of a particular Applied Learning subject performing at this level is able to do. The principle behind these descriptors is that they describe what typical candidates *can do*, not what they *cannot do*. These descriptors necessarily represent 'on-average' statements and may not apply

precisely to individuals, whose performance within an Applied Learning subject may vary. Samples of students' work at the 'Attained' level may be used to illustrate the standards expected of them. These samples, when used together with the written descriptors, illustrate the standards expected.

Regarding the levels of 'Attained with Distinction' (2012 to 2017 HKDSE Examinations), and 'Attained with Distinction (I)' and 'Attained with Distinction (II)' (effective from the 2018 HKDSE Examination), the award is comparable with Category A subjects of the HKDSE Examination, using statistical method.

#### 2012 to 2017 HKDSE Examinations

Performance of 'Attained with Distinction' is comparable to Level 3 or above of Category A subjects of the HKDSE Examination.

#### Effective from the 2018 HKDSE Examination

Performance of 'Attained with Distinction (I)' is comparable to Level 3 while 'Attained with Distinction (II)' is comparable to Level 4 or above of Category A subjects of the HKDSE Examination.

## Overview on Quality Assurance of Applied Learning

The Curriculum Development Institute, Education Bureau oversees the institutionalisation of the quality assurance mechanism of Applied Learning. Courses should fulfill the requirements set for the quality assurance process.

Goals: to ensure that

- 1. courses are developed according to the specified design principles;
- 2. the curriculum is delivered as designed; and
- 3. the learning outcomes of students can meet the set standards.



## Examples of Subject Plans and Activities Relevant to the Implementation of Applied Learning

In Secondary 4, the knowledge acquired in the senior secondary subjects acts as a foundation for the study of Applied Learning. At the same time, the study of Applied Learning can benefit students' learning in other senior secondary subjects. Here are some examples of the proposed plans and learning activities in a number of senior secondary subjects for implementing Applied Learning:

#### A) Core Subjects

Core Subjects	Examples of Planning/Activities for Implementing Applied Learning
Chinese Language 若學校提供應用學習課程,教師亦宜配合學校所開設的課程 <i>語文</i> 科的學習內容,以幫助學生掌握相關職業所需的知識和領 學校開設「商業、管理及法律」範疇的課程,可於 <i>中國語文</i> 修單元時,加入與商貿相關的元素,如在「普通話傳意和應用 以商業為題的情境;又如在「多媒體與應用寫作」,學習公關第 促進學生對有關行業的認識。	
	In the three-year senior secondary curriculum, Applied Learning is designed to provide learners with opportunities to explore and develop their potential talents and career interests. Following the recommendations in the <i>Senior Secondary Curriculum Guide</i> (2009), the three-year senior secondary <i>English Language</i> curriculum supports the learners of Applied Learning by helping them to develop the language knowledge and skills relevant to work in different sectors of the economy.
English Language	The Compulsory Part of the curriculum introduces learners to a number of work-related topics through a broad range of themes (e.g. study, school life and work, technology, cultures of the world). It provides a variety of learning activities and tasks (including those related to work) to enhance learners' language ability and to develop a wide range of generic skills and world knowledge that they can use in Applied Learning. In the Elective Part, the module "Learning English through Workplace Communication" provides further opportunities for learners who might want to pursue a vocational training path to learn and apply their knowledge and skills in workplace contexts.

Core Subjects	Examples of Planning/Activities for Implementing Applied Learning	
Mathematics	For students taking an Applied Learning course as an elective subject, <i>Mathematics</i> teachers are encouraged to incorporate more contextualised examples related to the Applied Learning course to assist students in the elective subject. This, in turn, will benefit the learning and teaching of <i>Mathematics</i> , as these students will have opportunities to apply mathematical knowledge in related Applied Learning contexts. For students taking elective subjects or courses in Applied Learning which require a foundation knowledge of <i>Mathematics</i> , teachers may allocate more lesson time in Secondary 4 and relatively less lesson time in Secondary 5 and Secondary 6 on Mathematics to facilitate	
	the learning and teaching of the elective subjects or the Applied Learning courses concerned.	
Liberal Studies	In the three-year senior secondary curriculum, this <i>Liberal Stud</i> curriculum provides a nexus of connections between other c subjects, elective subjects, Applied Learning, and other learn experiences.	

## B) Elective Subjects

Elective Subjects	Examples of Planning/Activities for Implementing Applied Learning			
Economics (Personal, Social and Humanities Education)	This <i>Economics</i> curriculum blends well with courses which prepare students with practical skills for employment in the service sector. Students taking Applied Learning courses together with Economics in Secondary 4 – Secondary 6 are adequately prepared for this pathway. Alternative avenues such as sub-degree programmes and qualifications offered by professional institutions in their respective fields also exist.			
Biology (Science Education)	Secondary 4 Exploring different inclinations       Biology Foundation topics of the compulsory part       and /or       Physics Foundation topics of the compulsory part       and /or       Other elective subject(s)         Secondary 5 and Secondary 6 Engaging in different areas of interest       Option 1       Image: Chemistry foundation topics of the compulsory part       Option 2       Option 3         Biology compulsory part       Biology compulsory part       Option 2       Biology compulsory part       Option 4         Combined science (Physics, Chemistry)       Combined Science (Physics, Chemistry)       Biology compulsory part & elective part + chemistry       OR			
Business, Accounting and Financial Studies (Technology Education)	In the <i>Business, Accounting and Financial Studies</i> curriculum, the compulsory part provides students with essential business knowledge and concepts, preparing them to further their studies through the elective part or Applied Learning courses. At Secondary 4, <i>Business, Accounting and Financial Studies</i> teachers may collaborate with the co-ordinators of Applied Learning courses to organise induction activities to support students in making informed decisions about their study options. For example, a sharing session with students who are studying business-related Applied Learning course might complement students' knowledge in studying business at senior secondary level.			

Elective Subjects	Examples of Planning/Activities for Implementing Applied Learning				
	Secondary 4 Exploring different inclinations	Elective Subject X (e.g. ICT, DAT)	+ (Compulsory Part)	Elective Subject Y (e.g. ICT, DAT)	
		A contractor	, ∕ making informed decisions about furthe studies	r Other options	
	Secondary 5 and Secondary 6 Engaging in different areas of interest	Option 1 BAFS (Elective Part) + other elective subject(s)	Option 2 BAFS (Elective Part) + Business related Applied Learning course(s)	Option 3 Business related Applied Learning course (s) + other elective subject(s)	
	BAFS = Business, Accounting and Financial Studies ICT = Information and Communication Technology DAT = Design and Applied Technology				
Visual Arts	Knowledge of and skills in art – such as visual elements, principles of organisation, observation skills, and skills for art appreciation and criticism – can be applied to and strengthen students' learning in other subjects such as Literature, Liberal Studies, Design and Applied Technology and Applied Learning.				
(Arts Education)	The study of <i>Visual Arts</i> together with Music, Design and Applied Technology or Applied Learning contributes to the building up of a fundamental base preparing students for development in creative industries, such as fashion design, product design, interior design, image design, visual communication, advertising, and multimedia, web-page, television, theatre and film production.				
Physical Education (Physical Education)	Based on their interests and career aspirations, some students may opt for <i>Physical Education</i> -oriented Applied Learning courses in Secondary 5 and focus more on practical knowledge about sports coaching and management. It may be necessary for schools to organise their <i>Physical Education</i> Elective curriculum in such a way that their students acquire knowledge of fundamental topics at Secondary 4 and subsequently switch to <i>Physical Education</i> -oriented Applied Learning subjects at Secondary 5. Teachers may consider selecting related topics from different parts to offer a tailor-made programme to support such a transition.				

## Examples of Combinations of Applied Learning and Other Senior Secondary Subjects for Enhancing Learning

A flexible combination of Applied Learning (ApL) courses with core subjects, elective subjects of the senior secondary curriculum and Other Learning Experiences broadens students' learning experiences and enhances diversification within the secondary curriculum for holistic learning. Some examples of combinations are as follows:

Area of Studies	Examples of Applied Learning Courses	Examples of Related Core/Elective Subjects	Enhancing and Enriching Subject knowledge/ Generating Cross-fertilisation/ Expanding Horizons
Creative Studies	ApL course in computer animation design	Visual Arts + Design and Applied Technology	Enhancing and enriching subject knowledge
	ApL course in interior design	History + Geography	Expanding horizons
Media and Communication	ApL course in media production	Chinese Language + Information and Communication Technology + Visual Arts	Generating cross-fertilisation
	ApL course in film and video	Geography + Technology and Living	Expanding horizons

Area of Studies	Examples of Applied Learning Courses	Examples of Related Core/Elective Subjects	Enhancing and Enriching Subject knowledge/ Generating Cross-fertilisation/ Expanding Horizons
Rusingen	ApL course in marketing	Business, Accounting and Financial Studies +	Generating cross-fertilisation
Business, Management		Economics	
and Law	Anl course in	Integrated Science	
	ApL course in business and entrepreneurship	+ Information and Communication Technology	Expanding horizons
	ApL course in child care	Physical Education + Visual Arts	Enhancing and enriching subject knowledge
Services		Chemistry	
	ApL course in western cuisine	+ Business, Accounting and Financial Studies	Expanding horizons
		Biology	
Applied Science	ApL course in health care	+ Health Management and Social Care	Generating cross-fertilisation
	ApL course in psychology	Economics + History	Expanding horizons
Engineering	ApL course in electrical engineering	Physics + Design and Applied Technology	Enhancing and enriching subject knowledge
Production	ApL course in information engineering	Economics + Geography	Expanding horizons

Annex A

# Applied Learning Curriculum Framework

**Focus: Creative Studies** 

#### **Applied Learning – Creative Studies**

Creative Studies covers educational activities which focus on creating and adding value to life and to products through engaging the student in creative acts. These acts may include design (graphic, product and interior design, etc), music, drama, dance, writing (creative fiction and scripts for stage or television, etc), photography, illustration, film and video production, digitally-generated art and media (computer animation and computer games, etc). Together, these creative acts are a significant part of the cultural and commercial fabric of contemporary societies, and offer wide-ranging career opportunities for motivated students.

Creative Studies are built around the fundamental human attribute of creative self-expression, conveyed through various media involving visuals (as in photography or illustration), sound (as in music), motion (as in dance) or written or spoken language (as in fiction and drama) – or all of these. Whichever form is chosen, it belongs to, and is conditioned by, specific social and cultural contexts which significantly shape the outcomes of self-expression.

In the context of Applied Learning, students taking courses in Creative Studies develop an understanding of the legal and ethical issues related to creative acts (e.g. plagiarism, appropriation, data privacy, intellectual and cultural property and copyright). Through studies involving design, creative writing, performing arts and media arts, students learn to think, construct and project ideas verbally, visually, aurally and physically, using different media to suit different target audiences, and to learn from each other through appreciation, critique, etc. Equally importantly students identify, explore and develop their ability to give creative life and impact to ideas and perspectives, while simultaneously developing an historical understanding and appreciation of contemporary culture and its making. As a result, they acquire the underpinning knowledge and cognitive skills that equip them for further studies, future career and adult life.

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples		
	Career-related Competencies		
	t of the course within the wider area of		
studies			
1.1.1 Cluster of professions/ trades/industries related to the course	Contexts could include but are <u>not</u> limited to: - <b>design studies</b> that focus on the understanding, appreciation and production of designed images, products, environment or services, using visual, aural, written and electronic forms. Design can include graphic design, product design, interior and transport design, services design		
	- <b>creative writing</b> that develops skills in different genres (including fiction, poetry, playwriting, screenwriting, literary hypermedia and translation). Students marshal emotions and ideas into constructed artworks for targeted audiences		
	- <b>performing arts</b> that focus on appreciating, creating and delivering aural and physical performances within different contexts. Students learn the techniques of staged and impromptu performances and the impact of culture on the genres and styles of performance		
	<ul> <li>media arts that focus on art works conveyed by multimedia products (including videos, films, computer animation and computer games). Students use the characteristics and limitations of different media and software packages to reflect their ideas</li> </ul>		

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
1.1.4 Foundation knowledge developed in junior secondary education and Secondary 4	<ul> <li>select an appropriate medium for a message, and apply the features and techniques of that medium to maximise the impact of their self-expression</li> <li>acquire and enhance Information Technology skills to access creative materials from diverse sources and use various media to communicate effectively</li> <li>gain experience in meeting goals and defining, structuring and setting boundaries for a performance or creative product or service</li> <li>explore the aptitudes and abilities required in selected career clusters in the creative industries, and develop a personal roadmap to articulate to different levels of qualifications</li> <li>Built upon the foundation acquired in:</li> <li>Personal, Social and Humanities Education, such as historical and contemporary perspectives to show the interrelationship between words and images in design and ways of representing and interpreting the past and culture, beliefs and behaviours of different nations</li> <li>Arts Education and Technology Education, such as understanding of the rapidly changing environment of technologies, and appreciation and critiques in arts</li> <li>Chinese Language/English Language Education skills</li> <li>Mathematics Education such as language and communication skills</li> </ul>
1.1.5 Possible further study and career pathways	<ul> <li>design studies</li> <li>post-secondary courses in jewellery design, visual communication, fashion design, product development</li> <li>career development: fine artist, photographer, designer in various media, corporate communication designer, commercial artist, illustrator, caricaturist, courtroom artist</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>creative writing</li> <li>post-secondary courses in applied literary studies, English application</li> <li>career development: writer, translator, playwright, novelist</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>performing arts</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in performing arts (drama, dance, music, theatre and technical management)</li> <li>career development: musician, voiceover artist, narrator, composer, music arranger, dancer, performance artist, stage illusionist, choreographer, theatre designer</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>media arts</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in digital media arts, computer games and animation, multimedia web development, digital entertainment</li> <li>career development: computer graphics artist, computer game developer, web designer</li> </ul>
1.1.6 Relations with core subjects and other elective subjects	<ul> <li>enhancing and enriching, e.g.</li> <li>Applied Learning courses in design studies, creative writing, performing arts and media arts enhance the breadth and depth of Visual Arts and language studies by applying the concepts to specific fields</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the knowledge base of Applied Learning is rooted in that of other Key Learning Areas, i.e. product design requires scientific and technological knowledge, services need a strong humanities background, etc. By contrasting learning in Applied Learning courses and school subjects, students will better consolidate and reinforce the learning of both</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Science or Humanities may broaden their horizons and enhance their all-round development through enrolling in Applied Learning courses in Creative Studies</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>consolidating and synergising students' studies, e.g.</li> <li>students undertake an in-depth study into a topic/domain of their own choice, which is not limited to the area or any area(s) of Applied Learning, where they have the opportunity to draw upon and integrate the knowledge and skills acquired and developed in their prior learning</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>1.1.7 Relations with other areas of studies/courses of Applied Learning</li> <li>1.2 Understanding and inter</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Applied Learning courses in Creative Studies can be enriched by the knowledge and skills from other areas, and vice versa. For instance,</li> <li>the underpinning principles of Hospitality Services in the area of Services can be applied to customer service requirements in fields related to Creative Studies</li> <li>preting workplace requirements through</li> </ul>
5	ills in an authentic or near authentic
1.2.1 Practice learning within at least one representative domain related to the course	<ul> <li>Students are given hands-on experiences in an authentic or near authentic environment to explore at least one activity, product or service in depth. For example,</li> <li>to understand requirements in the design industry, students can undertake projects involving each stage of a typical design: starting from the formation of ideas, to materials sourcing, prototyping, production, testing and performance or presentation</li> <li>to understand requirements in the design of services, students can develop business agility through using "experience prototyping" to test services, and manage the services through applying a "service blueprint"</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples		
1.2.2 Experiencing workplace requirements through practice	<ul> <li>Area Specific Examples</li> <li>to understand requirements in creative writing, students can develop scripts with the features and techniques of a specific genre, and can contrast this genre with others to derive best practice techniques</li> <li>to understand requirements in performing arts, students can present a group drama or dance and use appropriate props, lighting and stage effects (e.g. music) to stage it. Within the performance, individuals can play different performing and producing roles</li> <li>to understand requirements in media arts, students can develop an animated cartoon sequence to exemplify a game format, and explore the capacity of different software packages to alter or enhance effects</li> <li>For example, students of creative writing may also consider the creative parallels within interior design, where designs</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>within interior design, where designs must be feasible, durable and stylish but also in accordance with the safety requirements for materials and ergonomics. Students can discuss these features and the trade-offs made between them in developing a final product and present their ideas in written text. Wherever possible, students should be given the opportunity to demonstrate their understanding in practical work</li> <li>Similarly, students in performing arts can consider the creative parallels of performance with digital media. The characteristics and effectiveness of different computer software used to present ideas can be discussed, and informed critiques can be made of their advantages and limitations in creating impacts on an audience</li> </ul>		
1.2.3 Acquiring the knowledge and skills essential to enable further learning within the area	<ul> <li>In addition to the generic skills acquired in the duration of a Creative Studies course, students need a firm understanding of:</li> <li>the effects of culture, age and other characteristics of audience in selecting</li> </ul>		

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
1.2.4 Transferring learning to unfamiliar situations within related domains	<ul> <li>an appropriate medium of communication</li> <li>the key features of a range of media and their comparative strengths and weaknesses to convey messages</li> <li>the history that has shaped the media and their current place in contemporary society</li> <li>the techniques, craft knowledge and specialist vocabulary that characterise a creative domain</li> <li>the importance of identifying the key ideas or themes that underpin a product, service or performance, and defining the creative angle that may add impact to them</li> <li>the ability to stand back and critique one's own products or performances, and those of others, and identify their cultural and intellectual assumptions</li> <li>Students can, for example, adopt different roles in the creative domain. In performing arts, students can play the role of a marketing agent, a stage or film producer, or a production manager to extend their skills as a performer. Other roles they can play include lighting designer, film editor, play director or choreographer</li> <li>In creative writing, students can try their hand at adapting an existing art work to a new genre, e.g. transferring a work of fiction to a television script; or altering the audience for an existing work from adults to young children</li> <li>In all domains students can demonstrate interpersonal, teamwork and leadership skills in new contexts which require writing, design or performance. For instance, students of dance can try their hand at choreographing a dance on a known theme, setting it to music, and extending some of the ideas to a new theme</li> </ul>

(	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples		
1.3		conceptual, practical and reflective skills to		
	demonstrate entrepreneurs	ship and innovation		
	Through elective studies, case studies, project, etc, some students, with the support of tutors, may be able to demonstrate their learning beyond the level of information, knowledge and skill development to the level of conceptualising and meta-understanding, by drawing upon and integrating their learning across the curriculum and applying it to solve daily problems.			
	<ul> <li>design cycle when organisin process, students:</li> <li>generate ideas and ide what kind of activities the in)</li> <li>research into a theme (for an activity with partice gather materials required for the activity presenting the activity)</li> <li>work out a prototype ta identify the resource strategies)</li> <li>present the plan and te choose appropriate meters and responses and responses and responses.</li> </ul>	apply the knowledge and skills related to the ng extra-curricular activities in school. In the entify their intended audience (e.g. work out heir intended audience might wish to participate (e.g. develop ideas within a meaningful theme cular objectives) ed for the activity (e.g. estimate the resources and choose the medium of communication for aking into consideration likely constraints (e.g. constraints and explore implementation est the initial ideas of the activity in teams (e.g. edia through which to present the ideas with pect everyone's views in the process) d make changes as appropriate		
1.3.	1 Transferring learning to new environments	<ul> <li>Students can be challenged to apply the cycle of creativity (ideas generation, researching, material gathering, prototyping, etc) to areas outside Creative Studies, such as developing new business opportunities</li> <li>Equally, students can test their capacities and capabilities by applying their skills in communicating ideas to a service industry (such as child care or sports coaching) where imagination, interest and motivation are key</li> <li>The generic skills of exploring ideas and appreciating and critiquing the ideas of others can be applied to many new circumstances across all spheres of life</li> </ul>		

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
<ul> <li>1.3.2 Demonstrating the understanding of key issues in a chosen domain, including cultural aspects</li> <li>1.3.3 Discussing the global and</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students should be able to identify and describe trends in design, media arts and performing arts and discuss how the issues of time, place and cultural influence are reflected in the creative works, and how these factors have shaped contemporary interpretations</li> <li>Students should articulate how personal</li> </ul>
local environment in that particular domain	beliefs, cultural traditions, and current social, economic, and political contexts influence the interpretation of the meaning or message in creative works
1.3.4 Suggesting and illustrating opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course	<ul> <li>For example, students can be encouraged to:</li> <li>build up a career portfolio in a domain of creative studies, such as dance or music, or graphic design</li> <li>take an inventory of personal strengths and weaknesses by constructing a personal scorecard</li> <li>explore up to three selected career clusters and up to three pathways within these clusters (in terms of the required aptitudes and abilities) and identify a roadmap for acquiring the basic knowledge and skills using the personal scorecard</li> <li>cultivate creativity by considering the impact of different cultural, intellectual or emotional perspectives on different media</li> <li>describe recently changing requirements of the workplace, and relate them to developing trends within a creative domain</li> <li>discuss the relationship between lifelong learning and career development by outlining some existing professional development opportunities offered within a domain</li> </ul>

Integration of foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes through application in the career competencies related to Creative Studies

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
2.	Foundation Skills	
2.1	<b>Communication skills</b> (including languages), such as understanding, developing and communicating ideas and information and interacting with others	<ul> <li>Communicate verbally through spoken and written texts, and non-verbally through dance, drama and music, etc</li> <li>Demonstrate cross-cultural awareness through role plays and scripts that portray and highlight differences and misunderstandings</li> <li>Master technical languages, e.g. of design, digital multimedia, theatre and dance</li> </ul>
	Mathematical skills, such as integrating and applying numerical and spatial concepts and techniques	<ul> <li>Apply knowledge in numeracy and spatial concepts and techniques during the process of design</li> <li>Apply knowledge in measures, shape and space to formulate and solve two-dimensional and three-dimensional problems in design tasks</li> </ul>
2.3	Information technology skills, such as using and adapting technologies	<ul> <li>Employ the latest available technology and media for creative production in media arts, theatre, photography, dance and design</li> <li>Make use of information technology (e.g. audio-visual equipment, computer presentation software, computer graphics software) to present ideas</li> </ul>
3.	Thinking Skills	
3.1	Problem-solving and decision-making skills, such as identifying problems and providing appropriate solutions, taking into consideration social, economic and technological developments	<ul> <li>Identify problems and think laterally to solve problems</li> <li>Adapt media to suit specific audiences, or present innovative designs that serve particular customer needs</li> <li>Develop global perspectives on social, economic and technological changes by showing the relationships between local events and regional and global circumstances</li> </ul>
3.2	Analytical skills, such as recognising when and what information is needed, locating and obtaining it from a range of sources and evaluating, using and sharing it with others	<ul> <li>Analyse the characteristics of customers, and tailor performances, products and services to suit them</li> <li>Research and identify the gaps in knowledge and expectations and shape the messages or products and services to address those gaps</li> </ul>

	Curriculum Components	ł	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
3.3	Creative thinking skills, such as visualising consequences, thinking laterally, recognising opportunities and potential, testing multiple options, and engaging with the artistic, cultural and intellectual work of others	-	The skills set out in the left hand column are at the heart of Creative Studies. They are described elsewhere in the remainder of this document
3.4	Understanding interdependency and relationships between different areas of studies, societies and civilisations to form regional/global perspectives on social, economic and technological changes, such as describing patterns, structures and relationships, and making and interpreting predictions	-	Understand how the interdependency and relationships between different societies and civilisations have influenced designs and art works Understand how cultural differences and values influence designs, art works and media of communication. One example is how the human body has been viewed throughout the ages by different cultures
4.	People Skills		
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set		Set priorities, goals and targets within time frames specific to the tasks to be performed, and factor in the constraints in time and resources in fulfilling work commitments
4.2	Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing to the community	_	Understand the interdependency of roles, responsibilities and relationships in creating designs, artworks and performances. The creative industry is highly team-oriented Communicate in ways that reflect international and cultural differences in different customers or audiences, and demonstrate skills in negotiation and compromise
4.3	Collaborative and team building skills		Understand and apply the principles of group dynamics to develop a collaborative culture

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
5.	Values and Attitudes	
5.1	Honesty and integrity, such as understanding the importance of perseverance and transparency	<ul> <li>Be open and clear in critiquing and appreciating the work of others</li> <li>Recognise that plagiarism and copying without permission are inimical to creativity</li> <li>Learn humbly from mistakes</li> <li>Develop confidence in one's abilities</li> </ul>
5.2	Dependability and responsibility, such as being trustworthy and behaving responsibly	<ul> <li>Demonstrate dependability and trust through being trustworthy and trusting others</li> <li>Maintain professional behaviours and positive attitudes while under pressure</li> <li>Be accountable for one's behaviour and its effects on others</li> </ul>
5.3	Enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life	<ul> <li>Develop curiosity</li> <li>Appreciate the endeavours and work of others with sensitivity</li> <li>Take calculated risks and assume responsibility for the outcome</li> </ul>
5.4	Willingness to learn, such as being self-motivated in learning	- Be a reflective lifelong learner, and be willing to admit mistakes and start again
5.5	Self-confidence and self-esteem, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group	<ul> <li>Demonstrate a sense of commitment towards one's self, the community, the nation and the shared world</li> <li>Be self-confident when presenting ideas and receptive to others' advice or criticisms</li> <li>Develop self-esteem through successfully completing creative works or performances</li> </ul>
5.6	Respect for others and for law and authority, such as recognising the right of everybody to feel valued and be safe, and achieving a balance between rights and obligations	<ul> <li>Respect diversity in the workplace when working with customers</li> <li>Be aware of the effects of personal beliefs and attitudes on decision-making</li> <li>Understand various legal and ethical issues related to design activities, such as plagiarism, appropriation, data privacy, intellectual and cultural property and copyright</li> </ul>

Annex B

## **Applied Learning**

## **Curriculum Framework**

Focus: Media and Communication

#### Applied Learning – Media and Communication

Applied Learning courses in Media and Communication focus on the application of different media in the communication of ideas and messages to different target audiences. Media can include print media, such as posters, books and newspapers, and non-print media, such as the Internet, films, television and radio.

In the context of Applied Learning, students studying courses in Media and Communication have opportunities to acquire basic knowledge and skills, as well as the concepts, ethics, values and attitudes which characterise Media and Communication. Students learn to understand what constitutes innovation and creativity, appreciate the importance of originality and respect copyright and intellectual property. The courses also help develop their sense of social responsibility and entrepreneurship.

The courses cover the cultural dimensions of communication and the importance of balancing the public's right to know, with the rights of individuals and organisations to privacy. This balance must also include the obligation of governments to protect public interest.

Curriculum Components	Components Area Specific Examples	
1. Career-related Competence		
	xt of the course within the wider area of	
1.1.1 Cluster of professions/ trades/industries related to the course	Contexts could include but are <u>not</u> limited to: - <i>films, television and broadcasting</i> <i>studies,</i> where students learn how to formulate and convey concepts through visual objects, moving images or sound (via film, television, video, radio and digital media)	
	- <b>news media</b> , where students collect, analyse and verify information, before writing, editing, reporting or presenting in print, on television or radio, online or in other new media formats	
	- <b>radio and television production</b> , where students learn about various kinds of programmes in audio-visual channels. It covers planning, research, analysis, production, promotion and programming	
	- <b>public relations and advertising</b> , where students identify target audiences, plan marketing strategies (which may involve research analysis and media relations), and design and develop an advertising campaign to fit the strategies	
1.1.2 Future global and local outlook	The economic and educational development of society coupled with rapid development of technologies mutually reinforce the ever-growing demands and the market for media production globally and locally	
1.1.3 Beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies and/or work	The intense competition of the media market and debate on social and political issues place high importance upon critical thinking skills.	
	<ul> <li>Students will be able to:</li> <li>understand the media ethics involved in the disclosure and free flow of information, the core values of honesty and fairness, and the respect for confidentiality, privacy, copyright and intellectual property, etc</li> <li>understand the specialised terms and language used in the media industry, and</li> </ul>	

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
Curriculum Components         1.1.4 Foundation knowledge developed in junior secondary education and Secondary 4	<ul> <li>Area Specific Examples         <ul> <li>use them during discussion, presentation and project work</li> <li>communicate effectively with parties within and outside the production team</li> <li>apply skills of sensitivity and observation towards people, issues and events</li> <li>understand the relationship between the media, media products and society in the past, present and future</li> <li>analytically and critically appraise historical events and current issues</li> <li>create, produce and disseminate ideas to the public through different media platforms</li> <li>develop the skills to operate as an effective member of a production team</li> <li>explore the aptitudes and abilities required in selected career clusters in media and communication, and develop a personal roadmap to articulate to different levels of qualifications</li> </ul> </li> <li>Building upon the foundation acquired in:         <ul> <li>Technology Education, such as information processing, editing and transforming</li> <li>Personal, Social &amp; Humanities Education, such as self development, the impact of man upon the environment, society and culture, and the meaning of citizenship</li> <li>Science Education, such as the underpinning and unifying concepts of scientific enquiry</li> <li>Chinese Language/English Language Education, such as the capability to acquire, develop and apply languages to communicate with others</li> <li>Mathematics Education, such as number and algebra, measures, shape and space, colour, two-dimensional graphics, three-dimensional forms; the main forms of classical and popular music; and the</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
1.1.5 Possible further study and career pathways	<ul> <li>production of music and lyrics</li> <li><i>films, TV and broadcasting studies</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in screen studies, film making, creative arts, digital arts</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>career development: film director, film script writer, assistant director, television</li> </ul>
Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
--	---
	producer, production assistant, post production assistant, studio producer, electronic technician, camera operator, software applications support specialist, machine room assistant, reviewer and film critic
	<ul> <li>news and media</li> <li>post-secondary courses in journalism, creative writing, cultural studies, communication studies</li> <li>career development: journalist, editor, news anchor, programme host, historian, writer, interviewer, book editor, magazine writer and editor, publication manager, co-ordinator in business and government, corporate communications manager, broadcast news analyst</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>radio and television production</li> <li>post-secondary courses in radio, television and film studies, screen studies, broadcasting, programme/event management</li> <li>career development: programme host, researcher, production assistant, stage manager, television/radio/film producer, director</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>public relations and advertising</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in advertising, public relations, marketing, strategic planning, business studies, humanities, communication, telecommunications</li> <li>career development: marketing assistant, advertising co-ordinator, media buyer, public relations officer, media consultant, media account executive, media researcher, advertising product designer, communication trainer, speech writer, event planner, public relations consultant, campaign planner</li> </ul>
1.1.6 Relations with core subjects and other elective subjects	<ul> <li>enhancing and enriching, e.g.</li> <li>Media and Communications provide a platform to use and enhance the skills and techniques acquired in Information and Communication Technology, such as applying foundation skills and knowledge in information technology to production</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	and post production processes
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>applying knowledge and skills from Chinese Language/English Language, such as choosing the right vocabulary for a particular audience, and phrasing a message, to an Applied Learning course in radio host presentation skills, consolidating language proficiency in both subjects</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>courses in Media and Communication can enhance the all-round development of students taking Science or Humanities by broadening their views and helping them explore their aptitudes and different intelligences</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>consolidating and synergising students' studies, e.g.</li> <li>students undertake an in-depth study into a topic/domain of their own choice, which is not limited to the area or any area(s) of Applied Learning, where they have the opportunity to draw upon and integrate the knowledge and skills acquired and developed in their prior learning</li> </ul>
1.1.7 Relations with other areas of studies/courses of Applied Learning	<ul> <li>Applied Learning courses in Media and Communication can be enriched by the knowledge and skills from other areas of studies, and vice versa. For instance, the other five areas of studies can:</li> <li>provide content for the creation of media products</li> <li>provide complementary knowledge, such as the concept of customer orientation from Services, the spirit of innovation from Creative Studies, the management and legal principles from Business, Management and Law, and logical thinking from Applied Science</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	preting workplace requirements through Ils in an authentic or near authentic
1.2.1 Practice learning within at least one representative domain related to the course	<ul> <li>Students are given hands-on experiences in an authentic or near authentic environment to explore at least one activity, product or service in depth. For example,</li> <li>students can apply the knowledge and skills acquired in film studies to video programming or web advertising</li> </ul>
1.2.2 Experiencing workplace requirements through practice	<ul> <li>There are professional requirements for various aspects of Media and Communications, e.g.</li> <li>the technical requirements for audio and video recording, and professional scripting for creating a storyboard</li> </ul>
1.2.3 Acquiring the knowledge and skills essential to enable further learning within the area	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>explore career opportunities across a variety of local and regional media organisations</li> <li>communicate effectively in diverse social and media settings</li> <li>apply research, critical thinking, and self-reflection skills</li> <li>use basic media tools, e.g. camera, sound tape, lighting equipment, editing facilities</li> </ul>
1.2.4 Transferring learning to unfamiliar situations within related domains	Media products are multi-disciplinary. Students should be able to transfer their learning from one medium (e.g. radio) to another (e.g. the Internet)
1.3 Developing and applying c demonstrate entrepreneurs	onceptual, practical and reflective skills to ship and innovation

Through elective studies, case studies, project, etc, some students, with the support of tutors, may be able to demonstrate their learning beyond the level of information, knowledge and skill development to the level of conceptualising and meta-understanding, by drawing upon and integrating their learning across the curriculum and applying it to solve daily problems.

For example, students can apply the knowledge and skills involved in effective communication to organise a school-based activity such as celebration of school anniversary or school cleaning campaign. In the process, students:

- identify target participants (e.g. junior or senior form students)
- consider factors such as the age group, family background, historical background of the school and the cultural characteristics of the participants
- identify the theme of the activity and match it with other factors

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples	
<ul> <li>highlight main issues involved in the theme and disseminate ther through different channels (e.g. leaflets, posters, campus TV, school intranet)</li> <li>highlight key messages and create a conducive atmosphere for the</li> </ul>		
activity using multiple m manner	nedia platforms in an effective and responsible	
1.3.1 Transferring learning to new environments	<ul> <li>Students should be able to transfer their knowledge and skills from media industry to new situations and contexts</li> <li>e.g. learning derived from the analysis of target audiences and positioning in film studies can be applied to designing promotion messages to create demand for a new product in the existing market</li> </ul>	
1.3.2 Demonstrating the understanding of key issues in a chosen domain, including cultural aspects	Students learn to be sensitive to people and to current and controversial issues in society. Students learn to observe trends and make use of this observation skill to predict future trends with regard to particular issues	
1.3.3 Discussing the global and local environment in that particular domain	The advance in technology of the Internet has reduced the barriers of language, time, race and space to create an expanding market for all kinds of media products. Students can analyse and compare issues and their impact in different countries	
1.3.4 Suggesting and illustrating opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course	<ul> <li>For example, students can be encouraged to:</li> <li>build up their personal networks and strategic relationships both inside and outside their community</li> <li>gather crucial information to produce specialised media material, such as news, feature stories and press releases</li> <li>demonstrate basic skills involved in writing, announcing, producing and staging for print, television, radio and online media</li> <li>transfer critical thinking and analytical skills from the media industry to analysis of current issues</li> </ul>	

Integration of foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes through application in career competencies related to Media and Communication

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
3.3	Creative thinking skills,	-	Adopt creative approaches to generate
	such as visualising		high impact products and disseminate
	consequences, thinking		messages to the public
	laterally, recognising	-	Predict future trends in social,
	opportunities and potential,		economic, political, cultural and
	testing multiple options, and		environmental issues
	engaging with the artistic,		
	cultural and intellectual work		
	of others		
3.4	Understanding	Οι	utline the impact of the following on the
_	interdependency and		edia:
	relationships between	-	global markets
	different areas of studies,	-	changes in technology
	societies and civilisations	-	changing cultural norms and
	to form regional/global		expectations
	perspectives on social,	-	changing demographics
	economic and	-	changing consumer behaviour
	technological changes,		3 3 1 1 1 1 1 1
	such as describing patterns,		
	structures and relationships,		
	and making and interpreting		
	predictions		
4.	People Skills	1	
4.1	Self-reflection and	-	Set priorities, goals, targets and time
	self-management skills,		frames for a media production
	such as setting schedules of	-	Conduct research and survey to
	tasks for completion, and		investigate the effectiveness of a
	reflecting on goals and		structured communication
	targets set	-	Identify personal strengths and
	, and the second s		weaknesses to assist planning for
			further studies or career pathways
4.2	Interpersonal skills, such as	-	Understand the common roles and
	interacting with other people		functions performed within typical media
	and cultures and contributing		organisations
	to the community	-	Communicate effectively both within and
			outside of a production team
		-	Use appropriate strategies to identify
			and handle conflicts of interest and
			cultural differences
		i i	Accept new ideas and make
		-	Accept new ideas and make
		-	constructive compromises with different
		-	
4.3	Collaborative and team	-	constructive compromises with different
4.3	Collaborative and team building skills	-	constructive compromises with different parties Demonstrate collaborative and team building skills while constructing
4.3		-	constructive compromises with different parties Demonstrate collaborative and team
4.3		-	constructive compromises with different parties Demonstrate collaborative and team building skills while constructing

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
5.	Values and Attitudes		
5.1	Honesty and integrity, such as understanding the importance of perseverance and transparency	_	Understand the critical importance of honesty and integrity in communications that reach and influence a wide range of audiences Pursue targets and goals with disciplined application
	Dependability and responsibility, such as being trustworthy and behaving responsibly	- - -	Maintain professional behaviours and positive attitudes while under pressure Learn from mistakes Be accountable for one's behaviour and its effects on others
5.3	Enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life	-	Develop curiosity, sensitivity, enthusiasm, concern and appreciation for all aspects of media and communication Use media for a positive impact on others
5.4	Willingness to learn, such as being self-motivated in learning	-	Actively participate in group discussions and projects Seek out, research and use emerging media Nurture interests in related industries to broaden knowledge and skills
5.5	Self-confidence and self-esteem, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group	-	Extend confidence in work to social settings Voice opinions and give constructive suggestions on issues Listen carefully to other views and weigh up options and alternatives
5.6	Respect for others and for law and authority, such as recognising the right of everybody to feel valued and be safe, and achieving a balance between rights and obligations	-	Respect diversity in the workplace when working with others Seek consensus whenever possible, but make hard decisions when compromises are not possible Understand, follow and activate the rights bestowed by law and authority, but respect the parallel obligations Understand the relationships between social values, media texts and society

Annex C

# Applied Learning Curriculum Framework

Focus: Business, Management and Law

#### Applied Learning – Business, Management and Law

Business, Management and Law are interrelated. There is a focus on creating value through commercial transactions in products and services in business. Both business and law are served through the promotion of strategic and operational practices to ensure efficient and effective outcomes in management. Law involves the regulation of personal, social, commercial and international business relationships and agreements.

In the context of Applied Learning, students taking courses in Business, Management and Law are provided with the opportunities to apply business principles and develop methodical approaches for analysis, problem-solving and decision-making in their daily life. Students acquire the knowledge and skills to establish facts which help them to arrive at evidence-based decisions, taking into account the ethics in creating value (including its cultural, ethnic, social and national dimensions) and the legal environment in business. They also learn to identify the relationship between opportunity and risk and how to sustain value over time.

Business, Management and Law is a broad area of studies, including business administration, accountancy, financial management/services, entrepreneurial studies, legal studies. Through these contexts, students learn that sound decision making in business involves a holistic approach in utilising knowledge, skills and insights. With the cognitive skills acquired as well as the values and attitudes developed, students are equipped for their further studies, future career and adult life.

Curriculum Components Area Specific Examples	
1. Career-related Competence	
	xt of the course within the wider area of
studies	
1.1.1 Cluster of professions/ trades/industries related to the course	<ul> <li>Contexts could include but are <u>not</u> limited to:</li> <li>business administration, where students learn about office administration (which may also involve some finance and human resources issues), covering areas such as contract law, general office administration, property management, management accounting and people management</li> </ul>
	- <b>accountancy,</b> where students learn the language of business, the principles and techniques for financial recording and reporting, planning and budgeting, analysis, and how to competently manage the financial resources of companies
	- <i>financial management/services,</i> where financial management students learn about the characteristics and risks of different kinds of retail financial products and regulations of the financial market, the financial planning process and construction of investment portfolios. In financial services, students learn about the role of different intermediaries in the financial market, the nature and process of different kinds of financial transactions, best practices for servicing clients and client relationship management
	- <b>business communications,</b> where students learn about the identification of stakeholders and communication strategies for different stakeholder groups, which may cover areas such as business writing and presentation techniques, media relations, image and profile management

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	- <b>marketing</b> , where students learn how to analyse customer markets (through data management), and how to determine product mix, pricing, promotion, distribution and customer support services
	- <b>entrepreneurial studies,</b> where students learn to recognise and act on new value-adding opportunities by providing value-added solutions (including brand building, product development and production, marketing, operations and management, managing people, office administration for small and medium enterprises)
	<ul> <li>legal studies, where students understand how the law affects businesses and the individual in sustaining a just society based on equality, rights and responsibilities</li> </ul>
1.1.2 Future global and local outlook	<ul> <li>Students learn how rapid technological changes and increasing global competition have moved Hong Kong's economy up the value-added chain towards higher value-added products/services and a more knowledge-based society, harnessing the attributes of quality, speed and creativity which they experience in daily life</li> <li>Students also learn that political and economic alliances narrow the spatial distance between countries and increase the interdependency of different business sectors. Local political, socio-economic and environmental changes can create chain effects on business, and vice versa, for example, the future impact on human capital, financial resource and raw material movement</li> </ul>
1.1.3 Beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies and/or work	Students will be able to: - identify value-adding opportunities - develop a business case
	<ul> <li>identify and assess the legal (regulatory) requirements that businesses commonly</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
Curriculum Components         1.1.4 Foundation knowledge developed in junior secondary education and Secondary 4	Area Specific Examples         face         - apply the principles and techniques of management to maximise and sustain value         - plan, organise, allocate and account for personal and corporate resources         - understand business ethics         - become aware of legal issues related to different professions         - understand and evaluate the interrelationship of political, socio-economic, technological and cultural factors on business, management and law         - analyse a business's strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats         - understand and explore careers in business, management and law         Building upon the foundation acquired in:         - Technology Education, such as strategies and management, information processing and presentation, consumer education         - Personal, Social & Humanities Education, such as resource usage in economic activities, social systems and the meaning of citizenship         - Chinese Language/English Language Education, such as the capability to use language to acquire, apply and communicate knowledge
1.1.5 Descible further study and	and algebra, measures, shape and space, and data handling <b>business administration</b>
1.1.5 Possible further study and career pathways	<ul> <li>post-secondary courses in business administration and management, commerce, human resource management</li> <li>career development: office manager, administrative assistant, business executive</li> <li>accountancy</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>post-secondary courses in finance and accounting, commerce, business studies,</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>law and taxation</li> <li>career development: accountant, auditor, tax assessor, business executive, management consultant</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>financial management/services</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in financial and banking studies, economics, actuarial science, investment and risk management, accounting</li> <li>career development: financial planner, investment adviser, insurance agent, broker, bank officer, customer service representative, account relationship manager</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>business communications</li> <li>post-secondary courses in business administration, public relations</li> <li>career development: public relations officer, brand executive, corporate communications executive</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>marketing</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in marketing, global trade</li> <li>career development: market research analyst, marketing executive, sales representative</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>entrepreneurial studies</li> <li>post-secondary courses in business administration and management, commerce</li> <li>career development: entrepreneur, business executive</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>legal studies</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in legal studies, criminal justice and public order, public administration, social sciences</li> <li>career development: solicitor, barrister, legal counsel, police officer, law enforcer, paralegal, company secretary</li> </ul>
1.1.6 Relations with core subjects and other elective	<i>enhancing and enriching</i> , e.g. - while Business, Accounting and Financial

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
subjects	Studies provide students with a macro view of business, Applied Learning courses in accountancy, finance and marketing provide a platform to enhance the breadth and depth of studies in specific fields
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Economics in Applied Learning courses such as accounting and entrepreneurial studies consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Science or Humanities may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and develop their different intelligences, thereby enhancing their all-round development through enrolling in Applied Learning courses in Business, Management and Law</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>consolidating and synergising students'</li> <li>studies, e.g.</li> <li>students undertake an in-depth study into a topic/domain of their own choice, which is not limited to the area or any area(s) of Applied Learning, where they have the opportunity to draw upon and integrate the knowledge and skills acquired and developed in their prior learning</li> </ul>
1.1.7 Relations with other areas of studies/courses of Applied Learning	<ul> <li>Applied Learning courses in Business, Management and Law can be enriched by the knowledge and skills from other areas, and vice versa. For instance,</li> <li>the other five areas of studies can supply ideas for creating new value-adding opportunities</li> <li>the other areas of studies also provide complementary knowledge and skills, such as the concept of customers orientation from Services, the spirit of innovation from Creative Studies, and logical thinking from Applied Science</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	preting workplace requirements through
	ills in an authentic or near authentic
environment	
1.2.1 Practice learning within at least one representative domain related to the course	<ul> <li>Students are given hands-on experiences in an authentic or near authentic environment to explore at least one activity, product or service in depth. For example,</li> <li>in the financial services industries, students can explore products manifesting different levels of financial risk for customers with different profiles. They should also explore the functions of the regulatory bodies, and the requirements applied to the non-banking financial sector such as insurance or securities, through regulators and self-regulatory bodies</li> </ul>
1.2.2 Experiencing workplace requirements through practice	<ul> <li>For example, students of accounting can discuss the role and requirements of an auditor</li> <li>Similarly, logistics students can discuss the function and requirements of a freight forwarder in serving the needs of customers</li> </ul>
1.2.3 Acquiring the knowledge and skills essential to enable further learning within the area	<ul> <li>Use knowledge acquired and research skills to explore career opportunities in business, management and law</li> <li>Communicate effectively in diverse social and business settings</li> <li>Use information and communication technology tools for making personal and business decisions</li> </ul>
1.2.4 Transferring learning to unfamiliar situations within related domains	<ul> <li>For example, students can be challenged to transfer the skills acquired in marketing to situations in which they are consumers</li> <li>Similarly, they can apply the critical thinking and problem-solving skills required by various roles to other roles, e.g. being a business owner to being an employee</li> <li>Students should demonstrate the interpersonal, teamwork, and leadership skills needed to function in diverse business settings</li> </ul>

(	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
		conceptual, practical and reflective skills to
	<ul> <li>Through elective studies, case studies, project, etc, some students, with the support of tutors, may be able to demonstrate their learning beyond the level of information, knowledge and skill development to the level of conceptualising and meta-understanding, by drawing upon and integrating their learning across the curriculum and applying it to solve daily problems.</li> <li>For example, students can apply the knowledge and skills derived from building up an investment portfolio to the creation of their own portfolio of studies. In the process, students: <ul> <li>consider their goals (e.g. what careers they aspire to)</li> <li>analyse their personal assets (e.g. individual skills and abilities, interests and aptitudes, strengths and weaknesses, and values)</li> <li>undertake research to identify the skills and education that the careers require</li> <li>decide how much they can afford to invest in such requirements in terms of time and effort</li> <li>determine how much risk they are willing to take (e.g. consider what if the outcomes do not turn out as intended because of constraints in capability, resources, or changes in the environment, etc)</li> <li>solicit guidance and advice; put together the portfolio of studies (e.g. subject combination, studies pathways, participation in school or community activities, career exploration activities, checklist for building up collection of exemplary classroom work and awards)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	
1.3.	1 Transferring learning to new environments	<ul> <li>Students can apply their business knowledge and skills to developing value-adding opportunities</li> <li>Students test their capacities and capabilities through:         <ul> <li>conducting research to explore knowledge and establish facts</li> <li>identifying opportunities to add value</li> <li>building up a case</li> <li>communicating it to the target group</li> <li>realising and servicing it under</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

 realising and servicing it under anticipated constraints

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
1.3.2 Demonstrating the	(1) Conducting research with a view to
understanding of key	exploring knowledge and establishing
issues in a chosen domain,	facts
including cultural aspects	Students should understand:
	- the importance of arriving at conclusions
	based on established facts when making decisions
	<ul> <li>how to locate sources for information and</li> </ul>
	conduct analysis employing basic skills
	such as drawing questionnaires in
	conducting interviews
	- the distinction between qualitative and
	quantitative research and the drawbacks
	of improper samples or biased data
	(2) Identifying opportunities to add value
	Students should understand:
	- the concept and the importance of adding
	value and the risks involved
	- the ethics in creating value, including the
	cultural, ethnic, social and national
	dimensions
	<ul> <li>how to sustain value over time</li> </ul>
	(3) Building up a case
	Students should understand:
	- the importance of maintaining and
	sustaining resources, whether human,
	physical or financial, in all environments
	- the tools to manage financial resources,
	and the risks involved in making financial
	<ul> <li>decisions</li> <li>the value of planning for sustainability</li> </ul>
	the value of planning for sustainability
	(4) Communicating to the target group
	Students should understand:
	- how to communicate with an audience,
	the success of which depends on the
	ability to understand them and be able to
	get messages and ideas across
	(5) Providing quality services
	Students should understand:
	<ul> <li>how to meet the needs of customers</li> </ul>
	- the value and sustainability of customer
	satisfaction

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
<ul> <li>1.3.3 Discussing the global and local environment in that particular domain</li> <li>1.3.4 Suggesting and illustrating</li> </ul>	Students should be able to explain how changes in society, economy, technology, etc may affect the market, consumer behaviour, the operation of businesses, etc For example, students can be encouraged to:
opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course	<ul> <li>build up a career portfolio in the area of business, management and law</li> <li>take an inventory of personal strengths and weaknesses by constructing a personal scorecard</li> <li>explore up to three selected career clusters and up to three pathways within these clusters (in terms of the required aptitudes and abilities)</li> <li>relate their personal scorecard to these selected career clusters, identifying their roadmap to these career clusters and acquiring the basic knowledge and skills for sustainability in career development</li> <li>understand the ever-changing requirements of the workplace, the development trends of the field and the relationship of lifelong learning to career development</li> </ul>

Integration of foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes through application in the career competencies related to Business, Management and Law

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
2.	Foundation Skills	
2.1	<b>Communication skills</b> (including languages), such as understanding, developing and communicating ideas and information and interacting with others	<ul> <li>Communicate in a clear, courteous, concise, complete and concrete way, appropriate to the purpose and the audience, through spoken, written and graphic expression, e.g.</li> <li>communicate in a way that takes account of differences in the background of target audiences</li> <li>compose business documents that reflect house practices and protocols</li> <li>research, analyse and prepare oral/written responses in different</li> </ul>

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
			<ul> <li>business situations</li> <li>demonstrate skills in negotiation and compromise, sustaining the commitment to achieving the business goals</li> </ul>
2.2	Mathematical skills, such as integrating and applying numerical and spatial concepts and techniques	-	Apply mathematical knowledge in analysing, interpreting and presenting data collected from different sources for tasks such as market research Calculate and compare budget, cost, profit/loss by different modes of operation Analyse statistical data for forecasting
2.3	<b>Information technology</b> <b>skills</b> , such as using and adapting technologies	-	Employ information and communication technology as a tool to gather and organise information for decision-making and problem-solving Employ business applications such as accounting software Use the Internet and other information and communication technology equipment to facilitate projects and presentation to customers
3.	Thinking Skills		
3.1	Problem-solving and decision-making skills, such as identifying problems and providing appropriate solutions, taking into consideration social, economic and technological developments		Identify problems, and master data to make informed decisions in a fast-changing business and social environment
3.2	Analytical skills, such as recognising when and what information is needed, locating and obtaining it from a range of sources and evaluating, using and sharing it with others	-	Review and analyse the effectiveness of different corporate strategies by quantitative and qualitative methods Compare and contrast the strengths and weaknesses of particular corporate strategies for specific situations

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
3.3	Creative thinking skills,	-	Generate creative ideas for grasping
	such as visualising		new business opportunities, such as
	consequences, thinking		playing out alternative scenarios of
	laterally, recognising		risks and opportunities
	opportunities and potential,	-	Predict future development trends in
	testing multiple options, and		business and society from data
	engaging with the artistic,		collected and case studies
	cultural and intellectual work	_	Consciously adopt other cultural
	of others		perspectives to challenge assumptions
			and values
3.4	Understanding	-	Understand the impact of globalisation
	interdependency and		on the local business environment and
	relationships between		society
	different areas of studies,	_	Understand how business relates to the
	societies and civilisations		wider environment shaped by history,
	to form regional/global		culture, politics and geography, and
	perspectives on social,		how changes in these factors can
	economic and		generate consequences for businesses
	technological changes,		and society
	such as describing patterns,		
	structures and relationships,		
	and making and interpreting		
	predictions		
4.	People Skills	T	
4. 4.1	Self-reflection and	-	Understand the importance of
	Self-reflection and self-management skills,	-	emotional stability and how to manage
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles,
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set		emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers Develop social awareness such as
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers Develop social awareness such as having empathy and sensitivity to the
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers Develop social awareness such as having empathy and sensitivity to the feelings and situations of others, e.g. a
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers Develop social awareness such as having empathy and sensitivity to the feelings and situations of others, e.g. a customer's needs and expectations
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers Develop social awareness such as having empathy and sensitivity to the feelings and situations of others, e.g. a customer's needs and expectations Understand relationship management
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers Develop social awareness such as having empathy and sensitivity to the feelings and situations of others, e.g. a customer's needs and expectations Understand relationship management such as interpreting people's beliefs
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	emotional stability and how to manage stress Understand the roles, responsibilities and interrelationships in the business and legal environment Set priorities and targets within time frames specific to tasks, projects and contexts Consider the impact of time and resource constraints in fulfilling work requirements Use appropriate strategies in dealing with customers Develop social awareness such as having empathy and sensitivity to the feelings and situations of others, e.g. a customer's needs and expectations Understand relationship management

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
		relationships, supporting teamwork and collaboration
4.3	Collaborative and team building skills	<ul> <li>Demonstrate the group dynamics which contribute to collaboration, united by common goals</li> <li>Understand the different roles in team activities, e.g. as a team leader or member</li> </ul>
5.	Values and Attitudes	
5.1	Honesty and integrity, such as understanding the importance of perseverance and transparency	<ul> <li>Understand the role of honesty and integrity in creating trust in business settings and society</li> <li>Appraise the rules of professional conduct in the business and legal sectors</li> </ul>
5.2	Dependability and responsibility, such as being trustworthy and behaving responsibly	<ul> <li>Demonstrate dependability by developing and maintaining professional behaviours and positive attitudes</li> <li>Observe corporate, social and legal responsibilities</li> </ul>
5.3	Enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life	<ul> <li>Be sensitive to business opportunities and demonstrate the drive to come up with product/service solutions</li> <li>Be aware of global issues affecting local or export markets and be able to develop business strategies in time</li> <li>Be able to search for market niches on one's own initiatives</li> </ul>
5.4	Willingness to learn, such as being self-motivated in learning	<ul> <li>Reflect and adapt to overcome the challenges of a fast changing business world and society</li> </ul>
5.5	Self-confidence and self-esteem, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group	<ul> <li>Demonstrate positive attitudes and manner in work and social settings</li> <li>Be self-confident in presenting ideas to colleagues and clients</li> <li>Develop self-esteem in the process of completing a project</li> </ul>

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
5.6	Respect for others and for	-	Understand the equality of people and
	law and authority, such as		of countries
	recognising the right of	-	Respect diversity in the workplace
	everybody to feel valued and		when working with customers
	be safe, and achieving a	-	Be aware of the effects of personal
	balance between rights and		beliefs and attitudes that influence
	obligations		decision-making
		-	Understand various legal and ethical
			issues related to business settings,
			such as corporate governance,
			copyright, data privacy

Annex D

## **Applied Learning**

### **Curriculum Framework**

Focus: Services

#### Applied Learning – Services

Applied Learning courses in Services study the planning and production of outputs which are in the form of services rather than products or goods. The services provided could be broadly categorised by the types of consumers, such as services provided to individuals, to households and communities, and to businesses and institutions. Services may involve the delivery, distribution and sale of goods from producer to consumer as in food and catering services, wholesaling and retailing, or may involve the provision of service, such as child care, social services, hospitality and entertainment. Goods may be transformed in the process of providing service, as happens in food and catering services or in construction services.

What characterises Services is a focus on people interacting with other people, serving the customers and satisfying their needs. Hence it involves building up trust and interpersonal relationships and paying attention to the cultural, economic, environmental, and social factors which condition these relationships. Apart from the knowledge of the trades/industries, most importantly, students learn to be ethical and responsible in providing services.

Understanding the nature and characteristics of the services sector and recognising the importance and implications of services provision are becoming increasingly important for Hong Kong, which is a major provider of tertiary services for the primary and secondary industries of the Pearl River Delta Region.

In the context of Applied Learning, students taking courses in Services come to understand the concepts, values and attitudes underpinning service provision, including the positive effects of service quality, the operational techniques and skills of different types of services, and the needs of the people they serve.

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples	
1. Career-related Competence		
	t of the course within the wider area of	
studies		
1.1.1 Cluster of professions/ trades/industries related to the course	<ul> <li>Contexts could include but are <u>not</u> limited to:</li> <li>business services, which involve consulting on product development and sales; stock/inventory control; office administration; housekeeping and store management; people management; and information management</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>hospitality services, which involve planning, managing and providing accommodation and food; recreation, convention, tourism and related support activities</li> </ul>	
	- <b>retail and merchandising services,</b> which involve planning and performing wholesale and retail services, marketing and distribution support services, and merchandise/product management and promotion	
	<ul> <li>personal health services, which involve planning, managing and providing diagnostic and therapeutic advice and services</li> </ul>	
1.1.2 Future global and local outlook	<ul> <li>Students learn about the economic growth that service industries have brought about in modern societies and their contribution to gross domestic product and employment.</li> <li>Students: <ul> <li>recognise the growing economic importance of the services industry in Hong Kong and worldwide</li> <li>understand the diversification, specialisation and growth of the services sector both globally and locally</li> <li>understand the challenges to the services industry in situations where economic development has pushed up the education levels and living standards of people, resulting in escalating and more complex demands as personal</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>income grows, and in greater competition as tertiary services dominate the economy</li> <li>understand the need for development in services to meet rapidly changing consumer expectations and lifestyles, the effect of new technologies on personal and health care services, and the strategies which cross the boundaries of race and culture to extend the customer base</li> </ul>
1.1.3 Beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies and/or work	<ul> <li>Students will be able to:</li> <li>understand citizenship within a democratic society, and the ethical behaviours valued by public and community services</li> <li>understand the ethical dilemmas and responsibilities involved in the provision of services, e.g. striking a balance between social responsibility, customers' rights and company benefits</li> <li>understand and observe the ethical principles and underlying values involved in the provision of services, such as observing the confidentially of customer information</li> <li>acquire the terminology and professional language unique to different service operations</li> <li>develop effective techniques for selling services</li> <li>develop the personal attributes essential to the services industry, such as communicating effectively in written, verbal and non-verbal forms and the ability to interact with people of diverse backgrounds</li> <li>acquire a range of technical knowledge and skills in services</li> <li>fine-tune their relationship skills to cooperate successfully with peers within a team, and perform different service operations, e.g. operating a beauty salon that provides personal care services</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>understand the importance of information management systems and apply equipment and software appropriately to manage services and customers</li> </ul>
1.1.4 Foundation knowledge developed in junior secondary education and Secondary 4	<ul> <li>Building upon the foundation acquired in:</li> <li>Chinese Language/English Language Education, such as employing different forms and styles of written communication for target groups</li> <li>Mathematics Education such as number and algebra, measures, and data handling</li> <li>Technology Education, such as information technology knowledge and skills, consumer education, and food studies</li> <li>Personal, Social and Humanities Education, such as the economic concepts of production and consumption, and the historical and cultural characteristics of different geographical regions</li> </ul>
1.1.5 Possible further study and career pathways	<ul> <li>business services</li> <li>further studies in accounting, marketing, human resources, logistics, and knowledge management solutions</li> <li>career development: business administrator, executive officer providing logistics and administration support</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>hospitality services</i></li> <li>further studies in leisure and tourism, hotel management, food production and services, personal and beauty care</li> <li>career opportunities in hotels, theme parks, club houses, cruise tours, airlines, and catering</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>retail and merchandising services</li> <li>further studies in sales and customer services, advertising and marketing, outlet management</li> <li>career development in sourcing and procuring raw materials, semi-products and consumable goods, working as a buyer or merchandiser, or store manager</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
•	in chain and franchise operations
	<ul> <li><i>public health services</i></li> <li>further studies in environmental hygiene and safety, health care services, community services, or social care for children, elderly and youth</li> <li>career development in health care profession, social work, or public administration</li> </ul>
1.1.6 Relations with core	enhancing and enriching, e.g.
subjects and other elective subjects	<ul> <li>students calculate the costs of food production, price products/services, or forecast sales from point-of-sale data to augment the data tools acquired in Mathematics Education</li> <li>students use professional services software, e.g. for the scheduling of human resources, costing, inventory control and forecasting, which enhances their information technology knowledge acquired in Technology Education</li> <li>students enrich their language and communication skills developed in Chinese Language/English Language Education, through preparing written communications with clients, or through advertising, sales reports and market research findings</li> </ul>
	cross-fertilisation, e.g.
	<ul> <li>the analysis of cultural, social, economic and demographic profiles of customers in Applied Learning draws on concepts learned in Personal, Social and Humanities Education</li> <li>students apply the code of ethics learned in Liberal Studies to service provision</li> <li>Science Education students recognise how environmental factors can generate ideas for new services such as in the</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>waste management industry</li> <li>students apply their knowledge of chemistry to handling hazardous materials in housekeeping operations; or apply knowledge of biology in safe food</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	preparation and hygienic personal care services
	<ul> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>Applied Learning courses provide students with direct contact with professionals in services industries, and offer a variety of different learning experiences</li> </ul>
	consolidating and synergising students' studies, e.g.
	<ul> <li>Studies, e.g.</li> <li>Studies, e.g.</li> <li>Students undertake an in-depth study into a topic/domain of their own choice, which is not limited to the area or any area(s) of Applied Learning, where they have the opportunities to draw upon and integrate the knowledge and skills acquired and developed in their prior learning</li> </ul>
1.1.7 Relations with other areas of studies/courses of Applied Learning	<ul> <li>Applied Learning courses in Services can be enriched by the knowledge and skills from other areas, and vice versa. For instance,</li> <li>Business, Management and Law, such as applying principles of administration in operating a hotel front office; human resource management in sales; marketing and advertising new services or products; accounting and financial control in retail management</li> <li>Media and Communication, such as the ethics involved in handling customers' personal data; and communicating in different forms to different target audiences</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	preting workplace requirements through
practising the basic sk	ills in an authentic or near authentic
environment	
1.2.1 Practice learning within at least one representative domain related to the course	<ul> <li>Students are given hands-on experiences in an authentic or near authentic environment to explore at least one activity, product or service in depth. For example,</li> <li>in personal health and care courses, students communicate effectively to understand clients' needs, apply safe work practices, perform routine housekeeping duties to keep the workplace in order, and operate professional equipment appropriately</li> <li>students also select specific areas, such as beauty care, in which they develop their insight into the industry and transfer skills learned elsewhere</li> </ul>
1.2.2 Experiencing workplace requirements through practice	<ul> <li>Students distinguish the nature and purpose of commercial services from non-commercial, public and community services</li> <li>Students apply their knowledge of safety and health hazards to different types of services</li> </ul>
1.2.3 Acquiring the knowledge and skills essential to enable further learning within the area	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>realise the importance of satisfying customers' demand for service value and quality, and in specific circumstances meet those needs</li> <li>communicate in written and oral formats effectively when promoting and providing services for different target groups</li> <li>analyse consumer backgrounds, perceptions and preferred choices</li> <li>research people and markets to develop new services</li> </ul>
1.2.4 Transferring learning to unfamiliar situations within related domains	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>explore consumer choice and explain the relationships among variables affecting those choices</li> <li>relate such knowledge to other contexts (e.g. explain the success factors in selling personal products and services, and transfer their knowledge of probabilistic distribution to marketing</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>financial products)</li> <li>discuss personal actions in acquiring, using and discarding services to satisfy needs, and relate them to economic theories (e.g. how people prioritise their spending)</li> </ul>
1.3 Developing and applying to demonstrate entreprener	conceptual, practical and reflective skills urship and innovation
support of tutors, may be all level of information, knowle conceptualising and meta-un	se studies, project, etc, some students, with the ble to demonstrate their learning beyond the edge and skill development to the level of iderstanding, by drawing upon and integrating iculum and applying it to solve daily problems.
<ul> <li>For example, students can apply the knowledge and skills related to communication in services to manage their social life and networks. In the process, students:</li> <li>employ relationship skills in services to make new acquaintances, and to communicate trust and respect to other people in words and actions</li> <li>learn to build up their knowledge of current issues to maintain a good dialogue and communicate with other people</li> <li>apply good communication techniques to maintain harmonious social relationship with others, e.g. learn to listen without jumping to conclusions too quickly, learn to appreciate and respect opposing views</li> </ul>	
1.3.1 Transferring learning to new environments	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>apply their concepts about a fully integrated hospitality service to supply chain management. They could demonstrate speed, agility and flexibility in activities related to both hospitality services and supply chain management in business</li> <li>apply their selling techniques developed in retailing to trade negotiations in international business</li> </ul>
1.3.2 Demonstrating the understanding of key issues in a chosen domain, including cultural aspects	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>assess the long-term impact of the product or the materials on the environment, e.g. hospitality students consider factors that support sustainable tourism;</li> <li>accommodate cultural and social diversity when planning and developing</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>services for different target groups, e.g. in providing social support for people with different religious or cultural backgrounds</li> <li>evaluate emerging issues, e.g. those related to over-consumption in affluent lifestyles, using knowledge of food science and preparation to provide healthy food choice and avoid wastage</li> </ul>
1.3.3 Discussing the global and local environment in that particular domain	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>explain how the evolution and sustainability of services are affected by different cultural, economic, technological and societal changes in a community, e.g. how people's expectations of quality health care are highly related to economic and social development; or the dependence of the entertainment business within a city on its cultural characteristics and background</li> <li>evaluate the importance of developing quality in service provision</li> </ul>
1.3.4 Suggesting and illustrating opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course	<ul> <li>For example, students can be encouraged to:</li> <li>explore their aptitude for further studies by developing their competency at different levels, e.g. proceeding to supervision and service management from an initial understanding of services operations</li> <li>see the relationships between academic success and work, and relate the success factors to their personal development</li> <li>explore up to three selected career clusters and the aptitudes and abilities required in up to three pathways within these clusters, and develop a personal plan to articulate to different levels of qualifications</li> </ul>

Integration of foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes through application in the career competencies related to Services

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
2.	Foundation Skills	
2.1	Communication skills (including languages), such as understanding, developing and communicating ideas and information and interacting with others	<ul> <li>Develop and employ:</li> <li>effective communication skills in listening, questioning and non-verbal communication</li> <li>effective writing skills suited to the service industry involved, e.g. writing personal health reports or sales reports</li> <li>different types of communication media in selling services</li> <li>empathetic interpersonal skills in interpreting, evaluating and responding to the requests of customers, including understanding what interferes with effective communication</li> </ul>
2.2	Mathematical skills, such as integrating and applying numerical and spatial concepts and techniques Information technology skills, such as using and adapting technologies	<ul> <li>Apply their knowledge of mathematics to:</li> <li>understand quantitative models that predict consumer responses to a sale or promotion policy</li> <li>calculate an inventory turnover rate</li> <li>determine the standard yields in food production in a hotel operation</li> <li>Apply information technology skills to:</li> <li>use an industry specific information technology system to manage hazards, or identify control points in production</li> <li>control fixed and variable labour in services operations</li> <li>compile a guest/customer profile using appropriate management software</li> </ul>
•	Thinking Chille	appropriate management software
3.	Thinking Skills Problem-solving and decision-making skills, such as identifying problems and providing appropriate solutions, taking into consideration social, economic and technological developments	<ul> <li>Use technology and information sources to evaluate the objective and quality of the services provided</li> <li>Integrate aesthetic and functional quality, e.g. when designing different hospitality events such as a banquet or business convention</li> <li>Recognise and meet the service requirements of people from different cultural, social and economic backgrounds when providing personal health services</li> </ul>

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
3.2	Curriculum Components Analytical skills, such as recognising when and what information is needed, locating and obtaining it from a range of sources and evaluating, using and sharing it with others Creative thinking skills, such as visualising consequences, thinking laterally, recognising opportunities and potential, testing multiple options, and engaging with the artistic, cultural and intellectual work of others Understanding interdependency and relationships between different areas of studies, societies and civilisations to form regional/global perspectives on social, economic and technological changes,	-	Area Specific Examples (Optional) Collect background information and analyse data on the type and range of services performed in other cities or countries Analyse sales trends to estimate the replenishment rate for goods Understand the role of sales forecasting in marketing and apply forecasting methods such as base adjusting and moving average Understand how a service control plan can help management carry out daily business functions Cite the potential advantages and disadvantages in automating service provision Explore opportunities for expanding a customer base Analyse the demographic patterns of customers Analyse the economic background of consumers of particular transport services in different cities/countries Relate the price of services with data generated from sales, e.g. use point-of-sale reports to maximise price and profits
	such as describing patterns, structures and relationships, and making and interpreting predictions		
4.	People Skills		
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set	-	Set out a team schedule for performing tasks, e.g. in front desk, room service or food serving operation in a hotel restaurant Identify and manage the resources involved in, e.g. planning a successful business convention, or designing a personal care programme to meet a specific client's needs
4.2	Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing to the community	-	Adopt communication approaches that are effective with people of diverse cultures Deal effectively with conflicting

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
4.3	Collaborative and team building skills	<ul> <li>situations and misunderstandings when interacting with customers and team members</li> <li>Create a positive, relaxed and pleasant atmosphere when providing services</li> <li>Demonstrate team spirit and principles in project work, in research exercises and in coaching peers</li> </ul>
5.	Values and Attitudes	
5.1	Honesty and integrity, such as understanding the importance of perseverance and transparency	<ul> <li>Behave ethically when providing services and managing customer information and relationships</li> </ul>
5.2	Dependability and responsibility, such as being trustworthy and behaving responsibly	<ul> <li>Provide safe and healthy services, with attention to after-sales services</li> </ul>
5.3	Enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life	<ul> <li>Develop services that exceed the expectations of customers</li> <li>Research historical and new situations or circumstances that can lead to new service lines, or modern adaptations of old services to meet changing customer requirements</li> </ul>
5.4	Willingness to learn, such as being self-motivated in learning	<ul> <li>Compare the personal skills, knowledge and attributes required in a service industry with their own skills, knowledge and attributes, and plan to rectify any identified gaps and weaknesses</li> </ul>
5.5	Self-confidence and self-esteem, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group	<ul> <li>Develop and sustain the professional image and personal attributes that are required for specific services industries</li> <li>Look for opportunities to extend their experiences and skill sets</li> </ul>
5.6	Respect for others and for law and authority, such as recognising the right of everybody to feel valued and be safe, and achieving a balance between rights and obligations	<ul> <li>Understand the legal responsibilities of a service provider and translate the responsibilities into policies and practices that promote quality</li> </ul>

Annex E

# Applied Learning

### **Curriculum Framework**

Focus: Applied Science
# **Applied Learning – Applied Science**

Applied Science involves the application of knowledge and skills from one or more natural scientific fields to solve practical problems. Applied Learning courses in Applied Science provide students with opportunities to explore and develop their interests in science in workplace settings and in their daily life, and broaden their understanding of how science can be used to serve the well-being of the world.

In the context of Applied Learning, students studying courses in Applied Science understand how science can be used in a variety of occupational areas. They can apply scientific knowledge and the skills of scientific investigation to explain phenomena and observations, construct solutions to problems, and make decisions and judgements about a range of issues. Students also learn to be ethical and responsible in the use of science, and can develop their cognitive skills for further studies in a science-related discipline, and for employment or further training in science-related industries and professions.

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
1. Career-related Competence	
	xt of the course within the wider area of
1.1.1 Cluster of professions/ trades/industries related to the course	<ul> <li>Contexts could include but are <u>not</u> limited to:</li> <li><i>medical science</i> (including Western and Chinese Medicine), where students learn about the structure and functions of the human body, basic principles of medical philosophy, causes of illnesses and potential illnesses, the nature and properties of medicines, basic principles of diagnosis, etc</li> </ul>
	- <i>health care</i> , where students learn about the health care system, the interplay of biological, psychological, social, ecological and economic factors that contribute to health and illness, the roles and responsibilities of the multi-disciplinary health care team, and basic knowledge and skills in nursing care, etc
	- <b>sports</b> , where students apply scientific principles and techniques to improve their understanding of sports performance, covering areas such as human movement, fitness testing and assessment, exercise science and prescriptions, nutrition, human anatomy and physiology, coaching methods
	- <b>environmental science</b> , where students learn about the interactions among physical, chemical, and biological components of the environment, covering areas such as climate change, conservation, biodiversity, use of natural resources, waste management, sustainable development, pollution, heritage protection
	- astronomy and space science, where students learn about the observational features of the night sky, the structure,

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	formation and development of the universe, covering areas such as the evolution of the sun and other stars, planets, galaxies, motions and gravity, black holes
	<ul> <li><i>psychology</i>, where students learn to apply psychological theories in explaining human mental process and behaviour, covering areas such as research methods in psychology, various approaches and fields of psychology, memory, learning, personality, emotions, intelligence</li> </ul>
1.1.2 Future global and local outlook	<ul> <li>Scientific knowledge and inquiry are essential for personal and career development in modern society</li> <li>Students learn to:         <ul> <li>be aware of the use of science in a wide range of professions and occupations, either explicitly (e.g. doctors, nurses, laboratory technicians) or implicitly (e.g. information technology technicians, engineers, chefs, photographers, drivers)</li> <li>be aware of how scientific development leads to significant changes in our daily life and lifestyle (e.g. mobile technologies, fibre technological and social development on applied science (e.g. how economic development affects the environment and the natural systems; how technological development leads to breakthroughs in sports science; how social development affects the health and lifestyle of humans; and how various interwoven factors affect industries using applied science)</li> <li>recognise, from global and local developmental trends in the area, the further studies and career</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	opportunities available, and make informed decisions regarding future academic studies and occupational goals
1.1.3 Beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies and/or work	<ul> <li>Students will be able to:</li> <li>understand the nature of science and the process of scientific inquiry - how scientific ideas are discovered, developed, tested and communicated</li> <li>identify how scientific knowledge and skills are applied in a wide range of essential functions in various industries, trades and professions</li> <li>demonstrate the application of scientific knowledge and skills in a range of work-related contexts and follow appropriate procedures, taking health and safety issues into account</li> <li>be aware of the social, legal and ethical responsibilities related to the application of science, and how science can be used to improve the well-being of humankind and the environment</li> <li>understand and explore careers in Applied Science and STEM <sup>5</sup> -related fields</li> </ul>
1.1.4 Foundation knowledge developed in junior secondary education and Secondary 4	<ul> <li>Built upon the foundation acquired in:</li> <li>Science Education, for instance, fundamental scientific concepts, experimental and laboratory techniques, as well as skills in using scientific instruments and equipment acquired in Physics, Chemistry and Biology lay the foundation for further studies in environmental science, astronomy and space science, medical science, sports science, health care, psychology, etc</li> <li>Technology Education, for instance, concepts introduced in the Health Management and Social Care curriculum (e.g. the health care system, issues of health and illness) and Biology (e.g. genetics and evolution, organisms and environment) provide essential</li> </ul>

<sup>5</sup> STEM is an acronym that refers collectively to the academic disciplines of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics.

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>knowledge for medical science. The Technology and Living curriculum (e.g. nutrition) can also be applied in the study of sports science and health care</li> <li>Physical Education, for instance, body movement, nutrition and diet, and the role and social values of physical activities lay the foundation for the study of sports coaching and management</li> <li>Chinese Language/English Language Education, for instance, reading, writing, listening and speaking skills are used to acquire, apply and communicate knowledge</li> <li>Mathematics Education, for instance, the use of numbers and algebra, statistics, data handling and analysis are essential in scientific investigations</li> </ul>
1.1.5 Possible further study and	medical science
career pathways	<ul> <li>post-secondary courses in medicine and surgery, Chinese medicine, dentistry, pharmacy, biotechnology</li> <li>career development: doctor, Chinese medicine practitioner, dentist, pharmacist, researcher</li> <li><i>health care</i></li> <li>post-secondary courses in nursing, food and nutritional science, physiotherapy, medical laboratory science</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>career development: nurse, nutritionist, physiotherapist, laboratory technician, health care assistant</li> <li>sports</li> <li>post-secondary courses in physical education and sports science, sports coaching, recreation management</li> <li>career development: physical education teacher, sports coach, fitness instructor, sports administrator</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>environmental science</li> <li>post-secondary courses in earth sciences, environmental protection, ecology and biodiversity</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>career development: urban planner, geologist, environmental consultant, environmental engineer</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>astronomy and space science</li> <li>post-secondary courses in astronomy, applied physics</li> <li>career development: professional astronomer, practitioner in museums or weather services</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>psychology</i> <ul> <li>post-secondary courses in social sciences, psychology, cognitive science, education</li> <li>career development: clinical psychologist, educational psychologist, researcher</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
1.1.6 Relations with core subjects and other elective subjects	<ul> <li>enhancing and enriching, e.g.</li> <li>in-depth studies in astronomy and space science enhance the study of mass and weight, gravitation, force and motion, etc covered in Physics; practical experience in Applied Learning courses in health care enriches the study of Health Management and Social Care</li> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>application of concepts such as health and diseases from Biology in the study of</li> </ul>
	medical science consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects. Applied Learning courses also provide work-related learning contexts to serve as a platform for conducting scientific investigations required in Science Education
	<ul> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in humanities may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and enhance their all-round development through enrolling in Applied Learning courses in Applied Science</li> </ul>
	consolidating and synergising students'

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
Curriculum Components           1.1.7 Relations with other areas of studies/courses of Applied Learning	<ul> <li>Area Specific Examples</li> <li>studies, e.g.</li> <li>students undertake an in-depth study into a topic/domain of their own choice, which is not limited to the area or any area(s) of Applied Learning, where they have the opportunities to draw upon and integrate the knowledge and skills acquired and developed in their prior learning</li> <li>Applied Learning courses in Applied Science can be enriched by the knowledge and skills from other areas, and vice versa. For instance,</li> <li>Engineering and Production - scientific knowledge can be applied to the development of new technologies in the engineering industry and production of goods and services; whereas innovations in machines, equipment and products benefit scientific investigations</li> <li>Business, Management and Law - various business organisations and industries use science in research and development; whereas the concepts of finance, accounting and management are necessary in running businesses related to the applications of science, e.g. clinics, sports clubs</li> <li>Creative Studies - concepts in environmental science can be applied in the design of products and art works; creativity and openness to new ideas cultivated in design and performing arts are essential attributes in the process of</li> </ul>
	scientific inquiry
	preting workplace requirements through ills in an authentic or near authentic
1.2.1 Practice learning within at least one representative domain related to the course	<ul> <li>Students are given hands-on experiences in an authentic or near authentic environment to explore at least one activity, product or service in depth. For example,</li> <li>in the study of health care, after acquiring a general understanding of the health care system and health issues, students may choose to further investigate nursing care for the elderly or persons with</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>physical disabilities</li> <li>in the study of sports, after acquiring a general understanding of the various components of the sports industry (such as sports science, sports coaching, sports management), students may choose to explore fitness training, or basketball coaching, etc</li> <li>in the study of environmental science, after acquiring an overview of various environmental issues, students may explore managing and remedying air or water pollution, or focus on the human dimension of global environmental change, etc</li> </ul>
1.2.2 Experiencing workplace requirements through practice	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>discuss the roles, requirements and academic/professional qualifications of practitioners in an occupational area (e.g. sports nutritionist vs clinical nutritionist; educational psychologist vs clinical psychologist), and identify the types of scientific activity that are carried out by them (e.g. sports coaching requires knowledge of sports psychology, sports science and coach ethics, etc before formulating a training plan for athletes). Students should also be able to identify the career progression ladder in the related field (e.g. sports coaches can acquire coaching accreditations at the local and international level)</li> <li>develop the awareness and scientific understanding of safety precautions and procedures in various work contexts (e.g. measures to prevent sports injuries, and the safe and proper use of medicine and medical equipment)</li> </ul>
1.2.3 Acquiring the knowledge and skills essential to enable further learning within the area	Students should be able to: - acquire knowledge and skills in scientific inquiry (including making observations, forming hypotheses, making predictions, gathering information, interpreting and analysing empirical data, drawing conclusions, modifying or refuting

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>scientific theories, and identifying unresolved questions). They should also understand how scientific inquiry can solve practical problems related to a specific occupational context</li> <li>work on portfolios/projects on a chosen domain related to the course, and apply the processes of scientific inquiry, for instance,</li> <li>in devising a training plan for athletes, factors such as fitness levels, trainee psychology, nutrition have to be identified, followed by the modification of the training programme. Testing then involves collecting empirical evidence on the factors contributing to the trainees' success or lack of it</li> <li>in environmental science, students can work on a project to gather water samples, calculate and analyse data related to water pollutants, identify types and sources of water contamination and draw conclusions</li> </ul>
1.2.4 Transferring learning to	Students should be able to:
unfamiliar situations within related domains	<ul> <li>inquire, explore and scientifically explain natural and technological phenomena in their daily lives, and transfer such knowledge to unfamiliar situations (e.g. explain the causes and treatment of an illness, using knowledge acquired in nursing care and medical science, and transfer such knowledge to the choice of personal health care services and products)</li> <li>transfer researching, critical thinking and reflection skills acquired in scientific investigations (e.g. the skills of investigating water pollution can be applied to air pollution and solid waste)</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	conceptual, practical and reflective skills to ship and innovation
support of tutors, may be a level of information, know conceptualising and meta-u their learning across the cur	se studies, project, etc, some students, with the able to demonstrate their learning beyond the ledge and skill development to the level of nderstanding, by drawing upon and integrating riculum and applying it to solve daily problems.
<ul> <li>enquiry to organising extrastudents:</li> <li>identify the interests or and/or the collection of</li> </ul>	•
<ul> <li>identify the constraint strategies for the imple etc and learn to work w</li> <li>understand the differ</li> </ul>	tivities to be organised coordance with the needs of the participants ts in time and resources, explore possible ementation of the activity and managing risks, with others collaboratively rent complementary roles played by team the opinions and values of others
1.3.1 Transferring learning to new environments	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>transfer the skills of scientific enquiry, including researching, planning, analysis and evaluation to new environments (e.g. from investigations of various sources of environmental pollution to the factors affecting health and sports performance)</li> <li>explore new concepts in a particular occupational area (e.g. in environmental science, students explore new ways to conserve limited resources and build a more productive and ecologically sustainable environment)</li> </ul>
1.3.2 Demonstrating the understanding of key issues in a chosen domain, including cultural aspects	Students should be able to: - identify and describe current issues and

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	<ul> <li>students should recognise differences in the culture, philosophy and application of Western and Chinese medicine in diagnosing and curing the same illness</li> <li>students should understand how cultural and individual differences relate to wellness and quality of life, and how these differences are reflected in society</li> <li>demonstrate key scientific knowledge and concepts in a specific domain to make sense of the world, for instance,</li> <li>use medical science to explain the spread of diseases</li> <li>use environmental science to explain</li> </ul>
1.3.3 Discussing the global and local environment in that particular domain	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:         <ul> <li>articulate how personal beliefs, cultural tradition, technological advances, and current social, economic and political contexts influence the development of industries applying science (e.g. in health care, students learn the various factors affecting health care services in a society, including lifestyles, government policies, economics)</li> <li>appreciate and evaluate the social, economic and environmental impact that science has on society</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
1.3.4 Suggesting and illustrating opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course	<ul> <li>For example, students can be encouraged to:</li> <li>explore further study opportunities available and build up a career portfolio in a specific cluster in the area of Applied Science</li> <li>identify personal traits required for further studies and employment in related clusters, and identify the weaknesses they need to address</li> <li>explore the aptitudes and abilities needed in up to three selected career clusters and up to three pathways within these clusters, and identify a personal roadmap to these careers</li> <li>understand the ever-changing requirements of the workplace, the</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	development trends of the field and the relationship of lifelong learning to career development

Integration of foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes through application in the career competencies related to Applied Science

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
2.	Foundation Skills	
2.1	<b>Communication skills</b> (including languages), such as understanding, developing and communicating ideas and information and interacting with others	<ul> <li>Demonstrate the use of appropriate language, including spoken, written, diagrammatic and symbolic forms, in communicating and understanding scientific concepts</li> <li>Present ideas and information to different audiences for a range of purposes (e.g. preparation of laboratory reports and presentation of experimental findings to classmates)</li> <li>Master the technical language and jargon commonly used in the profession to support effective communication and interaction (e.g. use of medical terminology in the study of Chinese Medicine)</li> </ul>
2.2	Mathematical skills, such as integrating and applying numerical and spatial concepts and techniques	<ul> <li>Recognise the importance of accurate calculations in scientific investigations</li> <li>Calculate mathematical problems and measurements with an appropriate degree of accuracy (e.g. calculation of the cost and nutritional value of a meal in the study of nutrition; measurement and conversion of common weights, temperatures, time, etc. in the study of health care)</li> <li>Use statistics, diagrams, charts to present findings (e.g. analyse statistics on disease and death in the study of medical science, report research data on sports performance)</li> <li>Interpret and analyse data in terms of scientific principles and concepts</li> </ul>

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
2.3	Information technology skills, such as using and adapting technologies	<ul> <li>Develop awareness of the use an importance of information technology i scientific work (e.g. the use of computers and specialised equipmer in fitness testing and designing sport training programmes)</li> <li>Make use of information technology for searching information/data from various sources, as well as presentin ideas</li> </ul>
3.	Thinking Skills	
3.1	Problem-solving and decision-making skills, such as identifying problems and providing appropriate solutions, taking into consideration social, economic and technological developments	<ul> <li>Apply scientific ideas and techniques i planning, conducting and evaluatin investigative work to solve problems i a work-related context</li> <li>Distinguish between scientific facts an opinion, and make informed an responsible decisions, taking int consideration health, safety and ethica issues</li> <li>Develop a global perspective on futur social, economic and technologica changes</li> </ul>
3.2	Analytical skills, such as recognising when and what information is needed, locating and obtaining it from a range of sources and evaluating, using and sharing it with others	<ul> <li>Describe, explain, interpret an evaluate quantitative and qualitativ data in scientific work</li> <li>Select, organise, and clearly an logically present information fror primary or secondary sources, an share the information with others</li> <li>Cultivate an inquisitive, reflective an critical mind, openly evaluate differer viewpoints, arguments and values o scientific issues, and use scientifit theories and logic to suppo arguments</li> </ul>
3.3	<b>Creative thinking skills</b> , such as visualising consequences, thinking laterally, recognising opportunities and potential, testing multiple options, and engaging with the artistic, cultural and intellectual work of others	<ul> <li>Apply scientific knowledge innovativel to solve problems, and sugges creative approaches to test th proposed solutions</li> <li>Be imaginative, curious and creative i the process of scientific investigation</li> </ul>

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
-	Understanding	-	Be aware of interdependencies, such
	interdependency and		as the interactions between living
	relationships between		organisms and their physical
	different areas of studies,		environment that are necessary for
	societies and civilisations		maintaining a balance. For instance,
	to form regional/global		<ul> <li>students studying a course in sports</li> </ul>
	perspectives on social,		coaching should recognise the
	economic and		interrelations between performance
	technological changes,		and health, diet and the
	such as describing patterns,		environment
	structures and relationships,		• similarly, in the study of Chinese
	and making and interpreting		Medicine, students should
	predictions		recognise how the natural
			environment interacts with the
			human body
		-	Understand the interrelationships
			between science, technology and
			society, and how science influences
			social, cultural and political worlds
		-	Recognise how the pooling of
			knowledge and understanding from
			different cultures has enriched the
			world, e.g. how Chinese and Western
4.	Pooplo Skillo		Medicine complement each other
4			
	People Skills Self-reflection and		Set priorities goals and targets within
4.1	Self-reflection and	-	Set priorities, goals and targets within time frames specific to the tasks
	Self-reflection and self-management skills,		time frames specific to the tasks
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and		time frames specific to the tasks
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and		time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints
	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and		time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues Appreciate the cultural diversity of
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues Appreciate the cultural diversity of people who have contributed to
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues Appreciate the cultural diversity of people who have contributed to developments in the sciences
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues Appreciate the cultural diversity of people who have contributed to developments in the sciences Recognise the importance of courtesy
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues Appreciate the cultural diversity of people who have contributed to developments in the sciences Recognise the importance of courtesy and respect in interacting with other
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues Appreciate the cultural diversity of people who have contributed to developments in the sciences Recognise the importance of courtesy and respect in interacting with other people in schools, communities and
4.1	Self-reflection and self-management skills, such as setting schedules of tasks for completion, and reflecting on goals and targets set Interpersonal skills, such as interacting with other people and cultures and contributing	-	time frames specific to the tasks Plan and carry out investigations, using safe and appropriate strategies, taking into consideration time and resource constraints Understand one's own emotions and values and how to control or redirect them to achieve positive ends Respect different points of view and beliefs on scientific issues Appreciate the cultural diversity of people who have contributed to developments in the sciences Recognise the importance of courtesy and respect in interacting with other people in schools, communities and workplaces, e.g. in the communication

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
-	Collaborative and team building skills	<ul> <li>Understand the different roles in team activities, e.g. as a team leader or member</li> <li>Research cooperatively with others and share ideas and information</li> <li>Discuss issues, problems and conflicts with team members and ways of dealing with these through mediation, negotiation and conciliation</li> <li>Seek opinions and values from others</li> </ul>
5.	Values and Attitudes	
5.1	Honesty and integrity, such as understanding the importance of perseverance and transparency	<ul> <li>Value intellectual honesty in the process of scientific investigation</li> <li>Identify responsibilities for maintaining professional conduct and ethical standards (e.g. being aware of the improper use of drugs in sports, maintaining confidentiality of information and patients' rights, and recognising the importance of ethical sources of information)</li> </ul>
5.2	Dependability and responsibility, such as being trustworthy and behaving responsibly	<ul> <li>Make responsible decisions in using science in homes, schools, and the community</li> <li>Show concern for the health and safety of oneself and others as well as the environment</li> </ul>
5.3	Enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life	<ul> <li>Develop the concern, curiosity, and sensitivity to understand inherent factors, e.g. be aware of the geographical and historical contexts for the development of science</li> <li>Be self-motivated in exploration and investigation of phenomena</li> </ul>
5.4	Willingness to learn, such as being self-motivated in learning	<ul> <li>Be a reflective lifelong learner, willing to admit mistakes and make improvements</li> <li>Demonstrate openness to new ideas</li> <li>Be self-directed and take responsibility for one's own learning</li> </ul>

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
5.5	Self-confidence and self-esteem, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group	-	Demonstrate a positive attitude and manner in work Confidently tackle tasks and problems, both individually and collaboratively Apply scientific knowledge to daily life and promote a healthy lifestyle, e.g. courses in sports science and medical science provide students with the scientific knowledge and understandings of personal health issues
5.6	Respect for others and for law and authority, such as recognising the right of everybody to feel valued and be safe, and achieving a balance between rights and obligations		Discuss legal issues related to the industry (e.g. the legal consequences of the various types of pollution) Understand the nature of science-based work and the impact (both positive and negative) on the people and the environment brought about by science Appreciate the contribution of scientific research to social justice (e.g. forensic science) Discuss occupational safety issues (e.g. the obligation to conduct scientific investigations in a safe environment)

Annex F

# **Applied Learning**

# **Curriculum Framework**

Focus: Engineering and Production

# **Applied Learning – Engineering and Production**

**Engineering** is the application of scientific principles towards practical ends. This is accomplished through knowledge, mathematical principles, and experience applied to the development of constructs and processes. A typical engineering process may include research, design, installation, testing, commissioning, maintenance, and problem-solving of constructs, systems and processes.

**Production** is the process that commercially realises viable products or services. It involves designing, planning, installing and controlling the basic factors of production – people, materials, information, and energy – and achieving economies and efficiencies to meet the market's needs. This is achieved through supporting systems such as automation, supply chain dynamics, quality assurance and inventory control.

In the context of Applied Learning, Engineering and Production courses provide the learning context for students to understand the multi-disciplinary nature of the transfer of STEM<sup>6</sup>-related knowledge and research findings to products that are socially, ecologically and economically valuable, and to recognise the importance of professional ethics and responsibilities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> STEM is an acronym that refers collectively to the academic disciplines of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics collectively.

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
1. Career-related Competen	
	ext of the course within the wider area of
studies 1.1.1 Cluster of professions/	Contexts could include but are not limited to
trades/industries related to the course	the following disciplines: biomedical, building, building services, chemical, civil, control, automation, communications, computer, electrical, electronics, environmental, fire, gas, geotechnical, information, logistics manufacturing and industrial, marine and naval architecture, materials, mechanical, and structural.
	Three major traditional engineering fields are civil, electrical, and mechanical engineering. Additional engineering disciplines are developed over time to meet modern development needs. Applications of an engineering discipline may span across many trades and industries.
	<ul> <li>Some disciplines are shown below as examples:</li> <li><i>building services engineering</i> focuses on building services equipment and systems such as air-conditioning, fire engineering, drainage, and power distribution</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>civil engineering focuses on structure, building, and soil mechanics related to works such as buildings, bridges, roads, and dams</li> </ul>
	- <i>electrical engineering</i> focuses on power systems, control systems, and electronic devices
	- <b>environmental engineering</b> focuses on achieving a sustainable environment, developing renewable energy technologies and enhancing air and water quality
	<ul> <li><i>information engineering</i> focuses on the principles, technologies, services, and applications of computer hardware and software systems</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	- manufacturing and industrial engineering focuses on the design and development of integrated systems for large-scale production
1.1.2 Future global and local	<ul> <li><i>mechanical engineering</i> focuses on the application of principles of physics for analysis, design, manufacturing, and maintenance of mechanical systems</li> <li>Engineering and production are</li> </ul>
outlook	<ul> <li>expanding rapidly to meet the exponential explosions in knowledge and technology. Both are fundamental to the growth and advancement of modern China, and to the role of Hong Kong, which provides major scientific and logistical support for the Pearl River Delta Region</li> <li>Students should identify current developments in the domain, and interdependent areas, at local, regional and global levels</li> </ul>
1.1.3 Beginners' skill set to facilitate entry to further studies and/or work	<ul> <li>Students will be able to:</li> <li>appreciate engineering achievements and how an engineering object or process is being developed</li> <li>apply knowledge of science, technology, engineering and mathematics</li> <li>design and conduct experiments, and analyse and interpret data</li> <li>design or adapt a system, component, or process to meet realistic economic, environmental, social, and political constraints</li> <li>identify, formulate, and solve engineering problems</li> <li>use the techniques, skills and tools common to all disciplines of engineering practice such as use of measuring equipment (e.g. multi-meter), engineering drawing, building small-scale models</li> <li>explore major concepts, ideas, and theories that underpin daily applications</li> <li>understand the importance of abiding by ethical, social and legal requirements as well as professional ethics and</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
1.1.4 Foundation knowledge	Built upon the foundation acquired in:
developed in junior	- Mathematics, such as knowledge in
secondary education and	measures, shape, space, number and
Secondary 4	algebra
	- Science, such as knowledge in force and
	motion, electricity, heat, materials and
	their properties, chemical reactions and
	energy, conservation of energy, the environment, and health
	- Technology Education, such as
	information processing, basic
	programming, software development,
	design and communication, production
	process, automation, design
	implementation and material processing,
	business environment, and cost
	accounting
1.1.5 Possible further study and	- Post-secondary courses in Engineering
career pathways	with a variety of foci.
	- Career development: professional and
	paraprofessional, including draftsperson,
	technician, associate engineer, logistics operator, software developer, operations
	assistant in businesses and industries
1.1.6 Relations with core	enhancing and enriching, e.g.
subjects and other elective	- Applied Learning courses provide a
subjects	platform for students to enhance the
	depth and/or breadth of studies of
	Mathematics through application of the
	theories learned in the classroom
	cross-fertilisation, e.g.
	<i>cross-fertilisation</i> , e.g. - the application of concepts from Physics
	cross-fertilisation, e.g.
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><i>cross-fertilisation</i>, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li><i>expanding horizons</i>, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities subjects may broaden their horizons,</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities subjects may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and develop their different intelligences, thereby enhancing their all-round development through</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities subjects may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and develop their different intelligences, thereby enhancing their all-round development through enrolling in Engineering and Production</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities subjects may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and develop their different intelligences, thereby enhancing their all-round development through</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities subjects may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and develop their different intelligences, thereby enhancing their all-round development through enrolling in Engineering and Production</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities subjects may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and develop their different intelligences, thereby enhancing their all-round development through enrolling in Engineering and Production</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>cross-fertilisation, e.g.</li> <li>the application of concepts from Physics in Engineering and Production courses consolidates and reinforces the learning of both subjects</li> <li>expanding horizons, e.g.</li> <li>students specialising in Humanities subjects may broaden their horizons, explore their aptitudes and develop their different intelligences, thereby enhancing their all-round development through enrolling in Engineering and Production</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	consolidating and synergising students'
1.1.7 Relations with other areas of studies/courses of Applied Learning	<ul> <li>studies, e.g.</li> <li>students undertake an in-depth study into a topic/domain of their own choice, which is not limited to the area or any area(s) of Applied Learning, where they have the opportunity to draw upon and integrate the knowledge and skills acquired and developed in their prior learning</li> <li>Applied Learning courses in Engineering and Production can be enriched by the knowledge and skills from other areas, and vice versa.</li> <li>For instance,</li> <li>Applied Science – materials science, and production process</li> <li>Business, Management and Law – product safety regulations, entrepreneurship, efficiency, and business management</li> <li>Creative Studies – visual communication, and digital media</li> </ul>
	- Services – engineering for services
practising the basic sk environment	preting workplace requirements through ills in an authentic or near authentic
1.2.1 Practice learning within at least one representative domain related to the course	<ul> <li>Students are given hands-on experiences in an authentic or near authentic environment to explore at least one activity, product or service in depth. For example,</li> <li>in building services engineering, students can explore the improvements that communication networks and entertainment programmes can bring to the services and management of a modern building</li> <li>in manufacturing and industrial engineering, after acquiring a basic understanding of the field students can explore a particular aspect, such as systems for quality control and product safety</li> </ul>
1.2.2 Experiencing workplace requirements through practice	<ul> <li>Students should be able to discuss the roles and requirements of various positions within the engineering discipline</li> <li>Students of environmental engineering, for instance, can discuss the job requirements which include knowledge</li> </ul>

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Evenues
Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
	of site development, environmental safety and environmental laws, and database design for recording evaluation and monitoring activity
1.2.3 Acquiring the knowledge	Students should be able to:
and skills essential to enable further learning within the area	<ul> <li>apply the principles and theories of science, engineering, and mathematics to solve technical problems in research and development, manufacturing, sales, construction, inspection, and maintenance</li> <li>create, evaluate and test potential solutions with simulated models</li> <li>discuss the transfer of scientific discoveries and research findings to commercially viable products</li> <li>communicate and present engineering and production ideas effectively in authentic or near authentic environments. E.g. in civil engineering, students should demonstrate knowledge and skills in aspects such as planning and building highways, bridges or wastewater treatment systems</li> </ul>
1.2.4 Transferring learning to unfamiliar situations within related domains	<ul> <li>For instance, students can be challenged to transfer the skills acquired in aircraft engineering to automobile engineering</li> <li>Students can apply the skills required of an engineer to being an informed client/project manager</li> </ul>
1.3 Developing and applying of demonstrate entrepreneurs	conceptual, practical and reflective skills to
Through elective studies, cas support of tutors, may be a level of information, knowl conceptualising and meta-ur their learning across the curr For example, students can a	se studies, project, etc, some students, with the able to demonstrate their learning beyond the edge and skill development to the level of inderstanding, by drawing upon and integrating riculum and applying it to solve daily problems pply the knowledge and skills related to aircraft evise solutions to problems that can be applied

- to an intelligent building. In the process, students can draw upon:
  knowledge in audio and video cable routing on an aircraft to minimise interference and enhance sound and video quality
- knowledge in cabin management systems as a means of tying ٠ together most of the systems that affect the residents

Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples
1.3.1 Transferring learning to new environments	<ul> <li>Students should demonstrate the ability to devise solutions to problems and anticipate constraints in unfamiliar environments</li> <li>Students should be immersed in science and mathematics as a way of seeing and making sense of 'Engineering and Production'</li> </ul>
1.3.2 Demonstrating the understanding of key issues in a chosen domain, including cultural aspects	<ul> <li>To arouse students' interest in engineering and production, the history of the ideas, concepts, and related issues and problems of the engineering process should be introduced</li> <li>Students discuss how engineers, through their work, make an impact on society, the environment, culture, and the daily life of people, and illustrate this with examples</li> </ul>
1.3.3 Discussing the global and local environment in that particular domain	<ul> <li>For example, environmental engineering students can identify and discuss the causes of climate change, such as global warming; or pollution, such as acid rain and debate possible measures to stop or slow down such environmental change</li> </ul>
1.3.4 Suggesting and illustrating opportunities for learning, development, etc related to the course	<ul> <li>For example, students can be encouraged to:</li> <li>explore further studies opportunities available and build up a career portfolio in a specific cluster in the area of Engineering and Production</li> <li>identify personal traits required for further studies and employment in related clusters, and identify the weaknesses they need to address</li> <li>explore the aptitudes and abilities needed in up to three selected career clusters and up to three pathways within these clusters, and identify a personal roadmap to these careers</li> <li>understand the ever-changing requirements of the workplace, the development trends of the field and the relationship of lifelong learning to career development</li> </ul>

Integration of foundation skills, thinking skills, people skills, and values and attitudes through application in the career competencies related to Engineering and Production

	Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)
2.	Foundation Skills		
2.1	<b>Communication skills</b> (including languages), such as understanding, developing and communicating ideas and information and interacting with others	-	Be able to communicate ideas and interact with others in the language of engineering and production (e.g. in the language and jargon of engineering)
2.2	Mathematical skills, such as integrating and applying numerical and spatial concepts and techniques	-	Be able to master numeracy and spatial concepts and techniques required to solve engineering and production problems
2.3	Information technology skills, such as using and adapting technologies	-	Be able to apply and adapt software packages in gathering and analysing information, solving engineering and production problems, and communicating information
3.	Thinking Skills	-	
3.1	Problem-solving and decision-making skills, such as identifying problems and providing appropriate solutions, taking into consideration social, economic and technological developments	-	Be able to apply scientific method and lateral thinking to problem-solving and evaluating possible solutions, taking into consideration such factors as advancement in technology and impact on society
3.2	Analytical skills, such as recognising when and what information is needed, locating and obtaining it from a range of sources and evaluating, using and sharing it with others	-	Gather necessary information from a range of sources Analyse and make use of information in problem-solving
3.3	<b>Creative thinking skills</b> , such as visualising consequences, thinking laterally, recognising opportunities and potential, testing multiple options, and engaging with the artistic, cultural and intellectual work of others		Develop innovative solutions to problems in the engineering environment Predict future development trends in technology and society based on data collected and observation Consciously adopt other cultural perspectives to challenge assumptions and values

	Curriculum Components	Area Specific Examples (Optional)
	Understanding	- Be able to identify the impact of
	interdependency and	development of engineering and
	relationships between	production on different societies and
	different areas of studies,	civilisations, and vice versa
	societies and civilisations	
	to form regional/global	
	perspectives on social,	
	economic and	
	technological changes,	
	such as describing patterns,	
	structures and relationships,	
	and making and interpreting	
	predictions	
4.	People Skills	
4.1	Self-reflection and	- Understand roles, responsibilities and
	self-management skills,	interrelationships in engineering and
	such as setting schedules of	production
	tasks for completion, and	- Set priorities, goals and targets within
	reflecting on goals and	time frames specific to the tasks
	targets set	- Take into account time and resource
		constraints in fulfilling work and
4.2	Internergenel ekille gueb eg	production requirements
4.2	Interpersonal skills, such as	- Understand the interdependency of
	interacting with other people	roles, responsibilities and relationships
	and cultures and contributing to the community	<ul><li>in the workplace</li><li>Present a proposed solution to an</li></ul>
	to the community	audience from a variety of
		backgrounds and cultures
		- Liaise with different parties to a project
4.3	Collaborative and team	- Understand the different roles in team
7.0	building skills	activities, e.g. as a team leader or
		member
		- Achieve objectives of the team through
		dealing with issues, problems and
		conflicts with team members by means
		of mediation, negotiation and
		conciliation
5.	Values and Attitudes	
5.1	Honesty and integrity, such	- Understand the importance of honesty
	as understanding the	and integrity in carrying out
	importance of perseverance	engineering projects and respect the
	and transparency	rules of professional conduct
5.2	Dependability and	- Understand and fulfil the duties to self,
	responsibility, such as	to others and to society
	being trustworthy and	- Demonstrate dependability by
	behaving responsibly	developing and maintaining
		professional behaviours and positive
		• •
		- Assume corporate, social and legal

Curriculum Components		Area Specific Examples (Optional)		
		responsibilities		
5.3	Enthusiasm and motivation to participate actively in life Willingness to learn, such	<ul> <li>Contribute and participate actively in both individual and teamwork</li> <li>Take calculated risks and assume the responsibility for the outcome</li> <li>Show concern, curiosity and</li> </ul>		
	as being self-motivated in learning	<ul> <li>appreciation to matters in the environment</li> <li>Be a reflective lifelong learner, willing to admit mistake and make improvements</li> </ul>		
5.5	Self-confidence and self-esteem, such as being confident in one's own abilities and potential for personal growth and developing attachment to the culture of a chosen group	<ul> <li>Demonstrate a sense of commitment towards one's self, the community, the nation and the shared world</li> <li>Show confidence and esteem in a variety of contexts such as presenting ideas and being receptive to others advice and criticisms</li> <li>Develop self-confidence and self-esteem through successfully completing tasks</li> </ul>		
5.6	Respect for others and for law and authority, such as recognising the right of everybody to feel valued and be safe, and achieving a balance between rights and obligations	<ul> <li>Recognise and respect the responsibilities of a professional engineer including but not limited to:         <ul> <li>responsibility to the profession – to uphold the dignity, standing and reputation of the profession</li> <li>responsibility to colleagues – to foster mutual advancement of the profession</li> <li>responsibility to employers of clients – to discharge duties with integrity and in accordance with the highest standards of business ethics</li> <li>responsibilities to the public – to serve the overriding interest of the general public, in particular their environment, welfare, health and safety</li> </ul> </li> <li>Respect diversity in the workplace when working with both internal and external parties</li> <li>Respect the importance of abiding by ethical, social and legal requirements relating to such areas as product safety and workplace safety</li> </ul>		

Annex G

# Applied Learning Chinese (for Non-Chinese Speaking Students) Curriculum Framework

# **Applied Learning Chinese**

## (for non-Chinese speaking students) [ApL(C)]

## **Curriculum Framework**

#### 1. Introduction

- 1.1 Background
- **1.2 Curriculum Rationale**
- 2. Curriculum Framework
  - 2.1 Curriculum Aims
  - 2.2 Learning Targets
  - 2.3 Key Learning Points
  - 2.4 Learning Outcomes

#### 3. Curriculum Planning and Implementation

- 3.1 Lesson Time
- 3.2 Learning by Levels
- 3.3 Admission Arrangements
- 4. Learning, Teaching and Assessment
  - 4.1 Learning, Teaching and Assessment Mode
  - 4.2 Recognition

Appendices

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

Students settling down in Hong Kong, regardless of ethnicity, are the next generation of the Hong Kong society and a valuable human resource for the future. The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region is committed to encouraging and supporting non-Chinese speaking (NCS) students' integration into the community, including facilitating their early adaptation to the local education system and mastery of the Chinese language, to adapt to a learning environment with Chinese as the major language medium, use Chinese for communication, so as to enable them to immerse into the community.

In the 2014/15 school year, the Education Bureau (EDB) has implemented the "Chinese Language Curriculum Second Language Learning Framework" ("Learning Framework") in primary and secondary schools, and Applied Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students) [ApL(C)] is introduced at the senior secondary level.

#### **1.2 Curriculum Rationale**

NCS students are required to obtain relevant Chinese language qualifications for further studies or work upon completion of their secondary education. ApL(C), in addition to the Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education Examination Chinese Language and other overseas Chinese Language examinations (General Certificate of Secondary Education (GCSE), International General Certificate of Secondary Education (IGCSE) and General Certificate of Education (GCE) Advanced Subsidiary Level (AS-Level) and Advanced Level (A-Level)), provides an additional channel for NCS students fulfilling the specified circumstances\* to obtain an alternative Chinese language qualification in order to articulate to multiple pathways to prepare for further studies and work.

\* The specified circumstances are:

- (i) students who have learned Chinese Language for less than six years while receiving primary and secondary education; or
- (ii) students who have learned Chinese Language for six years or more in schools, but have been taught an adapted and simpler Chinese Language curriculum not normally applicable to the majority of students in local schools.

The duration of ApL(C) course is 270 contact hours, extending over three school years at the senior secondary level.

#### 2. Curriculum Framework

ApL(C) is designed from the perspective of second language learners and provides a simulated applied learning context for students to learn Chinese through different modes of activities.

#### 2.1 Curriculum Aims

ApL(C) aims:

- to provide a learning platform exclusively for non-Chinese speaking (NCS) students fulfilling the specified circumstances to learn Chinese in the applied learning context, apart from studying Chinese Language at the senior secondary level;
- to provide a simulated applied learning context and help students build a foundation for using Chinese in the workplace and obtain a recognised qualification for further studies and work; and
- to develop learners' career-related competencies, foundation skills (communication skills), thinking skills and people skills as well as to nurture their positive values and attitudes as in Applied Learning (ApL) curriculum pillars through application and practice.

#### 2.2 Learning Targets

Through ApL(C), students could use Chinese in daily life and work contexts:

- to build and consolidate frequently used vocabulary;
- to develop listening, speaking, reading and writing skills and the ability to use the language skills in an integrative way;
- to develop abilities and skills for interpersonal communication;
- to develop thinking skills (critical judgement and problem-solving) and competence;
- to develop the capabilities and habit of self-directed learning; and
- to develop positive values and attitudes.

#### 2.3 Key Learning Points

In the language learning process, students apply reading, writing, listening and speaking skills in an integrative way and learn the target language in different contexts, which prepares them for application for further studies and in the workplace. ApL(C) consists of three learning strands: Oral Communication (Cantonese), Reading and Writing. The key learning points of different strands are as follows:

- Oral Communication recognising Cantonese sounds and pronunciation, (Cantonese) vocabulary and grammar used in Hong Kong; understanding colloquial expressions and common phrases; and developing oral communication and social skills for daily tasks at work, e.g. handling enquiries, giving an introduction, a short presentation, a briefing, a report and conducting an interview;
- Reading recognising words and expressions commonly used in practical texts; reading printed and electronic materials for practical purposes; reading continuous texts and non-continuous texts, including narrative, descriptive and expository texts, e.g. briefs, guidelines and rules; tables, forms and working procedures; and using tools and reference materials, such as explanations in dictionaries, to facilitate reading; and
- Writing recognising words, expressions and sentence structures commonly used in practical texts; writing basic practical texts such as forms, messages, emails, notices, records and briefs; and using tools and reference materials to facilitate writing.

(For details of ApL(C) Key Learning Points of Different Strands at Different Levels, please refer to <u>Appendix I</u>.)

#### 2.4 Learning Outcomes

#### **Overall Descriptors**

Upon completion of ApL(C), students should be able to:

- cope with the demands of communication in daily life and work contexts, comprehend the messages in others' speeches, use appropriate tone and register in daily communication in Cantonese;
- read practical texts and information in daily life and work contexts; and
- use appropriate words and sentences to complete practical writing tasks.

(For details of ApL(C) Qualifications Framework Attained Descriptors, please refer to <u>Appendix II</u>.)

#### 3. Curriculum Planning and Implementation

#### 3.1 Lesson Time

- Generally, the lesson time of each ApL course is 180 hours. As a longer period of time is needed for developing students' language ability through application and practice, more lesson time will be allocated to ApL(C) compared to other ApL courses.
- The recommended lesson time of ApL(C) course is 270 hours plus additional self-study hours which take up about 30% of the lesson time, i.e., about 80 hours. The total learning time is 350 hours.

#### 3.2 Learning by Levels

- ApL(C) consists of ApL(C) I, ApL(C) II and ApL(C) III, which are pegged at the Qualifications Framework (QF) Level 1, the QF Level 2 and the QF Level 3 respectively.
- Each level consists of three modules: Oral Communication (Cantonese), Reading and Writing.
- Lesson time allocated and learning content relevant to the QF Level 3 must take up at least 51% of the whole course, i.e., exceeding the total lesson time allocated and learning content relevant to the QF Levels 1 and 2. For example, while the total lesson time of ApL(C) is 270 contact hours (see Table 1), the lesson time allocated for learning content relevant to the QF Level 3 is 140 contact hours, which is about 52% of the total lesson time.

Malaka	Lesson Time			
Modules	ApL(C) I (QF Level 1)	ApL(C) II (QF Level 2)	ApL(C) III (QF Level 3)	
Oral Communication (Cantonese)	18 hours	18 hours	40 hours	
Reading	27 hours	27 hours	55 hours	
Writing	20 hours	20 hours	45 hours	
	<b>65</b> hours	<b>65</b> hours	<b>140</b> hours	

#### Table 1:

#### **3.3** Admission Arrangements

- NCS students fulfilling the specified circumstances\* (See 1.2 Curriculum Rationale) can take ApL(C).
- Students can opt for the core subject of Chinese Language at the senior secondary level to obtain the Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education (HKDSE) Chinese Language qualification or opt for ApL(C) to obtain an alternative Chinese language qualification.
- ApL(C) will run from the second term of Secondary 4 up to Secondary 6. Related learning support can be provided by schools in the first term of Secondary 4 to consolidate students' Chinese language competencies.
- ApL(C) consists of different modules at each level, but in principle, students have to complete all the modules at the senior secondary level by steps. If students fail to fulfil the assessment requirements of a particular module, they can retake the module or attend a make-up examination to obtain the qualification if circumstances so allow.

#### 4. Learning, Teaching and Assessment

#### 4.1 Learning, Teaching and Assessment Mode

- Learning Chinese through simulated applied learning contexts
- Classroom learning supplemented with self-study, e.g. extended learning outside class and e-learning
- Diversified modes of assessment, e.g. classroom observations, answering questions, group discussions, role plays, assignments, written tests, project learning, reading and language activities and learning profiles

#### 4.2 Recognition

#### • Qualifications Framework (QF)

- ➢ QF Levels 1-3: Students will obtain the QF certificate(s) at respective levels upon completion of different levels of studies and meeting the assessment and attendance requirements of different levels of ApL(C).
- Individual learning module: Students who have completed the modules at different levels but failed to fulfil the requirements for the QF exit award at a particular level can still obtain the certificate(s) for the module(s) if they fulfil the respective assessment requirements.
- Intermediate exit award: For students who have completed the modules at a particular level and fulfilled the assessment requirements but decided to withdraw from the course, they will obtain the intermediate exit award certificate(s).

#### • Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education (HKDSE)

ApL(C) results are reported as "Attained" and "Attained with Distinction" in the HKDSE<sup>NOTE</sup>. The standards will be initially determined by the Course Providers and moderated by a panel of judges with reference to the performance descriptors for "Attained" and "Attained with Distinction". A holistic approach is used to judge if the proposed cut score for the respective levels is appropriate by reviewing the assessment results and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>NOTE</sup> For the 2012-2017 HKDSE Examinations, ApL results are reported as "Attained" and "Attained with Distinction" in the HKDSE. Effective from the 2018 HKDSE Examination, the reporting of students' performance is refined to "Attained", "Attained with Distinction (I)" and "Attained with Distinction (II)". For ApL(C), "Attained" and "Attained with Distinction" will continue to be used. Refinement of these levels would be considered when more data is collected.

samples of students' work. If the assessment judgments are considered appropriate, the assessment results will be validated; otherwise, a different cut score will be recommended for the level concerned, with students' rank order in the subject remaining unchanged.

A statement indicating that individual ApL subjects are pegged at the QF levels will be included in the "explanatory notes of the HKDSE Results Notice and certificate".
$\operatorname{ApL}(C)$  students may obtain different qualifications, with details as in Table 2:



Levels Modules	ApL(C) I (QF Level 1)	ApL(C) II (QF Level 2)	ApL(C) III (QF Level 3)
Oral Communication (Cantonese)	Certificate	Certificate	Certificate
Reading	1) QF Level 3 Certificate 2) HKDSE (Att	Certificate Certificate Certificate	Certificate ith Distinction)
Writing Certificate		Certificate	Certificate
-	QF Level 1 Certificate	QF Level 2 Certificate	

This document is originally written in Chinese. In case of discrepancy between this translated version and the Chinese version, the Chinese version shall prevail.

## Appendices

I. ApL(C) Key Learning Points of Different Strands at Different Levels

## II. ApL(C) Qualifications Framework Attained Descriptors

(Chinese Version Only)

### 應用學習中文(非華語學生適用) 附錄-

#### 各範疇各級學習重點

- 應用學習中文(非華語學生適用)一
  - ▶ 口語溝通 (粤語) 第一級
  - 常用粵語字詞和語句;簡單的日常交際方式(如:打招呼、簡單提問和回應)。
  - 日常生活中常見的敍述性和說明性話語(如有關個人或身邊事物的簡單的介紹)。
  - 一般話語内容的邏輯關係(如:補充、説明、舉例、因果、轉折、遞進)。
  - 工作環境中簡單/有限的話語内容(如就簡單信息的詢問和答覆)。
  - 基本的聆聽和應對策略。
  - ▶ 閱讀第一級
  - 認識一定數量的常用字及常用詞(認識常用字數量暫定約800;認識常用 詞數量暫定約2500)。
  - 閱讀生活和一般工作環境中常見的簡短資料(如:時間、地點、人物、機構、貨物名稱、價錢、路綫)。
  - 閱讀簡短的敍述性和說明性文字(如:便條、留言、告示、時間表、交通 指示牌及路綫表、貨物清單、商場指南、詞典說明文字)。
  - ▶ 寫作第一級
  - 書寫一定數量的常用字(書寫常用字數量暫定約300)。
  - 個人及公務寫作:書寫私人賀卡、個人履歷、便條;簡單的表格或清單、 工作紀錄、留言。
  - 運用標點符號。

#### • 應用學習中文(非華語學生適用)二

- ▶ 口語溝通 (粤語) 第二級
- 日常生活環境中敍述性、説明性話語(如:問候、邀請、讚美、批評、問 路和指路、問價和議價、訂餐和結賬)。

- 一般工作環境中敍述性、說明性話語(如:簡單的工作程序、指示、守則、 報告、新聞發布、評論和簡單的產品説明)。
- 一般工作環境中基本的語言交際功能(如:表達意見、互相商討、提出疑問; 敍述事件始末; 説明簡單工作流程產品特點、操作程序; 介紹工作環境; 解釋簡單的工作要求和守則)。
- 邊聽邊記重點的技巧。
- 使用不同的詞語和語氣表達不同的感情和態度的方法。
- 使用基本的聆聽和應對策略。
- ▶ 閱讀第二級
- 認識一定數量的常用字和常用詞(認識常用字數量暫定約1600;認識常用 詞數量暫定約5000)。
- 閱讀簡短文字和圖表(如:各種時間表、價目表、工作進度表、帳目明細表、簡單統計表)。
- 閱讀工作環境中簡短的說明性和敍述性篇章(如:通告、招聘廣告、商品 說明、商用啓事、簡單工作守則及安全守則、簡單的儀器操作程序)。
- 閱讀報刊標題和提要式的報道。
- 閱讀字典辭書中比較簡單的解説文字。
- ▶ 寫作第二級
- 書寫一定數量的常用字(書寫常用字數量暫定約650)。
- 書寫技能:日記、私人信件、個人履歷、事件重點;活動紀錄、存貨紀錄;
   簡單的活動程序或工作程序;簡單的通告和啓事等。
- 詞匯和句式變化;實用文書常用的簡單修辭手法。
- 應用學習中文(非華語學生適用)三
  - ▶ 口語溝通(粵語)第三級
  - 日常生活和工作環境中篇幅較長的敍述性、説明性和描述性話語(如:電 視或電台的資訊性節目、工作匯報、產品或服務推介、一般商務場合的業 務簡報)。
  - 一般議論性話語(如:電視或電台清談節目中的談話、時事討論、體育或
     一般競技項目的評述、非學術性演講)。
  - 學習邊聽邊思考的能力。
  - 用粵語進行日常交際、談論大眾話題。

- 一般工作環境中涉及陳述、説明、比較、解釋、建議等功能的交際任務(如: 有關商品或服務的查詢和介紹;有關工作計劃、程序、職責和守則的説明;
   有關工作進展和成效的報告和總結;答覆客戶有關商品或服務的查詢和投訴;正式商務會議上的報告和致詞)。
- 對不同觀點作出評價、聯想和推論。
- ▶ 閱讀第三級
- 認識一定數量的常用字和常用詞(認識常用字數量暫定約 2300;認識常用詞數量暫定約 8000)。
- 一般工作環境中常見的説明性和敍述性篇章(如:電子郵件、會議紀錄、 維修手冊、工序説明、工作計劃及報告、簡單的章程及條例、人事規章、 聘用條款、員工守則、考勤及評核報告)。
- 閱讀本地報章,理解一般時事用語,掌握新聞語篇的重要信息。
- 利用字典辭書或各種電子參考材料所提供的解說幫助閱讀。
- 判斷一般書面材料所提供的信息是否合理或可信。
- 對一般書面材料所提供的信息或觀點作出簡單的評價。

▶ 寫作第三級

- 書寫一定數量的常用字(書寫常用字數量暫定約1000)。
- 書寫練習:如:感謝及慰問信件、邀請函、求職及離職信、會議紀錄、
   工作報告、簡單工作守則、簡單的器材使用程序、簡單的活動宣傳文稿
   或服務推廣文字、簡單的新聞稿。
- 實用文常用詞語和修辭手法。

Provisional Final Draft (as at March 2017)

應用學習中文(非華語學生適用)

附錄二

# 資歷架構達標表現描述

	第一級	第二級	第三級
整體	能大致應付日常生活和一般工作環境中有限	能大致應付日常生活和一般工作環境中的語	能因應日常生活和工作環境中的情境變化,應付一般
	的語言交際要求,用簡單的話語與人作基本 交際,基本理解簡短資料和文字,完成簡單	言交際要求,用較為複雜的話語與人交際, 基本理解簡短文字、圖表和篇章,完成一般	語言交際要求,用適當、較有變化的話語與人交際, 明白實用文書、報章等材料的主要信息及有關細節,
	的書寫任務。	簡短的實務文書和書寫任務。	完成常用的實務文書和書寫任務。
	聽:	聽:	聽:
	<ul> <li>能聽懂常用粵語字詞和語句。</li> </ul>	• 能聽懂熟悉環境中較長的敍述性、說明性	• 能聽懂日常生活和工作環境中篇幅較長的敍述
	<ul> <li>能了解熟悉環境中敍述性和説明性話語的 主題和内容要點(如:時間、地點、人物、</li> </ul>	話語片段,包括邊聽邊辨別和篩選話語要 點及相關信息。	性、説明性和描述性話語(如:電視或電台的資訊 性節目、工作匯報、產品或服務推介、一般商務場
	王送作内谷安和(x)·时间·池和·八初· 事件)。	<ul> <li>• 能理解某些工作環境中敍述性、説明性話</li> </ul>	合的致詞)的主旨和細節。
	• 能理解熟悉環境中話語内容的邏輯關係	語(如:簡單的工作程序、指示、守則、	<ul> <li>能辨別一般議論性話語(如:電視或電台清談節目</li> </ul>
	(如:補充、説明、舉例、因果、轉折、	報告、新聞發布、評論和簡單的產品説明)	中的談話、時事討論、體育或一般競技項目的評
	遞進)。	的内容要點。	述、非學術性演講)的觀點和事實。
	• 能聽懂一般工作環境中簡單的話語內容	<ul> <li>能邊聽邊記重點,並能透過說話者的語</li> <li>時山红石公安際主田和低書法公工目</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>能邊聽邊思考,並能透過說話者的語氣和身體語言,聽出話語的實際意思和所表達的不同情感。</li> </ul>
日語	(如就時間、地點、人物、價錢、路綫、 貨物種類和式樣等方面的詢問和答覆)。	氣,聽出話語的實際意思和所表達的不同 情感。	言,聽出話語的員際息心和所衣達的不问個感。
溝	說:		
通	• 能運用數量有限的常用詞語,以較爲單一	• 能運用較有變化的詞語,以較爲複雜的語	• 能運用較有變化的詞語,以結構完整、連貫的話
	的句式用粵語進行簡單的日常交際(如:	句用粵語進行日常交際(如:相互問候、	語,用粵語進行日常交際、談論大眾話題。
	打招呼、簡單提問和回應)。	提出邀請、接納或婉拒邀請、讚美和批評、	• 能因應情境變化,採用適當的語氣和不同的修辭手
	• 能使用粤語完成基本的語言功能(介紹、	問路和指路、問價和議價、訂餐和結賬)。	法,以粤語完成一般工作環境中涉及陳述、説明、
	我述和報告簡單的信息,如個人資料、機	• 能使用粵語完成一般工作環境中基本的語	比較、解釋、建議等功能的交際任務(如:有關商
	構名稱、地址、電話號碼、日期、貨物名 稱、價錢、路綫)。	言交際功能(如就日常事務和工作事宜表 達意見、互相商討、提出疑問; 敍述事件	品或服務的查詢和介紹;有關工作計劃、程序、職 責和守則的説明;有關工作進展和成效的報告和總
	<ul><li>● 能根據別人的話語重點作簡單的回應</li></ul>	建思允、互相间可、提出疑问,救延事件始末;説明簡單的工作流程;説明產品特	員和可則的說明,有關工作進展和成效的報告和總結;答覆客戶有關商品或服務的查詢和投訴;正式
	(如:附和、贊成、反對)。	點和簡單操作程序;介紹工作環境;解釋	商務會議上的報告和致詞)。

	第一級	第二級	第三級
	<ul> <li>能認識和使用基本的聆聽和應對策略,用 簡單的話語和恰當的神情、態度與人作基 本交際。</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>簡單的工作要求和守則)。</li> <li>能使用不同的詞語和語氣表達不同的感情和態度。</li> <li>能使用基本的聆聽和應對策略,用恰當的語調、神情、態度與人作基本交際。</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>能對不同觀點作出一般評價、聯想和推論。</li> <li>能利用不同語氣、表情變化和身體語言,表達不同的話語含意和情感。</li> </ul>
讀	<ul> <li>能認識一定數量的常用字及一般生活及工作中的常用詞(認識常用字數量暫定約800;認識常用詞數量暫定約2500)。</li> <li>能明白常用的句子含義,理解句子之間的銜接關係。</li> <li>能閱讀生活中常見的簡短資料(如:時間、地點、人物、機構名稱、地址、電話號碼、日期、貨物名稱、價錢、路綫),辨析簡單直接的主題及相關信息。</li> <li>能閱讀簡短的敍述性和説明性文字(如: 便條、留言、標語式告示、時間表、輪班表、路牌及路標、交通指示牌及路綫表、貨物清單、商場指南、詞典説明文字)。</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>能認識一定數量的常用字及一般生活及工作中的常用詞(認識常用字數量暫定約1600;認識常用詞數量暫定約5000)。</li> <li>能閱讀一般生活中常見的簡短文字和圖表(如:各種時間表、價目表、工作進度表、帳目明細表、簡單統計表)。</li> <li>能閱讀一般工作環境中簡短的説明性和敍述性篇章(如:通告、招聘廣告、商品説明、商用啓事、簡單工作守則及安全守則、簡單的儀器操作程序)。</li> <li>能閱讀報刊標題和提要式的報道。</li> <li>能閱讀字典辭書中比較簡單的解説文字。</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>能認識一定數量的常用字及一般生活及工作中的常用詞(認識常用字數量暫定約 2300;認識常用詞數量暫定約 8000)。</li> <li>能閱讀工作環境中常見的説明性和敍述性篇章(如:電子郵件、會議紀錄、維修手冊、工序説明、工作計劃及報告、簡單的章程及條例、人事規章、聘用條款、員工守則、考勤及評核報告)的主要信息及相關細節。</li> <li>能閱讀本地報章,理解一般時事用語,掌握新聞語篇的重要信息。</li> <li>能利用字典辭書或各種電子參考材料所提供的解說幫助閱讀。</li> <li>能判斷一般書面材料所提供的信息是否合理或可信。</li> <li>能對一般書面材料所提供的信息或觀點作出簡單的評價。</li> </ul>
寫	<ul> <li>能書寫一定數量的常用字(書寫常用字數 量暫定約300)。</li> <li>能完成日常生活中簡單的書寫任務(如書 寫私人賀卡、填寫簡單的個人履歷、撰寫 便條)。</li> <li>能應付一般工作環境中簡單的書寫要求 (如:填寫簡單的表格或清單、填寫簡單 的工作紀錄、撰寫簡單的留言)。</li> <li>能運用有限的詞語、較爲單一的句式和基本正確的標點符號完成簡單的書寫任務。</li> <li>寫作時能選取合適素材,合理安排段落,</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>能書寫一定數量的常用字(書寫常用字數 量暫定約650)。</li> <li>能完成日常生活中簡單的書寫任務(如書 寫日記、私人信件、撰寫個人履歷、記錄 事件重點)。</li> <li>能應付一般工作環境中基本的書寫要求 (如填寫簡單的活動紀錄、存貨紀錄;撰 寫簡單的活動程序或工作程序;記錄簡單 的事件;撰寫簡單的通告和啓事)。</li> <li>能運用略有變化的詞語、基本完整的句式 和小量常用的修辭手法完成簡單的書寫任</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>能書寫一定數量的常用字(書寫常用字數量暫定約1000)。</li> <li>能完成日常生活中簡單的書寫任務(如:感謝及慰問信件、邀請函);包括清楚交代寫作的目的和事由。</li> <li>能應付工作環境中一般的書寫要求(如:撰寫求職及離職信、撰寫會議紀錄、工作報告、簡單工作守則、簡單的器材使用程序、簡單的活動宣傳文稿或服務推廣文字、簡單的新聞稿)。</li> <li>能根據情境需要選用相對恰當的詞語和常用的修辭手法完成簡單的書寫任務。</li> </ul>

Provisional Final Draft (as at March 2017)

第一級	第二級	第三級
大致能體現一定組織結構。	務。	• 能運用輔助工具,例如字典、辭典、網上材料等完
	<ul> <li>能運用輔助工具,例如字典、辭典、網上</li> </ul>	成寫作任務。
	材料等完成寫作任務。	

# References

#### Reports

- Curriculum Development Council. (2001). Learning to Learn The Way Forward in Curriculum Development. Hong Kong: Curriculum Development Council.
- Curriculum Development Council. (2002). *Basic Education Curriculum Guide Building on Strengths (Primary 1 – Secondary 3).* Hong Kong: Curriculum Development Council.
- Curriculum Development Council. (2009). Senior Secondary Curriculum Guide. Hong Kong: Curriculum Development Council.
- Curriculum Development Council. (2017). Secondary Education Curriculum Guide. Hong Kong: Curriculum Development Council.
- Education and Manpower Bureau. (2005). *The New Academic Structure for Senior Secondary Education and Higher Education – Action Plan for Investing in the Future of Hong Kong.* Hong Kong: Education and Manpower Bureau.
- Education and Manpower Bureau. (2006). Action for the Future Career-oriented Studies and the New Senior Secondary Academic Structure for Special Schools. Hong Kong: Education and Manpower Bureau.
- Education Commission. (2000). *Learning for Life, Learning through Life Reform Proposals for the Education System in Hong Kong.* Hong Kong: Education Commission.
- Ministry of Education. (2006). *Report of The Polytechnic-School Review Committee.* Singapore: Ministry of Education.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2000). *From Initial Education to Working Life – Making Transitions Work.* Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2000). *Motivating Students for Lifelong Learning.* Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- The World Bank. (2005). Expanding Opportunities and Building Competencies

for Young People – A New Agenda for Secondary Education. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

#### Websites

- California Department of Education. Career Technical Program of Studies www.cde.ca.gov/ci/ct/
- Cedefop, European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training. Development of Vocational Education and Training (VET) www.cedefop.europa.eu/
- Cirius (Denmark). Upper Secondary Education www.ciriusonline.dk/Default.asp?ID=3763
- Danish Ministry of Education. Upper Secondary Education Vocational Education and Training (VET) www.eng.uvm.dk/Uddannelse/Upper%20Secondary%20Education/Vocati onal%20Education%20and%20Training.aspx
- Department for Children, Schools and Families (U.K.). 14-19 Education and Skills. www.dcsf.gov.uk/14-19/
- Department of Education, Training and the Arts, Queensland Government. Vocational Education and Training (VET) education.qld.gov.au/students/placement/vet/index.html
- Edexcel (U.K.). *Qualifications BTEC Firsts* www.edexcel.com/quals/firsts/Pages/default.aspx
- International Baccalaureate Diploma Programme www.ibo.org/
- National Centre for Vocational Education Research Ltd. (Australia). Vocational Education and Training (VET) www.ncver.edu.au
- NSW Board of Vocational Education and Training (Australia). www.bvet.nsw.gov.au/
- Pennsylvania Department of Education. Career and Technical Education

Programs

www.pde.state.pa.us/career\_edu/cwp/browse.asp?A=115&BMDRN=200 0&BCOB=0&C=26045

- Qualifications and Curriculum Authority (U.K.). 14-19 Learning 11-16 Schools - *Work-related Learning* www.qca.org.uk/14-19/11-16-schools/index\_s4-0-work-related.htm
- Quality Improvement Agency (U.K.). Vocational Learning Support Programme Resource excellence.qia.org.uk/vlsp
- TAFE Queensland, Queensland Government. *Technical And Further Education (TAFE) in Queensland* www.tafe.qld.gov.au/
- Texas Education Agency. *Career and Technical Education* www.tea.state.tx.us/cte/index.html
- The Finnish National Board of Education. Upper Secondary Education -Vocational Education and Training www.oph.fi/english/pageLast.asp?path=447,4699,4840,4843
- U.S. Department of Education. *Career and Technical Education* www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ovae/pi/cte/index.html
- Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority (Australia). Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL) www.vcaa.vic.edu.au/vcal/index.html
- Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority (Australia). Vocational Education and Training (VET) www.vcaa.vic.edu.au/vet/index.html

